KUOPION YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA D. LÄÄKETIEDE 464 KUOPIO UNIVERSITY PUBLICATIONS D. MEDICAL SCIENCES 464

MARI HYVÄRINEN

# Wheezing in Early Childhood

# Predictive Factors for Asthma in the 11-year Follow-Up

Doctoral dissertation

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Kuopio for public examination in Auditorium 2, Kuopio University Hospital, on Saturday 21st November 2009, at 12 noon

> Department of Paediatrics Kuopio University Hospital and University of Kuopio



KUOPION YLIOPISTO

KUOPIO 2009

Distributor:	Kuopio University Library P.O. Box 1627 FI-70211 KUOPIO FINLAND Tel. +358 40 355 3430 Fax +358 17 163 410 www.uku.fi/kirjasto/julkaisutoiminta/julkmyyn.shtml
Series Editors:	Professor Raimo Sulkava, M.D., Ph.D. School of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition
	Professor Markku Tammi, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Biomedicine, Department of Anatomy
Author's address:	Department of Paediatrics Kuopio University Hospital P.O. Box 1777 FI-70211 KUOPIO FINLAND
Supervisors:	Professor Matti Korppi, M.D., Ph.D. Paediatric Research Centre University of Tampere
	Tiina Reijonen, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Paediatrics University of Kuopio
Reviewers:	Docent Marjo Renko, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Paediatrics University of Oulu
	Docent Anna Pelkonen, M.D., Ph.D. Skin and Allergy Hospital University of Helsinki
Opponent:	Docent Tuomas Jartti, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Paediatrics University of Turku

ISBN 978-951-27-1364-6 ISBN 978-951-27-1381-3 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0303

Kopijyvä Kuopio 2009 Finland Hyvärinen, Mari. Wheezing in early childhood – Predictive factors for asthma in the 11-year follow-up. Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences 464. 2009. 128 p. ISBN 978-951-27-1364-6 ISBN 978-951-27-1381-3 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0303

# ABSTRACT

Wheezing in infants when they have a lower respiratory tract infection is not uncommon. However, some of these wheezing infants, specifically those requiring hospitalization, are at high risk of later asthma. Identifying at-risk infants would be helpful for monitoring and focusing treatment on the right subjects.

In 1992-1993, 100 infants aged 1-23 months were hospitalized for wheezing associated with respiratory tract infection. The baseline data, blood specimens and nasopharyngeal aspirates (NPAs) were collected on entry to the study. As an acute intervention, the clinical responses to racemic adrenaline and salbutamol were evaluated. The asthma and allergy status of the children have been clinically evaluated at the median ages of 4.0 and 7.2 years. In 2004, on average 11 years after the hospitalization for wheezing, 81/100 children attended the clinical follow-up in teenage years, i.e median age of 12.3 years (range 10.9-13.7). Symptoms suggestive of asthma and allergy were recorded and studies on allergy, baseline lung function and bronchial hyper-reactivity (BHR) were performed.

Teenage asthma was present in 40 % (32/81) of the children, and 25 % (20/81) of the children had asthma at all three visits and were considered to have persistent childhood asthma (PCA). Most of the children with teenage asthma (90%) or PCA (95%) were sensitized to at least one allergen.

Early factors predicting both teenage asthma and PCA were atopic dermatitis (adjusted odds ratios, aORs 3.5 and 4.5, respectively) and the presence of serum specific immunoglobulin E (sIgE) to inhalant allergens (aORs 11.3 and 13.1, respectively) and to wheat (aORs 20.2 and 9.7). Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) aetiology of early wheezing was associated with a restrictive pattern of lung function, and early atopy and maternal smoking during pregnancy were associated with BHR. Though minor evidence was found that the children with later PCA may respond better to bronchodilators than those children with no PCA, the overall clinical responses to bronchodilators did not differ between these groups. Early exposures to cats and dogs were not associated with the prevalence of teenage asthma or PCA or atopic sensitization in infancy or at teenage. Neutrophil derived serum myeloperoxidase was not associated with later asthma.

Children with teenage asthma and children with PCA had higher blood eosinophil (B-EOS) count at the time of wheezing in infancy than their counterparts who did not develop teenage asthma (median  $0.41 \times 10^9$  cells/L vs.  $0.17 \times 10^9$ , p=0.027) or PCA ( $0.53 \times 10^9$  vs.  $0.20 \times 10^9$ , p=0.006). The level of eosinophil cationic protein (ECP) in NPA (NPA-ECP), but not in serum (S-ECP), was higher in children with PCA than in children with no PCA (926 ng/g vs. 347 ng/g, p=0.013). At least one eosinophilic marker measured in infancy, was elevated (B-EOS  $\ge 0.45 \times 10^9$  cells/L or NPA-ECP  $\ge 815.0$  ng/g or S-ECP  $\ge 20.0 \mu g/L$ ) in 61% of the children with teenage asthma and in 75% of the children with PCA. In addition, elevated NPA-ECP predicted PCA independently of the presence of early atopic dermatitis (aOR 4.09).

In conclusion, a quarter of children hospitalized for wheezing in infancy will suffer from persistent asthma during childhood, and as many as 40 % will have asthma in teenage years. The features known to be related to chronic bronchial asthma, such as eosinophilic inflammation, atopic dermatitis and sensitization to inhalant allergens, are present already in some wheezing infants and in these children, their presence is predictive of later asthma.

National Library of Medicine Classification: QW 120, WF 102, WF 141, WF 150, WF 553 Medical Subject Headings: Adolescent; Asthma; Bronchial Hyperreactivity; Bronchiolitis; Bronchodilator Agents; Child; Child, Preschool; Finland; Follow-Up Studies; Hospitalization; Hypersensitivity; Infant; Infant, Newborn; Lung/physiology; Respiratory Function Tests; Respiratory Sounds; Risk Factors; Spirometry

Hyvärinen, Mari. Varhaislapsuuden hengenahdistus – Astman riskitekijät 11 vuoden seurannassa. Kuopion yliopiston julkaisuja D. Lääketiede 464. 2009. 128 s. ISBN 978-951-27-1364-6 ISBN 978-951-27-1381-3 (PDF) ISSN 1235-0303

# TIIVISTELMÄ

Varhaislapsuudessa uloshengitysvaikeus on yleistä alahengitystieinfektion aikana. Pikkulapsena sairastettu uloshengitysvaikeus ennustaa myöhempää astmaa ja riski sairastua astmaan on erityisen suuri jos uloshengitysvaikeus on johtanut sairaalahoitoon. Suuressa astmariskissä olevien pikkulasten tunnistaminen varhain olisi tärkeää, jotta lääkehoito ja tarkka seuranta osattaisiin kohdistaa oikein.

Tähän tutkimukseen otettiin 100 alle 2-vuotiasta lasta, joita hoidettiin sairaalassa alahengitystieinfektioon liittyvän uloshengitysvaikeuden vuoksi vuosina 1992-1993. Sairaalaan ottovaiheessa kerättiin tarkat tiedot lasten varhaisvaiheista ja lähisukulaisten atooppisista sairauksista sekä otettiin verinäytteitä ja nenänielun imulimanäytteitä (NPA). Lisäksi alkuvaiheeseen liitettiin lääkeinterventio, jossa selvitettiin kliinisin vastein raseemisen adrenaliinin ja albuterolin tehoa. Varhaisvaiheiden jälkeen lapset on tutkittu kliinisesti noin 4 ja 7 vuoden ikäisinä astman ja allergioiden esiintyvyyden selvittämiseksi. Vuonna 2004, noin 11 vuotta varhaisen sairaalahoitoa vaatineen uloshengitysvaikeuden jälkeen, 81/100 lasta osallistui seurantakäynnille teini-iässä, 11-14-vuotiaina. Tällä seurantakäynnillä kartoittettiin allergia- ja astmaoireet sekä tutkittiin herkistymistä allergeeneille ja keuhkojen toimintaa sekä keuhkoputkien supistumisherkkyyttä.

Lapsista 40 %:lla (32/81) oli astma ja 25 %:lla (20/81) lapsista oli astma kaikilla kolmella seurantakäynnillä (krooninen astma). Suurin osa astmaatikoista (90 %) ja kroonisista astmaatikoista (95 %) oli herkistynyt vähintään yhdelle hengitystieallergeenille.

Varhaiset tekijät, jotka ennustivat astmaa ja kroonista astmaa, olivat atooppinen dermatiitti (vakioidut oddsien suhteet, vORs, 3.5 ja 4.5, tässä järjestyksessä), seerumin spesifinen immunoglobuliini E (sIgE) inhalaatioallergeeneille (vORs 11.3 ja 13.1) ja vehnälle (vORs 20.2 ja 9.7). Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) varhaisen uloshengitysvaikeuden aiheuttajana liittyi restriktiiviseen vt-spirometrialöydökseen ja varhainen atopia sekä äidin raskauden aikainen tupakointi keuhkoputkien lisääntyneeseen supistumisherkkyyteen. Vaikka viitteitä sille, että tulevat astmaatikot reagoisivat paremmin keuhkoputkia laajentaville lääkkeille kuin eiastmaatikot löytyi, kokonaisuudessaan näiden ryhmien vasteet varhaiselle interventiolle eivät eronneet toisistaan. Varhainen altistuminen kissan ja koiran allergeeneille ei lisännyt astman, kroonisen astman tai allergeeneille herkistymisen riskiä. Varhaisen alahengitystieinfektion aikana mitattu seerumin myeloperoxidaasi ei ollut yhteydessä myöhempään astmaan.

Astmaatikoilla ja kroonisilla astmaatikoilla oli enemmän veren eosinofiilisiä soluja sairaalaan ottovaiheessa kuin ei-astmaatikoilla (mediaani 0.41 x 10<sup>9</sup> solua/l vs. 0.17 x 10<sup>9</sup>, p=0.027) ja lapsilla, joilla ei ollut kroonista astmaa (0.53 10<sup>9</sup> vs. 0.20 10<sup>9</sup>, p=0.006). Nenänielun imuliman, mutta ei seerumin, eosinofiilisen kationisen proteiinin (NPA-ECP) konsentraatio oli korkeampi kroonisilla astmaatikoilla verrattuna muihin lapsiin (926 ng/g vs. 347, p=0.013). Astmaatikoista 61 %:lla ja kroonisita astmaatikoista 75 %:lla oli vähintään yksi eosinofiilisten solujen aktivaatiota osoitava merkkiaine (B-EOS $\geq$ 0.45x10<sup>9</sup> cells/l tai NPA-ECP $\geq$ 815.0 ng/g tai S-ECP $\geq$ 20 µg/L) koholla. Lisäksi koholla oleva NPA-ECP oli kroonisen astman itsenäinen riskitekijä (vOR 4.1).

Yhteenvetona voidaan todeta, että neljännekselle lapsista, jotka joutuvat varhaislapsuudessa sairaalahoitoon uloshengitysvaikeuden vuoksi, kehittyy krooninen astma ja jopa 40 %:lla on astma teini-iän kynnyksellä. Astmaan tunnetusti liittyvät atooppinen ihottuma, herkistyminen hengitystieallergeeneille ja eosinofiilinen tulehdus ovat todettavissa jo osalla uloshengitysvaikeudesta kärsivistä pikkulapsista ja merkitsee riskiä sairastua myöhemmin astmaan.

To Henri, Ilari and Elina

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This clinical follow-up study was carried out in the Department of Paediatrics, Kuopio University Hospital, during the years 1992-2004. I want to thank Professor Raimo Voutilainen, M.D., Ph.D., for giving me the opportunity to participate in this long term follow-up study, and for his encouragement and willingness to help in many facets of this project, and Docent Mikko Perkkiö, M.D., Ph.D., the head of the Department of Paediatrics, Kuopio University Hospital for allowing me to perform the clinical phase of the study in the Department of Paediatrics, and for his kind and supportive attitude during this project.

I feel myself privileged for having being able to do my thesis under the guidance of Professor Matti Korppi, M.D., Ph.D. His encouragement and trust in me from the very beginning of this project have undoubtedly enhanced my self-confidence as a researcher, which I think is the best a supervisor can do. I admire his scientific and clinical skills as well as his never-ending enthusiasm. I highly appreciate his humanity which has become evident during these years I have known him. I also thank him for the friendship during these years.

I also want to thank Tiina Reijonen, M.D., Ph.D., my second supervisor, for carefully collecting this special data in 1992-1993. I am also thankful for her help and support during this project.

I am grateful to the official reviewers of this thesis, Docent Anna Pelkonen, M.D., Ph.D, and Docent Marjo Renko, M.D., Ph.D., for their constructive criticisms and comments which have certainly improved this thesis. I wish to thank Ewen MacDonald, Pharm. D., for his thorough revision of the language of this thesis.

I express my sincere thanks to my co-author Anne Kotaniemi-Syrjänen, M.D., Ph.D., for her precise work examining the children of the present cohort at school age and for her valuable contribution to the preparation of the manuscripts of this thesis. I am also grateful for her friendship.

I own my deepest thanks to Eija Piippo-Savolainen, M.D., Ph.D., for her friendship and strong encouragement during this project as well as being a great travelling companion when we have attended the international conferences around Europe.

I am grateful to my research colleagues Ismo Makkonen, M.D., and Marja Ruotsalainen, M.D., for being such wonderful company at work. Working with you side by side (literally) has been fun and refreshing! I thank Marja Ruotsalainen, M.D., for becoming also a friend outside of working hours. I am also very delighted that a close friend of mine, Virpi Sidoroff, M.D., has now become a member of the study group.

I thank Docent Jarmo Jääskeläinen, M.D., Ph.D., for kindly providing me with a workroom in the University of Kuopio.

I thank Kaj Korhonen, M.D., for his strong support during the planning and the clinical phase of the study. I am also thankful to Niina Reinikainen, R.N., and Raija Tukiainen, R.N., for their kind and skilful assistance during the clinical phase of the study. I also want to thank Kyllikki Remes, M.D., for her clear clinical advices, and Docent Sami Remes, M.D., Ph.D., for his supportive attitude during this project.

I want to express my thanks to the personnel of the Department of Dermatology for the carefull performance of the skin prick tests.

I express my sincere thanks to Professor Heikki Kröger, M.D., Ph.D., Professor Esko Vanninen, M.D., Ph.D., Liisa Kröger, M.D, Ph.D., Toni Rikkonen, MSc, and to the personnel in the Department of Clinical Physiology and Nuclear Medicine for organizing and undertaking the accurate measurements of bone mineral density. This will be another story, not included in this thesis, but I am looking forward to the results of the forthcoming analyses.

I am thankful to my co-author Vesa Kiviniemi, Ph.Lic., for his clear advice on statistical analyses and rapid responses to all my questions, which have greatly helped me to go on with my work.

I owe my special thanks to Mrs. Liisa Korkalainen, Mrs. Mirja Pirinen and Mrs. Tiina Virolainen for their kind and essential help in many situations.

My most sincere thanks belong to all the little wheezers who have participated in this study from early childhood until the teenage years, and to the parents of these children.

My warmest thanks for the precious long-lasting friendship belong to my dear friend Tuulikki Rintakumpu, M.D., and to my special friends Kalle and Liisa Yli-Orvola.

I also would like to thank Johanna Eerikäinen, M.D., Ph.D., Kati Kauhanen, Sini Pärnänen, Anne Säteri, Tarja Tulonen and Kaisa Vepsäläinen, M.D., for their friendship. I am also thankful to Päivi, Tuomo, Aino and Iida Pakarinen and Ursula Schwab and Juha, Sonja and Tuomas Korhonen for the pleasant moments we have spent together during these years.

I am thankful to our great and trustworthy nannies, Tarja Komulainen and Kirsi Korhonen, for taking good care of our children when we have been working.

I am deeply grateful to my dear mother Hannele Ylinen for her unconditional support, care and love. I also thank my father Olli Ylinen for his support and for teaching toughness and work ethic in whatever I do, and his wife Satu for the support and friendship during these years. I am grateful to my little sisters Anne Ylinen, Nora Lehtimäki and Nelli Ylinen and to my little brother Konsta Ylinen as well as to my brother-in-law Tuomas Lehtimäki for the valuable time I have spent with you during this project. I also want to thank my mother-in-law Liisa Hyvärinen for such great empathy and taking often care of our children. I express my sincere thanks also to my brother-in-law Harri Hyvärinen and to my sister-in-law and a good friend Tiina Hyvärinen, M.D., and to their lovely children Henrik, Erik and Sofia for the nice moments we have spent with you.

Finally, I am most thankful to my dear husband Henri Hyvärinen, for sharing a life with me. Without his support and love I would never had been able to finish this project. Having a family with him and being a mother to our dear son Ilari and to our dear daughter Elina comes before anything else. Loving you and being loved by you is something I am happy for every day.

This study was financially supported by Kerttu and Kalle Viik's Fund, the Foundation for Paediatric Research, the National Foundation for Allergic Research, National Graduate School of Clinical Investigation, Pulmonary Association HELI, Kuopio University Hospital, and the University of Kuopio, which are sincerely acknowledged.

Kuopio, October 2009

Mari Hyvärinen

# ABBREVIATIONS

ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AOR	Adjusted Odds ratio
AP	Albuterol followed by placebo
BHR	Bronchial hyper-reactivity
CF	Complement fixation
CI	Confidence interval
ECP	Eosinophil cationic protein
ECT	Exercise challenge test
EIA	Enzyme immunoassay
ETS	Environmental tobacco smoke
FEIA	Fluoroenzyme-immunometric assay
$FEV_1$	Forced expiratory flow in one second
FVC	Forced vital capacity
FVS	Flow volume spirometry
HA	Hemagglutinin
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
IF	Immunofluorescence
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IL	Interleukin
ISAAC	International study of asthma and allergies in childhood
HMPV	Human metapneumovirus
LRTI	Lower respiratory tract infection
MEF <sub>25</sub>	Maximal expiratory flow when 25 % of the FVC remains to be expired
MEF <sub>50</sub>	Maximal expiratory flow when 50 % of the FVC remains to be expired
MIC	Methacholine inhalation challenge test
MPO	Myeloperoxidase
NA	Neuraminidase
NPA	Nasopharyngeal aspirate
NPA-ECP	Eosinophil cationic protein in nasopharyngeal aspirate
OR	Odds ratio
PA	Placebo followed by albuterol
PCA	Persistent childhood asthma
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PRE	Placebo followed by racemic epinephrine
RAST	Radioallergosorbent test
RDAI	Respiratory distress assessment instrument
REP	Racemic epinephrine followed by placebo
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction
SIgE	Specific immunoglobulin E
SPT	Skin prick test
Th-cell	T-helper cell
TR-FIA	Time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay
VmaxFRC	Maximal flow at the functional residual capacity

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following articles, which are referred in the text by their Roman numerals. In addition, some unpublished data are presented.

I. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Korhonen K, Korppi M Teenage asthma after severe early childhood wheezing: An 11-year prospective followup. Pediatr Pulmonol 2005; 40: 316-323.

II. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Korhonen K, Kiviniemi V, Korppi M. Responses to inhaled bronchodilators in infancy are not linked with asthma in later childhood. Pediatr Pulmonol 2006; 41:420-7.

III. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Lung function and bronchial hyper-responsiveness 11 years after hospitalization for bronchiolitis. Acta Paediatr 2007; 96: 1464-9.

IV. Korppi M, Hyvärinen M, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Piippo-Savolainen E, Reijonen T. Early exposure and sensitization to cat and dog – different effects on asthma risk after wheezing in infancy. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2008; 19: 696-701.

V. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Piippo-Savolainen E, KorppiM. Eosinophil activity in infants hospitalized for wheezing and risk of persistent childhood asthma. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2009. Epub ahead of print.

VI. Hyvärinen MK, Kiviniemi V, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Piippo-Savolainen E, Korppi M. Serum myeloperoxidase in wheezing infants: no association with later asthma. Scientific letter to editor. Pediatr Pulmonol. In press.

# CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	
2.1. Wheezing illnesses in early childhood	20
2.1.1. Incidence of wheezing in early childhood	
2.1.2. Viral recovery rates of wheezing illnesses and viral detection b	by molecular
and non-molecular methods	
2.1.3. Infectious triggers of wheezing in infancy	
2.1.4. Mechanisms of virus-induced wheezing in infancy	29
2.1.5. Factors contributing to susceptibility to virus-induced wheezing	ig in infancy31
2.2. The prevalence of asthma symptoms in the child population, and the short- and long-term follow-ups after early childhood wheezing	e figures in
2.2.1. Worldwide prevalence of asthma symptoms	
2.2.2. Short-term outcome after early childhood wheezing	
2.2.3. Long-term outcome after early childhood wheezing	
2.3. Early-life predictive factors for long-term outcome after early child wheezing	1hood 42
2.3.1. Age	42
2.3.2. Lung function in infancy	
2.3.3. Viruses	
2.3.4. Atopy	
2.3.5. Early exposure and sensitization to animal danders	47
2.3.6. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure	48
2.3.7. Eosinophilic inflammation	48
2.3.8. Neutrophilic inflammation	50
2.3.9. Clinical tools for identifying the child at high risk of developir early childhood wheezing	ng asthma after
3. AIMS OF THE STUDY	54
4. SUBJECTS AND METHODS	55
4.1. Enrolment and acute-phase study	55
4.1.2 Study subjects	55
4.1.3. Outcome measures and acute-phase intervention study	55
4.1.4. Baseline data	57
4.1.5. Laboratory studies	57
4.2. Intervention with anti-inflammatory medication and short-term following	low-up 59
4.3. Follow-up visit at early school age	60
4.4. Follow-up visit at early teenage	60
4.4.1. Study subjects	60
4.4.2. Follow-up data and clinical examination	60

4.4.3. Studies on lung function and BHR $\epsilon$	51
4.4.4. Asthma definition $\epsilon$	53
4.5. Ethics	53
4.6. Statistical analyses	53
5. RESULTS	55
5.1. Outcomes in the 11-year follow-up	55
5.1.1. Prevalence of teenage asthma and persistent childhood asthma (I)	55
5.1.2. Prevalence of atopy (I)6	56
5.1.3. Lung function and bronchial hyper-reactivity (III)	58
5.2. Early-life predictive factors for asthma in the 11-year follow-up (I, II, IV, V, VI	i) 71
5.2.1. Age, gender and history of earlier episodes of wheezing (I)	71
5.2.2. Family history of asthma and atopy and environmental factors (I, IV) 7	72
5.2.3. Viruses related to the index episode of wheezing (I)	74
5.2.4. Atopy in children (I, IV, unpublished data	76
5.2.5. Responses to nebulized bronchodilating agents during the index episode of wheezing in infancy (II)	30
5.2.6. Eosinophilic inflammation during the index episode of wheezing (IV) 8	32
5.2.7. Neutrophil activation measured by serum myeloperoxidase (VI)	36
5.2.8. Early-life predictive factors for abnormal lung function and bronchial hyper reactivity (III)	r- 38
6. DISCUSSION	<del>)</del> 0
6.1. Methodological aspects	<del>9</del> 0
6.1.2. The study design	<del>9</del> 0
6.1.3. Strengths of the study	<del>)</del> 1
6.1.4. Shortcomings of the study	<del>)</del> 2
6.2. Long-term outcome of early childhood wheezing in comparison with other long term studies	;- 93
6.3. Early-life predictive factors for asthma 11 years after hospitalization for wheezing in comparison with other long-term studies	2.5
	95
6.3.1. Age on admission, parental history of asthma and atopy, and environmental factors in comparison with other studies	95 l 95
<ul> <li>6.3.1. Age on admission, parental history of asthma and atopy, and environmental factors in comparison with other studies</li> <li>6.4. Viruses related to the index episode of wheezing in comparison with other long term studies</li> </ul>	95 1 95 97
<ul> <li>6.3.1. Age on admission, parental history of asthma and atopy, and environmental factors in comparison with other studies</li> <li>6.4. Viruses related to the index episode of wheezing in comparison with other long term studies</li> <li>6.5. History of atopic dermatitis, serum total IgE and early sensitization to allergens in comparison with other studies</li> </ul>	95 1 95 97 99
<ul> <li>6.3.1. Age on admission, parental history of asthma and atopy, and environmental factors in comparison with other studies</li> <li>6.4. Viruses related to the index episode of wheezing in comparison with other long term studies</li> <li>6.5. History of atopic dermatitis, serum total IgE and early sensitization to allergens in comparison with other studies</li> <li>7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS</li> </ul>	95 1 95 97 97 99 )6
<ul> <li>6.3.1. Age on admission, parental history of asthma and atopy, and environmental factors in comparison with other studies</li></ul>	95 1 95 97 97 99 )6

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

Wheezing, referring to expiratory breathing difficulty, is common during lower respiratory tract infection (LRTI) in early childhood: more than a third of all children suffer from wheezing by the age of three years (Taussig et al. 2003, Illi et al. 2004) and about two percent of all infants suffer from wheezing severe enough to warrant hospitalization (Korppi et al. 1986, Boyce et al. 2000, Koehoorn et al. 2008). Viruses can be detected in the majority of wheezing infants, with respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) and rhinovirus being the most dominant agents (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003b, Heymann et al. 2004, Jartti et al. 2004).

Recurrence of wheezing and the subsequent development of asthma are common after early childhood wheezing, especially after a wheezing episode requiring hospitalization (Martinez et al. 1995, Wennergren et al. 1997, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002, Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2004, Sigurs et al. 2000 and 2005, Matricardi et al. 2008, Devulapalli et al. 2008). Small airway size and/or dysfunction in the regulation of airway tone seem to increase the risk of wheezing during LRTI in infancy and in childhood in otherwise healthy children (Turner et al. 2002, Taussig et al. 2003). For example, RSV-induced LRTI (RSV-LRTI) is a risk factor for subsequent wheezing up to the age of 11 years, but not any longer at age 13 (Stein et al. 1999b). Thus, the presence of wheezing in early puberty seems to be critical for the persistence of asthma.

Host, viral and other environmental factors are important determinants of the final outcome after early childhood wheezing (Castro-Rodriquez and Garcia-Marcos 2008, Singh et al. 2008, Martinez 2009). An atopic predisposition in infancy is a known risk factor for the development of asthma after wheezing in early childhood (Taussig et al. 2003, Matricardi et al. 2008, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen and Korppi 2007, Piippo-Savolainen and Korppi 2009). In most studies on early-life risk factors for asthma, clinical or non-specific markers of atopy, such as atopic dermatitis or elevated total serum immunoglobulin E (IgE), have been examined, and most studies have lacked either the determination of allergen-specific sensitization in infancy or the long-term follow-up revealing atopy becoming evident after infancy. There is recent epidemiologic evidence swhich uggests that early-life exposure to animals decreases subsequent allergy and

asthma (von Mutius 2007). In line with this, exposure to pets at the time of wheezing in infancy has not increased the risk of later asthma in the few long-term follow-up studies available (Goksör et al. 2006, Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007a).

Rhinoviruses can provoke asthma exacerbations in adult asthmatics (Dougherty and Fahy 2009), and recent studies have stressed the role of rhinoviruses also during wheezing episodes in infants (Jartti et al. 2004, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003b, Jackson et al. 2008). Infants with rhinovirus induced wheezing seem to have an increased risk of suffering recurrent wheezing symptoms compared to wheezing induced by other viruses, like RSV (Lemanske et al. 2005). In many studies, this effect has been confirmed to continue until school age (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003b, Jackson et al. 2008), but there are no long-term follow-up studies with advanced viral diagnostic methods having been applied in infancy.

Eosinophilic inflammation is a characteristic feature of asthma, and it is often related to, and may even precede, the permanent structural changes in the airways (Barbato et al. 2006, Bush 2008). The age from one to three years has been suggested to be critical for the development of eosinophilic inflammation and the subsequent structural changes in the airways of young wheezing children at high risk of later asthma (Saglani et al. 2005 and 2007). Blood eosinophilia is a risk factor for later asthma in wheezy infants (Castro-Rodriguez et al. 2000, Ehlenfield et al. 2000, Just et al. 2008). However, there are no long-term follow-ups on the association between eosinophil activity in the blood or in the airways in wheezing infants and the risk of subsequent asthma. Neutrophils and their products seem to predominate in airway inflammation during acute viral wheeze in infancy (Kim et al. 2003, Marquet et al. 2008). In addition, neutrophils have an increased propensity to release myeloperoxidase (MPO), which is known to have the capability to damage epithelial cells (Haegens et al. 2008) and it also possesses proinflammatory properties (Lau et al. 2005). The role of neutrophil mediators such as serum MPO, measured in wheezing infants, is obscure - little is known about whether they elevate the later risk of asthma.

A positive response to bronchodilating agents, specifically to  $\beta$ -adrenergic agents, is considered as a sign of asthma in older children and in adults. These agents have not been as effective in infants with virus-induced wheezing (Chavasse et al. 2002, King et al. 2004). However, clinical experience suggests that a subset of wheezing infants benefits from treatment with  $\beta$ -adrenergic agents. It is unclear whether the positive responses, as measured by clinical parameters, may be useful in predicting later childhood asthma.

The main purpose of this thesis was to examine the risk factors, which are present during hospitalization for virus-induced wheezing in infancy, for teenage asthma and for asthma lasting through early childhood until at least teenage.

#### 2. REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

#### 2.1. Wheezing illnesses in early childhood

#### 2.1.1. Incidence of wheezing in early childhood

Wheezing symptoms are common in infancy: in the developed countries more than a third of all children will suffer from wheezing by the age of three years (Taussig et al. 2003, Illi et al. 2004, Gillespie et al. 2006), and about 10-20 % of all children experience at least two wheezing episodes during the first years of life (Halken et al. 1991, Castro-Rodriguez et al. 2000, Devulapalli et al. 2004, Kummeling et al. 2007). In infants with with atopic predisposition, i.e. asthma or atopy in at least one first-degree relative, the figure for wheezing in early life is even greater, more than 50 % (Kuiper et al. 2007).

About 2 % of all infants suffer from wheezing severe enough to warrant hospitalization (Korppi et al. 1986, Boyce et al. 2000, Koehoorn et al. 2008). The figures for recurrent wheezing are high after hospitalization for wheezing in infancy: during the following year as many as 70-75 % of these infants will experience at least one physician-diagnosed wheezing episode (Korppi et al. 1993, Reijonen et al. 1998), and approximately 40-50 % of the infants wheeze at least twice (Reijonen et al. 1998, Lehtinen et al. 2007).

Bronchiolitis is often defined as wheezing at age less than 24 months (American Academy of Pediatrics 2006, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 2006). However, this group of wheezy infants is heterogeneous with respect to host, viral and environmental risk factors evoking the wheezing symptoms in infancy, as well as in how this will impact on later childhood outcome (Jartti et al. 2009). Thus, identifying children at high risk of later asthma, and on the other hand, those who really are not at risk is clinically very important but challenging.

# 2.1.2. Viral recovery rates of wheezing illnesses and viral detection by molecular and non-molecular methods

Until the 1990s, viral diagnosis of wheezing illnesses was based on non-molecular methods, and viral recovery rates for wheezing in infancy were often below 50 % (Table 1) and for asthma exacerbations only about 10-30 % (Clarke et al. 1979, Pattemore et al. 1992). Non-molecular methods include conventional cell cultures (Ginocchio et al. 2007) and faster shell vial cultures (Ginocchio et al. 2007). Viral protein antigens can be detected directly in clinical specimens by immune fluorescence (IF)-based methods or by enzyme immunoassays (EIA) (Ginocchio et al. 2007, Mahony et al. 2008, Loens et al. 2009). A variety of serological tests including the hemagglutination inhibition test, complement fixation (CF) and EIA can be used for testing for antibodies in serum samples (Mahony 2008). The sensitivities of non-molecular methods vary greatly, e.g. depending on targeted viruses and age of specimens, and a combination of methods is often necessary to improve the diagnostics (Ginocchio et al. 2007, Mahony et al. 2008).

With the development of more sensitive molecular nucleic acid amplification techniques, multiple studies have shown that 80-95 % of wheezing in infancy (Table1) as well as most asthma exacerbations in children are induced by respiratory viruses (Johnston et al. 1995, Freymuth et al. 1999, Jartti et al. 2004, Grissel et al. 2005). These novel techniques include the polymerase chain reaction (PCR), which has led to the discovery of new viruses and a re-evaluation of the role of old viruses in LRTIs in children (Korppi 2008). Since most respiratory viruses are RNA-viruses, reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR), in which nucleic acid is reverse transcribed into cDNA, is usually applied to detect respiratory viruses.

Different kinds of specimens can be used in respiratory virus diagnostics e.g. nasopharyngeal aspirate (NPA), nasopharyngeal wash, nasopharyngeal swab, oropharyngeal swab, sputum, tracheal aspirates and bronchoalveolar lavage (Ginocchio et al. 2007, Loens et al. 2009). It has been proposed that NPA is the optimal specimen to detect respiratory viruses by both non-molecular and molecular methods (Loens et al. 2009).

Table 1. Main stu	dies with a	sampling pe	ariod at le	ast 12 moi	uths on	i viral ae	etiology c	of earl	y wheezi	gu					
								Viral d	etection r	ates (%	of wheezir	ig episode	(S		
Study population	Study period	Wheezing episodes	Age , months	Methods	RSV	Rhino- virus	Entero- virus	PIV 1-4	Influen- za virus A/B	Adeno- virus	Corona- virus	hMPV	Boca- virus	Other viruses	Total
Outpatients (Henderson et al. 1979)	1964-1975	606	0-24	culture	10		Ħ	6	Ħ	3	Ħ	Ħ	Ħ	e_	22
Outpatiets, birth cohort (Wright et al. 1989)	1980-1984	183	0-12	culture and antigen detection	58	see other	9	13	4	7	Ħ	Ħ	Ħ	4L	6
Inpatients (Wennergren et al. 1992)	1984-1985	64	0-24	serology, antigen detection	30	nt	٢	2	0	10	Ħ	nt	nt	°,	43
Inpatients (Rylander et al. 1996)	1986-1988	103	4-18	culture	20	2	-	**	Ħ	6	Ħ	Ħ	Ħ	Ħ	33
Emergency department study (Duff et al. 1993)	1988-1992	20	0-24	culture, antigen detection	55	15	2	Ħ	\$	Ħ	Ħ	Ħ	Ħ	nt	70
urpauents, (Reijonen et al. 1997a and 1997b, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003b and	1992-1993	100	0-24	antigen detection, serology, RT-PCR	29	27	10	12	tt	2	0	Ħ	Ħ	nt	69
2005) <sup>-</sup> Emergency department study (Rakes et al. 1999)	1993-1994	22	0-24	culture, antigen detection, RT-PCR	68	41	0.5	Ħ	t	•	0	Ħ	Ħ	Ħ	82

22

					Ĺ
74		6	93	11	
Ħ		ŧ	Ħ	8 <sup>f</sup>	
Ħ		Ħ	20	see other	
16 (9/56) <sup>d</sup>		٢	2	10	
5		2	ŝ	8	
60		4	10	see other	
5		4	ŝ	see other	
ŝ		12	60	13	
t		2	20	nt	
21		48	38	18	
23		21	38	13	
RT-PCR		RT-PCR	culture, antigen detection, serology, RT-PCR	RT-PCR	
0.5-12.5		0-36	0-36	0-12	
118		442	259	39	
1999-2000		1998-2000	2000-2002	1999-2004	
Inpatients (Papadopoulos et al. 2002 and	Xepapadaki et al. 2004) Outpatients, high-	risk birth cohort study (Jackson et al. 2008)	Inpatients (Jartti et al. 2009)	Outpatients (Regamey et al. 2008)	

RSV=Respiratory syncytial virus, PIV 1-4=Parainfluenza virus 1-4, human Metapneumovirus=hMPV, nt=not tested

<sup>a</sup> Mycoplasma pneumoniae

 $^{\mathrm{b}}$  Cytomegalovirus, rhinovirus, Chlamydia trachomatis and Mycoplasma pneumoniae, each at less than 4 % frequency

<sup>c</sup> Rotavirus

<sup>d</sup> 56/118 samples were later evaluated for hMPV, in which hMPV was the unique pathogen in 5/9 samples

<sup>c</sup> In 2000-2002 supplementary studies on viral aetiology (RT-PCR) were performed for picomaviruses and coronaviruses (n=81/100) and RSV (n=61/100)

<sup>f</sup>Influenza A, adeno- or bocavirus

# 2.1.3. Infectious triggers of wheezing in infancy

# Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV)

RSV (family *Paramyxoviridae*) is a single-stranded enveloped RNA-virus and the most common aetiological agent causing expiratory wheezing in infancy (Table 1). There are two subtypes of RSV, RSV A and B, wich possess antigenic differences and genetic diversity in the proteins (Ogra 2004). Important structural proteins include the fusion (F) protein and the attachment (G) protein (Ogra 2004). RSV accounts for about 40-70 % of the wheezing episodes in children aged less than three years (Table1), with detection rates being usually more than 50 % in children aged less than one year (Table1). During the winter months in temperate climates, RSV causes more than 60 % of the wheezing episodes in infants (Marguet et al. 2009, Mansbach et al. 2008). Nearly all children have been infected by the age of three years, and repeated, though clinically mild, infections are possible (Glezen et al. 1986, Ogra 2004). A seasonal variability is typical for RSV: in temperate climates the peak prevalence is in winter, with most infections occuring between late fall and early spring (Yusuf et al. 2007). In tropical climates, the virus can be detected all year round, and peaks are related to low temperatures (Stensballe et al. 2003). In northern Europe, RSV epidemics follow a regular long-term biannial pattern. For example in Finland, a minor RSV epidemic in every other spring is followed by a major epidemic in the following autumn and winter (Terlatskaia-Ladwig et al. 2005, Jartti et al. 2004). Children at the highest risk for suffering more severe symptoms are infants aged less than six months, particularly premature infants, and infants with bronchopulmonary dysplasia, congenital heart disease or immunodeficiency disorders (Boyce et al. 2000).

# Picornaviruses

Rhinovirus (family *Picornaviridae*) is known as the common cold virus, but many studies using molecular techniques, specifically RT-PCR, have shown that rhinoviruses cause up to 40 % of wheezing episodes in infants and are the second most important aetiological agent after RSV in early wheezing (Table1). Rhinovirus is a dominant pathogen in wheezing illnesses in older children and adults and accounts for about 65 % of the respiratory viruses identified in these cases (Dougherty and Fahy 2009,

Friedlander 2005). Rhinoviruses are single-stranded non-enveloped RNA viruses, and more than 100 rhinovirus serotypes have been identified (Kelly and Busse 2008). The serotypes are classified into three phylogenetic groups, A, B and C (Kelly and Busse 2008), which all are able to cause wheezing respiratory diseases (Kelly and Busse 2008, Miller 2009). However, serotypes A and C seem to be more common than serotype B, at least in hospitalized children (Miller et al. 2009). The intra-cellular adhesion molecule (ICAM) -1 is a cell-surface receptor, which binds most rhinovirus serotypes (Kelly and Busse 2008). Rhinoviruses circulate all year round, with peaks in late spring and early autumn in temperate climates (Carroll et al. 2008). Most children have been infected by rhinovirus by the age of two years (Carroll et al. 2008).

Enteroviruses (family *Picornaviridae*) are capable of causing wheezing LRTIs in infants (Jacques et al. 2008), and trigger up to 20 % of the wheezing episodes in infancy (Table1). Enteroviruses have also been found in the airways of older children with symptomatic asthma, especially during the summer periods (Rawlingson et al. 2003, Jartti et al. 2004). Enteroviruses are single-stranded non-enveloped RNA viruses (Mahony 2008) and the non-polio-enteroviruses are divided into four species, A-D (Mahony 2008). There are almost 100 enterovirus serotypes (Jacques et al. 2008), and many different strains have been isolated from specimens collected from the respiratory tract (Jacues et al. 2008). In temperate climates, most enterovirus infections occur in spring, summer and autumn, with infections lasting into the winter (Mahony 2008, Jacques et al. 2008).

After the age of 12 months, the role of picornaviruses becomes more dominant in childhood wheezing, and rhinoviruses and enteroviruses together account for about 65 % of all cases (Jartti et al. 2004).

# Human metapneumovirus (hMPV)

Human metapneumovirus (family *Paramyxoviridae*) is a single-stranded enveloped RNA-virus, which has probably been circulating for decades, but was not discovered until 2001 (Kahn 2006, Mahony 2008). At least two distinct genotypes cause respiratory tract diseases in humans (Kahn 2006). hMPV is related to RSV, and the clinical manifestations of these viruses are indistinguishable (Kahn 2006, Mahony 2008). The age-related incidence of hMPV infection is highest in children aged less than

two years (Heikkinen et al. 2008), and most children have been infected by the age of five years (Kahn 2006). hMPV causes up to 16 % of all wheezing episodes in infancy (Table 1), and is second or third to RSV and rhinovirus as a cause of bronchiolitis (Table1, Wolf et al 2006). Co-infections with RSV and other viruses are rather common (Kahn 2006, Xepapadaki et al. 2004). hMPV has a worldwide distribution, and in temperate climates, it is detected throughout the year, but it circulates mainly in the late winter and spring, and often coincides with or follows the peaks of RSV epidemics (Kahn 2006).

# Adenovirus

Adenoviruses (family *Adenoviridae*) are double-stranded non-enveloped DNA viruses with more than 50 serotypes, which are classified into six subtypes (A-F) (Mahony 2008). Type C seems to be the most common subtype found in the respiratory tract (Echavarria 2006). Adenoviruses circulate all year round, but infections are most frequent in late winter and early spring (Mahony 2008). Most adenovirus infections occur in early life (Mahony 2008) and can be considered as being responsible for up to 20 % of wheezing episodes in infancy (Table1).

# Coronavirus

Coronaviruses (family *Coronaviridae*) are single-stranded, large and enveloped RNA viruses, which are found in up to 8 % of the specimens obtained from wheezing infants (Table 1). There are two main serogroups, group I includes coronaviruses 229E and NL63 and group II coronaviruses OC43, SARS and HKU1 (Mahony 2008). Coronaviruses 229E and OC43, identified in the mid 1960s, are capable of causing not only mild (i.e. common cold) but also severe (i.e. bronchiolitis and pneumonia) respiratory tract infections (Mahony 2008). A novel coronavirus, SARS, associated with severe acute respiratory syndrome, was discovered in 2003 (Williams 2005). The most recently discovered coronaviruses, NL63 and HKU1, have been found to cause a variety of respiratory tract diseases worldwide including wheezing-associated illnesses (Mahony 2008, Ebihara 2005). In the temperate climates, coronavirus infections occur mainly in the winter months, often jointly with other viruses (Mahony 2008).

# Parainfluenza and influenza viruses

Parainfluenza viruses (family *Paramyxoviridae*) are single-stranded enveloped RNAviruses, and four parainfluenzavirus serotypes (1-4) cause symptomatic respiratory infections (Mahony 2008), being responsible for up to 13 % of wheezing episodes in infants (Table1). Parainfluenza viruses circulate all year round, and type 3 is able to cause most of the severe lower respiratory tract infections in infants, and is most prevalent in the spring and winter months (Mahony 2008).

Influenza viruses (family Orthomyxoviruses) are single-stranded enveloped RNAviruses, which cause annual epidemics in temperate climates (Mahony 2008, Chen and Deng 2009). The surface glycoproteins of influenza virus, hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA), are highly variable which complicates the development of vaccines (Chen and Deng 2009). Pandemics may follow the emergence of a new virus with a novel HA and NA combination (Chen and Deng 2009). The rates of wheezing episodes associated with influenza virus vary greatly, depending on the attack rates in the general population (Rojo et al. 2006). In temperate climates, epidemics occur during the winter months and last from three to eight weeks (Mahony 2008, American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on infectious diseases 2008). There are three genera within the influenza family (A, B and C) and only A and B viruses are capable of causing significant diseases (Carrat and Flahaut 2007). Influenza A virus infections tend to occur at a younger age than influenza B virus infections (Rojo et al. 2006, Peltola et al. 2002), and children younger than two years are at the highest risk of LRTI (Rojo et al. 2006). Influenza viruses cause up to 5 % of wheezing episodes in infants aged less than three years (Table 1).

# Bocavirus

Human bocavirus (family *Parvoviridae*) is the most recently discovered wheezingassociated respiratory tract virus (Allander et al. 2001). Bocavirus is a single-stranded non-enveloped DNA-virus with two distinct genotypes circulating worldwide (Mahony 2008). Infections have been diagnosed by molecular methods and by serology, but bocavirus has not been isolated in cell cultures (Mahony 2008, Kantola et al. 2008). Bocavirus has been associated with varying degrees of respiratory illnesses, ranging from common cold to bronchiolitis and pneumonia (Arnold et al. 2006, Bastien et al. 2007, Mahony et al. 2008). The symptoms most commonly associated with bocavirus infections are cough, fever and rhinitis (Bastien et al. 2007). In several studies, bocaviruses have been most prevalent in children aged less than three years (Mahony 2008). It has been reported that bocavirus is present in 20 % of the wheezing children at that age (Jartti et al. 2004), but most of the bocavirus findings have been co-infections with other viruses (Allender et al. 2007), and the role of bocavirus as a true pathogen has been questioned (Allender et al. 2007). However, viral loads have been high if bocavirus has been the only detected virus and antibody responses have been associated with high numbers of viral copies in NPA detected by PCR, evidence for a causative role in wheezing infections (Allender et al. 2007). In addition, bocavirus is rarely detected in asymptomatic individuals (Mahony 2008). In temperate climates, bocavirus infections occur mainly in winter (Mahony 2008), but seasonality has not been found in all studies (Bastien 2007.

# 2.1.4. Mechanisms of virus-induced wheezing in infancy

Wheezing during respiratory virus infection means that viruses have infected the lower respiratory tract. Airway obstruction is caused by epithelial swelling and plugging of the airway lumen by mucus and cellular debris (Tuffaha and Busse 2001). In addition, viruses can enhance bronchial hyper-reactivity (BHR) by altering neural control mechanisms, mainly by inducing cholinergic activity and by inducing the release of neuropeptides (Tuffaha and Busse 2001, Gern and Lemanske 2003, Gern 2008). The direct effects of the virus and infection-related immune responses both cause these changes, with the airway epithelial cells, granulocytes and lymphocytes being the main cells involved in the process (Tuffaha and Busse 2001, Gern 2008). The subsequent symptoms and signs include expiratory wheezing, tachypnea and hypoxia.

#### Epithelial cells

The airway epithelial cells form the primary target of the viruses which infect the respiratory tract (Gern and Lemanske 2003, Gern 2008). Respiratory viruses, especially RSV, can cause direct lung injury by replication in the epithelium (Gern and Lemanske 2003, DeVincenzo 2007), leading to epithelial oedema and shedding which together with mucus production can provoke wheezing symptoms (Gern 2008). Epithelial damage may cause enhanced allergen exposure since it can increase permeability of the mucosal layer (Gern 2008). Rhinoviruses usually are responsible for minor cellular damage, i.e. the mechanisms leading to the symptoms are mainly immunological (Kelly and Busse 2008). On the other hand, persistence of rihonoviruses in the lower airway epithelial cells of recurrently wheezing infants has been reported (Malmström et al. 2006). Viruses bind to receptors, RSV mainly to Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (Murawski et al. 2009) and rhinovirus mainly to ICAM-1 receptors (Kelly and Busse 2008). Host cell recognition of viral antigens leading to viral replication in epithelial cells leads to activation of transcription factors of several cytokines and chemokines, which attract leucocytes to the site of inflammation (Schuh et al. 2003, Gern and Lemanske 2003, Kelly and Busse 2008).

# Granulocytes, monocytes and macrophages

Activation of cytokines and chemokines is followed by immune cell influx and activation (Tuffaha and Busse 2001, Gern 2008). Neutrophils are the most common cell type in virus-induced respiratory tract infection in wheezing infants and are present also in the respiratory secretions of subjects with acute asthma (Kim et al. 2003, Marquet et al. 2008, Barbato et al. 2001, Norzila et al. 2000). Sputum neutrophils as well as their degranulation products, such as elastase, interleukin (IL)-8 and MPO, are likely to contribute to airway obstruction by mucus secretion and by further secretion of chemokines and cytokines (Gern 2008, Jaovisidha et al. 1999).

Mononuclear cells, such as macrophages and dendritic cells, are important cells in the early responses to respiratory viruses and these cells secrete adhesion molecules such as ICAM-1 and pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor alpha, interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$ , IFN-  $\alpha$ , and monocyte inflammatory protein -1 $\alpha$  (Gern 2008, Kelly and Busse 2008, Tuffaha and Busse 2001). These products are important mediators of inflammation and they act to attract and recruit further inflammatory cells, but type 1 IFNs, such as IFN- $\alpha$ , may also limit viral spread and take part in the recovery process (Gern 2008, Kelly and Busse 2008).

There is evidence that eosinophils can also be activated during respiratory tract infection (Tuffaha and Busse 2001). Eosinophil activation during rhinovirus infection is common (Gern 2008, Kelly and Busse 2008), and an eosinophil-positive subgroup has been identified in infants suffering from RSV-induced bronchiolitis (Kim et al. 2003). The infected epithelial cells secrete a mediator called regulated upon activation normal T-cell expressed and secreted (RANTES), which is an important chemotactic factor in the activation of eosinophils (Kelly and Busse 2008). Eosinophil cationic protein (ECP), secreted by eosinophils, may even have antiviral properties (Kelly and Busse 2008). On the other hand, elevated sputum eosinophils, seen often in asthmatic subjects when there are no infections, may also enhance an individual's susceptibility to suffer a rhinovirus infection (Kelly and Busse 2008).

# Lymphocytes

Cell-mediated immune responses are involved in virus-induced wheezing in infancy (Tuffaha and Busse 2001, Gern 2008, Kelly and Busse 2008). Natural killer T-cells,

CD8+ cytotoxic T-cells (T-killer) and CD4+ T-cells (T-helper) are involved in virusinduced wheezing in infancy during the early stages of the illness (Tuffaha and Busse 2001). During viral infection, CD8+ T-cells produce IFN- $\gamma$  which has an ability to lyse infected cells (Tuffaha and Busse 2001). CD4+ T-cells differentiate into T-helper (Th) 1 cells or Th2 cells depending on cytokines produced by monocytes or antigen presenting cells (Tuffaha and Busse 2001, Pinto et al. 2006). Viral infections typically induce Th1type cells, which produce cytokines, including IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2, two cytokines which are essential in cell-mediated immunity (Tuffaha and Busse 2001, Pinto et al. 2006, Gern 2008, Kelly and Busse 2008). The Th2 cells tend to produce other cytokines including IL-4 and IL-5, which are typical of asthma and allergy and important in humoral immunity and in the immediate-type hypersensitivity (Pinto et al. 2006, Smyth and Openshaw 2006).

The first B-cell response to a respiratory tract virus infection is the generation of mucosal IgA within a few days this being followed by the production of specific IgM and IgG antibodies (Kelly and Busse 2008). Thus, lymphocytes serve to clear infected epithelial cells and to limit the extent of infection (Gern 2008).

# 2.1.5. Factors contributing to susceptibility to virus-induced wheezing in infancy

# Age, sex and co-morbidity

Population-based birth cohort studies have shown that wheezing during lower respiratory tract infection is most common during first year of life (Matricardi et al. 2008, Polk et al. 2004, Sandin et al. 2004, Taussig et al. 2003). In community-based studies, the prevalence of wheezing has been 18-32%, 9-17% and 4-12% in the first, second and third year of life, respectively (Taussig et al. 2003, Matricardi et al. 2008). Bronchiolitis cases occur most frequently in the first months of life (Koehoorn et al. 2008, Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 2006). In addition, younger infants are at higher risk than older infants for requiring hospitalization for virus-induced wheezing (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 2006). In infancy, acute respiratory tract infections are equally common in males and females (Wright et al. 1989, von Linstow et al. 2008). Nonetheless, wheezing is more common in boys, as observed both in epidemiological (up to 1.4-fold) and in hospital-based studies (1.4-2.3-

fold) studies (Linneberg et al. 2006, Matricardi et al. 2008, Korppi et al. 1986, Reijonen et al. 1995, Koehoorn et al 2008, Marquet et al. 2009). Infants born prematurely or those who have congenital heart disease or chronic lung disease are at the highest risk of requiring hospitalization for bronchiolits (Scottish Intercollegiate Guidelines Network 2006).

#### Premorbid lung function

If the airway calibre is diminished at birth or in early life, LRTIs further reduce the calibre and thus facilitate wheezing symptoms. The measurement of maximal flow at the functional residual capacity ( $V_{max}FRC$ ) by the tidal rapid non-invasive thoracoabdominal compression technique has yielded most of the information about small airway function in young infants (Hoo et al. 2002, Taussig et al 2003). In these studies, diminished airway function, as reflected by a reduced length-adjusted  $V_{max}FRC$ , has often preceded the first wheezing episode in infancy, and the length-corrected flows have been higher in female infants (Murray et al. 2002, Taussig et al. 2003). The sex difference in length-adjusted  $V_{max}FRC$  is significant during the first year of life (Hoo et al. 2002), and this may account for the early sex-related differences in airway structure and tone as well as by slower airway growth in boys (Hoo et al. 2002). In addition, there is evidence that small infants have BHR to non-specific stimuli with diminishing reactivity with age (Taussig et al. 2003). Diminished lung function and BHR in infants before any LRTIs have been identified both in community-based studies and in a population with an atopic predisposition (Murray et al. 2002, Taussig et al. 2003).

In some studies, flow-limitation in infancy has been an independent risk-factor for wheezing illnesses, not related to known risk factors for asthma such as atopy or atopic predisposition (Turner et al. 2002, Turner et al. 2004). On the other hand, in a study which applied a plethysmographic method, infants with a family history of asthma displayed significantly reduced values of specific airway conductance compared to those with no family history of asthma (Dezateux et al. 1999). In addition, other factors, such as exposure to environmental tobacco smoke (ETS) and excessive weight gain, have been associated with reduced lung growth in infancy (Dezateux et al. 1999, Turner et al. 2008 and 2009).

# Immunologic factors

Both innate immune responses, such as production of inflammatory mediators in response to host cell recognition of virus, and acquired immune responses, such as Tcell and B-cell mediated responses, are important in protecting the host against virus infections (Heymann et al. 2005, Singh 2007). Thus, variability in these immunologic responses may play an important role in host susceptibility to experience wheezing illnesses (Heymann et al. 2005, Oh 2006, Singh 2007, Juntti et al. 2009). Recent evidence has suggested that classical Th1-lympocyte cytokines, IL-2, IL-4, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-17, were virtually undetectable in secretions obtained from infants suffering from a severe infection caused by RSV (Welliver et al. 2007). In addition, high viral loads and activation of apoptotic mechanisms were associated with severe disease caused by RSV or influenza virus (Welliver et al. 2007). Thus, the pathogenesis of severe viral LRTI may be related to a failure to develop the appropriate cytotoxic T-cell response (Welliver et al. 2008), and this defect might be age-related, affecting mostly infants aged less than six months (Chung et al. 2007). A deficiency in the appropriate Th1-type responses is supported by the finding that infants with atopic predisposition exhibited an inverse correlation between cord blood IFN-y responses of mononuclear cells and moderate to severe viral infections during the first year of life (Friedlander et al. 2005). In addition, excess Th2 type responses in atopic individuals may dimish viral clearance through suboptimal Th1 responses, and predispose patients to recurrent wheezing symptoms or asthma exacerbations (Papadopulos et al. 2002, Malmström et al. 2006).

#### Genetic factors

Genetic loci that contribute to the variability in innate and acquired immune responses have been studied in order to evaluate the contribution of genetic predisposition to wheezing in infancy (Singh 2007). Studies performed thus far are limited and concern mainly RSV-associated disease in hospitalized infants and are based on the candidate gene approach (Singh 2007, Miyairi 2008). It has been estimated that the genetic contribution accounts for approximately 20 % of the variance in RSV disease severity (Miyairi 2008). Genes associated with viral entry to the host cell, genes encoding surfactant proteins functioning as recognition molecules, Th1 versus Th2 cytokine response genes, neutrophil response genes and genes associated with antibody responses

and with HLA type I antigens have been studied (Miyairi 2008). The evidence from these studies suggests that the genes related to the limitation of the extent of the infection, specifically genes associated with IFN system, are important (Miyairi 2008). Deficient Th1-type responses and excessive Th2-type responses have been reported in RSV disease, and IL-13 has been speculated to play an important role in the Th2 skew (Miyairi 2008, Forton et al. 2009). Polymorphisms in a region which is associated with increased IL-13 production, have been linked to asthma and atopy, and in a recent study also to increased risk of severe RSV bronchiolitis in infants aged less than six months, pointing to a common genetic component in these diseases (Forton et al. 2009).

There are only a few genetic studies on the susceptibility of early wheezing illnesses caused by respiratory tract viruses other than RSV. However, there is evidence that immune responses as well as candidate genes in non-RSV bronchiolitis may be somewhat different than in RSV bronchiolitis. Expression of IFN-inducible genes has been higher in RSV bronchiolitis than in bronchiolitis caused by rhinovirus (Scagnolari et al. 2007). IL-10 gene polymorphism, connected to asthma and atopy, was associated with severe rhinovirus bronchiolitis, but not to RSV-bronchiolitis at the age of less than six months (Helminen et al. 2008).

#### Social and environmental factors

The population-based cohort studies have shown that exposure to infections as reflected in attendance to day-care or by the number of older siblings (Taussig et al. 2003, Polk et al 2004, Sandin et al. 2004, Linneberg et al. 2005, Koehoorn et al. 2008), increases the risk of wheezing in early childhood. In some studies, young maternal age, low maternal occupation level and low household income level have been related to an increased risk of wheezing episodes in early childhood (Koehoorn et al. 2008), but these associations have not been confirmed in all population-based cohorts (Linneberg et al. 2006). In most studies, breastfeeding has been protective for wheezing illnesses in infancy (Wright et al. 2001, Oddy et al. 2003, Polk et al. 2004, Linneberg et al. 2006, Koehoorn et al. 2008). The role of exposure to ETS as a risk factor for early wheezing in infancy is evident, (Wright et al. 1991, Polk et al. 2004, Carrol et al. 2007, Håberg et al. 2007) and some studies have highlighted the association between maternal smoking during pregnancy and increased risk of wheezing in infancy (Linneberg et al. 2006, Koehoorn et al. 2007) and some studies have highlighted the association between maternal smoking during pregnancy and increased risk of wheezing in infancy (Linneberg et al. 2006, Koehoorn et al. 2007) and some studies have highlighted the association between maternal smoking during pregnancy and increased risk of wheezing in infancy (Linneberg et al. 2006, Koehoorn et al. 2007) and some studies have highlighted the association between maternal smoking during pregnancy and increased risk of wheezing in infancy (Linneberg et al. 2006, Koehoorn et al. 2006).

Håberg et al. 2007). There are also other factors, such as exposure to air pollution (Ryan et al. 2005), dampness in the home environment (Emenius et al. 2004) and antibiotic exposure in early life (Kummeling et al. 2007), which have been linked to an increased risk of wheezing in infancy.

The social and environmental risk-factors for hospitalization due to virus-induced wheezing are mostly the same as those for wheezing not requiring hospitalization (Nielsen et al. 2003, Koehoorn et al. 2008). Exposure to ETS has been related to prolonged hospitalization (Chatzimichael et al. 2007, Marquet et al. 2009) and low oxygen saturation (Bradley et al. 2005), and maternal smoking during pregnancy has been associated with hospitalization for bronchiolitis (Nielsen et al. 2003, Koehoorn et al. 2008). The role of air pollutants in the risk of hospitalization for wheezing in infancy is not clear; exposure to air pollutants has been claimed to increase the risk, specifically in infants born prematurely (Karr et al. 2006) or in infants born just before or during the peak of an RSV seasonal epidemic (Karr et al. 2009).

# Atopy

Allergic individuals may have impaired antiviral responses, leading to more severe infections and further to wheezing (Papadopoulos et al. 2002, Gern 2008). It has been proposed that there exists a subgroup of infants with early respiratory allergy and eosinophilic inflammation in the airways, and this subgroup is particularly prone to wheeze during respiratory viral infections (Singh 2007, Gern 2008). Several studies have evaluated whether personal atopy or atopic predisposition increase the risk of wheezing illnesses in infancy. Population based-studies have found only weak (Illi et al. 2004, Linneberg et al. 2006, Håberg et al. 2007) or even no associations (Martinez et al. 1995, Sandin et al. 2004) between atopic manifestations or atopic predisposition and wheezing illnesses in infancy. In addition, the risk factors for atopic dermatitis seem to differ from those for wheezing in infancy suggesting that these two conditions have a different aetiology (Linneberg et al. 2006). However, some birth cohort studies have suggested that wheezing episodes are more frequent in infants with an atopic predisposition compared to infants with no atopic predisposition (Kuiper et al. 2007), and it is believed that other environmental factors, such as exposure to ETS, are particularly harmful in these predisposed infants (Kuiper et al. 2007).

A few studies have found an association between early atopy or atopic predisposition and bronchiolitis requiring hospitalization (Carrol et al. 2007, Stensballe et al. 2006), but many studies have failed to detect any such association (Singh 2007). In a recent study, atopic manifestations in infants hospitalized for bronchiolitis increased wih age and were more common in infants with recurrent wheezing (Jartti et al. 2009). Thus, the question of whether there is a subgroup of wheezing infants with allergies and possible asthma-like inflammation in the airways, is unclear, and might depend on the age of the studied infants.

# Viral factors

In a birth cohort study conducted in infants with atopic predisposition, RSV caused more severe infections in infants than influenza A virus, parainfluenza virus or rhinovirus (Gern et al. 2002), which has also reported in small infants requiring hospital care (Marguet et al. 2009). There is some evidence that the presence of rhinovirus together with RSV increases the severity of bronchiolitis compared to RSV aetiology alone (Papadopoulos et al. 2002), but again some studies have failed to detect this relationship (Marguet et al. 2009). In other studies, there have been no differences in the clinical severity between rhinovirus induced bronchiolitis compared to RSV bronchiolitis in hospitalized infants (Kellner et al. 1989, Korppi et al. 2004a). However, infants hospitalized for rhinovirus induced wheezing were 6-24 months old, whereas infants with RSV aetiology of wheezing were less than 12 months old (Korppi et al. 2004a). In addition, rhinovirus infection was more often associated with atopy, eosinophil activation (Korppi et al. 2004a, Jartti et al. 2007) and a more favourable response to oral prednisolone treatment than was the cases for wheezing related to RSV infection (Jartti et al. 2007).

# 2.2. The prevalence of asthma symptoms in the child population, and the figures in short- and long-term follow-ups after early childhood wheezing

Approximately one-third of the children wheezing in the first three years of life continue to wheeze after the age of three years (Martinez et al. 1995, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002, Matricardi et al. 2008). There are studies on population-based birth
cohorts, high-risk birth-cohorts and hospital-based cohorts revieling that even mild wheezing in infancy is a significant risk factor for wheezing and asthma later in life.

# 2.2.1. Worldwide prevalence of asthma symptoms

According to the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC), the global prevalence of wheezing is 11.5 %, and frequent or severe asthma symptoms occur in 4.9 % of children at the age of six to seven years (Lai et al. 2009). The respective figures are 14.1 % and 6.9 % for 13-14 years old children (Lai et al. 2009). As seen in Table 2, the reported prevalence rates of asthma symptoms vary considerably; the rates of frequent asthma symptoms in the developed countries are highest in Australia and New Zealand (8.4-12.1%), and lowest in Europe (3.2-6.2%) including Finland (5.1%) and Sweden (3,4%). The lifetime prevalence of asthma was estimated to be 4.0 % in a non-selected population-based study in children aged 7-12 years living in Kuopio, Finland, and an additional 3.0 % had displayed some evidence of asthma during the preceding year (Remes et al. 1996).

	At the	e age of 6-7 years	At the age of 13-14 years		
Region	Current wheeze (%)	Symptoms of frequent or severe asthma (%)	Current wheeze (%)	Symptoms of frequent or severe asthma (%)	
Global total Finland <sup>a</sup>	11,5	4,9	14,1	6,9	
(Kuopio)	-	-	19,0	5,1	
Sweden	10,2	4,2	9,7	3,4	
Northern and Eastern Europe	8,7	3,2	9,7	3,8	
Western Europe	9,6	3,6	14,3	6,2	
North America	19,1	7,1	21,6	11,3	
Australia	20,0	8,4	30,6	12,1	
New Zealand	22,2	9,8	26,7	10,9	

Table2. Prevalence of wheezing and frequent wheezing or severe asthma symptoms at the ages of 6-7 and 13-14 years according to the ISAAC study (Lai et al. 2009)

<sup>a</sup> Data not available for the age of 6-7 years

# 2.2.2. Short-term outcome after early childhood wheezing

## Wheezing symptoms and asthma

The prospective birth-cohort-studies, based usually on self-reported symptom-history or current symptoms, have shown that about 30-40 % of infants will have wheezing symptoms until pre-school age if they have wheezed in their first three years of life (Martinez et al. 1995, Sherriff et al. 2001, Sandin et al. 2004, Matricardi et al. 2008). A retrospective population-based study, which applied a health-care specialist-confirmed diagnosis of bronchiolitis, revealed that 16 % of infants with an outpatient visit for bronchiolitis at less than one year of age had frequent wheezing symptoms or asthma at age 4-5.5 years (Carroll et al. 2009). In a high-risk birth cohort study, which included only children with an atopic predisposition, the risk of frequent symptoms or asthma at age six was 30-60 %, depending on the viral aetiology of early wheeze (Jackson et al. 2008).

After hospital admission for wheezing in infancy 18-53 % of pre-school children experience frequent symptoms or asthma (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen and Korppi 2007,

Valkonen et al. 2009), and the prevalence of school-age asthma, at 7.6-9.5 years of age, has been 15-40 % (Korppi et al. 1994, Sigurs et al. 2000, Henderson et al. 2005, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2005).

# Lung function

In the population-based lung function studies, it was found that pre-school children who continued to wheeze from infancy until six years of age had lower lung function in infancy, as indicated by their values for  $V_{max}FRC$ , compared to those who had never wheezed (Martinez et al. 1995). In another population-based study, a third of the early wheezers had BHR to histamine at the age of seven years, and this figure rose to more than 50 % in those children with both early and current wheeze, but early wheezing was not a significant predictor of BHR at early school age (Illi et al. 2006).

There is evidence that children hospitalized for RSV bronchiolitis at less than one year of age have reduced lung function, as measured by flow volume spirometry (FVS), at age seven years compared to age-matched controls (Fjaerli et al. 2005). In addition, a reduction in lung function and increased BHR have been observed at school age in children hospitalized for virus-induced bronchiolitis when they were less than two years of age compared to controls (Korppi et al. 1994). Further, seen in the present cohort followed up until early school age, 23 % of the children who had been hospitalized for virus-induced bronchiolitis in infancy exhibited reduced indices in FVS and 13 % had BHR to exercise, and BHR was significantly associated with rhinovirus aetiology of early wheezing (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2008).

#### 2.2.3. Long-term outcome after early childhood wheezing

# Wheezing symptoms and asthma

In the birth cohort studies, about 30-40 % of the children who suffered wheezing at less than three years of age have continued to display symptoms until the age of 11-13 years (Morgan et al. 2005, Matricardi et al. 2008), but some birth cohort studies have reported lower figures, 13-24 %, for wheezing symptoms (Sporik et al. 1991, Lodrup Carlsen et al. 2006). There are only few birth cohorts which have been followed up until adulthood. In the birth cohort study from Tucson, Arizona, one third of the early

wheezers were regarded as asthmatic at the age of 22 years, and an additional third of early wheezers had inactive asthma, i.e. an asthma diagnosis but no current symptoms (Stern et al. 2008). In another birth cohort study in subjects with an atopic predisposition, 38 % of infants with wheezing before the age of two years still were displaying symptoms at the ages of either 11 or 22 years (Rhodes et al. 2001).

There are only few long term follow-up studies after hospitalization for wheezing in infancy. Wheezing or asthma has been demonstrated in 17-39 % of the children followed up to 10-13 years of age after hospitalization for wheezing in infancy (Table 3), and these figures are higher than in controls or in the general population in all of the studies. There are only two prospective follow-up studies after hospitalization for early childhood wheezing which have continued until adulthood (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2004, Goksör et al. 2006). These studies were conducted in Finland and Sweden, and the prevalence of asthma at the age of 17-20 years was similar, 41-43 %, in both of these studies (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2004, Goksör et al 2006).

## Lung function

In the population-based lung function studies, LRTI in infancy has been associated with lowered lung function, as measured by forced expiratory flows, until the age 10-11 years (Stein et al. 1999b, Håland et al. 2009), and adolescents who had a history of wheezing before the age of three years, have had significantly lower forced expiratory flows than those with no history of early wheezing (Morgan et al. 2005). However, in some studies it was lung function at birth rather than LRTIs in the first years of life which has explained the later deficits in lung function (Håland et al. 2009).

In the lung function studies after hospitalization for early wheezing, forced expiratory flows have been reduced at the age of 10-13 years (Noble et al. 1997, Sigurs et al. 2005). Increased BHR has been demonstrated to dry-air (Sigurs et al. 2005) or to methacholine (Gurwitz et al. 1981, Wennergren et al. 1997). Abnormal lung function parameters, measured by FVS, were seen in 31-36 % of the subjects, compared with 11-16 % of the controls, in the bronchiolitis cohorts followed-up until adulthood (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2004, Goksör et al. 2008).

Table 3. Hos	pitalization for	wheezing in infanc	y: Asthma prevalen	ice at the age of 10	-13 years.	
	Study	children with	Age (months)on	Age (years)at	Prevalence (%) of asthma in	
Kelerence	population/ design	early wheezing/ number of controls	admission	the follow-up in cases/controls	cases/ in controls	Definition of symptoms
Gurwitz et	Bronchiolitis/	48/-	7.6 (mean, range	10.4/-	17	Physician-diagnosed asthma
al. 1981	retrospective		2-23 months)			
Noble et al.	Bronchiolitis/	61/47	3.6 (mean)	10.1/10.0	39/13	Self-reported current respiratory
1997	prospective					symptoms or maintenance asthma
						medication
Wennergren	Wheezing	92/-	< 24 (median 10)	≥ 10/-	30/-	From mild to severe asthma based
et al. 1997	bronchitis/					on the current need of the
	prospective					bronchodilators and/or maintenance
						asthma medication
Sigurs et al.	RSV-	47/93	< 12 (mean 3.7)	13.4/13.4	28/3.3	2 3 episodes of physician-diagnosed
2005	bronchiolitis/					wheezing in the past year
	prospective					

# 2.3. Early-life predictive factors for long-term outcome after early childhood wheezing

The question of whether acute virus-induced wheezing in infancy can cause asthma, or is only a marker of a predisposition towards asthma has been addressed in many studies. Viruses cause direct cytopathic effects to the epithelium, which may evoke physiologic changes in the airways. In addition, viruses can interact with both innate and adaptive immune responses, and these effects may be different depending on the environmental factors and genetic predisposition of the host. The march from early life wheezing to persistent asthma is complex and evidently multi-factorial with many host-and environmental factors involved in the process.

# 2.3.1. Age

In Tucson's study, 20 % of the children with wheezing only during the first year of life, wheezed after the age of three years, with the figures for second and third year wheezing being 40 % and 60-70 %, respectively (Taussig et al. 2003). However, the follow-up of the Tucson's cohort has shown that persistent wheezing (from infancy until age six) is a risk factor for asthma in adulthood, suggesting that most forms of asthma have their origins in early childhood (Stern et al. 2008). An increasing number of asthma risk factors become involved already in early life, probably between the ages one to two years, which might explain the increasing risk of recurrent wheezing at this age (Jartti et al. 2009). However, there are also opposite findings: in infants hospitalized for RSV-induced wheezing at age less than 12 months, the occurrence of wheezing symptoms was high and persisted up to the teenage years (Sigurs et al. 2005), suggesting that severe disease in a very young infant may have a different impact on the development of asthma than a milder disease.

#### 2.3.2. Lung function in infancy

In the Tucson birth cohort,  $V_{max}FRC$  levels, measured shortly after birth, was lowest in children who wheezed only during the three first years of life but not thereafter (Morgan et al. 2005). In addition, wheezing persisting from early childhood up to the age of 11 years has been associated, independent of atopy, with reduced  $V_{max}FRC$  measured in infancy (Turner et al. 2004). Increased BHR to histamine shortly after birth has been related to transient wheezing (Wilson et al. 2004), but when BHR is present at the age of 12 months, it is often persistent and associated with the development of asthma by the age of 11 years (Turner et al. 2009). Furthermore, there is also evidence, that at least in atopic infants, BHR, measured shortly after wheezing in infancy, is related to the development of asthma in a ten-year follow-up (Saga et al. 2001).

In clinical practice, a response to bronchodilators is often considered to be a sign of asthma. The early bronchodilator response, as evaluated by tidal lung function measurements in asymptomatic children with a history of wheezing at less than two years of age, was significantly larger than in non-wheezing controls, and the value increased with an increasing number of asthma risk factors (Lodrup Carlsen et al. 2004). However, unfortunately the early bronchodilator responses with regard to later asthma status of the children were not reported in that study.

#### 2.3.3. Viruses

#### RSV

In the Tucson birth cohort, the children with a history of RSV-LRTI, including pneumonia cases, during the first three years of life were more likely to still be having episodes of wheezing up to the age of 11 years, but no longer at the age of 13 (Stein et al. 1999b). Furthermore, at the age of 11 those children with a history of RSV-LRTI had a lower forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) and they were more likely to respond bronchodilators than children with no history of LRTI in infancy (Stein et al. 1999). A history of RSV-LRTI in infancy was unrelated to skin prick-test (SPT) positivity at age 11 (Stein et al. 1999b). Similarly, in another birth cohort study, RSV-bronchiolitis requiring hospitalization at the age less than 12 months was associated with asthma, but not with the development of atopy compared to the other population in the cohort by the age of seven years (Henderson et al. 2005).

There are a limited number of hospital-based long-term follow-up studies examining the association between RSV-induced wheezing and asthma. RSV-LRTI requiring hospitalization during the first year of life was not associated with asthma in a

retrospective study conducted in Northern Finland, and even a reduction in SPT positivity was seen at the age of 6-10 years in children with a history of hospitalization for RSV-LRTI in infancy when compared to matched controls (Juntti et al. 2003). In a prospective Swedish study, hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis at the age of less than 12 months was found to be a risk factor for asthma compared to the matched controls at the follow-up visits at the ages of three, seven and 13 years. However, a reduction in risk ratios was seen with increasing age (Sigurs et al. 1995, 2000 and 2005, Perez-yarza et al. 2007), pointing to a disappearance of the effect of early RSV infection. However, decreased lung function and increased BHR to dry-air hyperventilation compared to matched controls could still be demonstrated at age 13 (Sigurs et al. 2005). Sensitization to common allergens was more common in RSV subjects than in matched controls at the age of 13 (Sigurs et al. 2005). In a 20-year prospective follow-up, asthma and SPT positivity were not more common after RSV bronchiolitis in infancy than than corresponding value in controls (Korppi et al. 2004b). However, indices in the FVS, FEV<sub>1</sub>/forced vital capacity (FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC) and maximal expiratory flow when 25 % of the FVC remains to be expired (MEF<sub>25</sub>), were lower in subjects with a history of RSV bronchiolitis compared to controls (Korppi et al. 2004b). In studies comparing RSV bronchiolitis to non-RSV bronchiolitis, no long-term differences in asthma prevalence have been observed between the groups (Wennergren et al. 1997) or asthma prevalence has been even lower, as seen in the present cohort at an early school age (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002), and in another bronchiolitis cohort in adolescence (Hyvärinen et al. 2005) and in early adulthood (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007b). However, there are no long-term follow-ups which have used the novel molecular methods available for viral diagnoses.

# Rhinovirus

Many studies have demonstrated that rhinoviruses are the major cause of asthma exacerbations in both children and adults (Jartti et al. 2004, Friedlander et al. 2005). Impaired innate antiviral responses in asthmatics have been observed (Kelly and Busse 2008), and persistence of rhinovirus in asthmatic bronchial epithelium, also in infants, has been demonstrated (Kelly and Busse, Malmström et al. 2006). It has been postulated that rhinovirus plays a role in the pathogenesis of remodelling by generating the

mediators involved in the process (Leigh et al. 2008). However, population-based longterm follow-up-studies on the association between early rhinovirus-induced wheezing and subsequent asthma are lacking, since no molecular viral diagnostics were available before the 1990s. The Childhood Origins of ASThma cohort, a birth cohort consisting of infants with at least one atopic parent, demonstrated that rhinovirus-induced viral wheezing, though not requiring hospitalization, was a significant predictor of asthma at the age of six years (Jackson et al. 2008). In another high-risk cohort, wheezing induced by rhinovirus either alone or in combination with RSV at less than one year of age was associated with wheezing at age five years, but only in children sensitized at less than two years of age (Kusel et al. 2007), and these authors concluded that viral infections may interact with the onset of atopy in infancy to promote later asthma.

Seen in the present cohort at early school age, asthma was more common after rhinovirus aetiology of early wheezing compared the situation when the wheezing was attributable to RSV or other viral causes (52% vs. 15%) (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003b), and rhinovirus aetiology associated with early wheezing was linked with BHR to exercise (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2008). However, there are no long-term follow-up studies with which to conduct a comparison of the outcomes after rhinovirus and RSV-bronchiolitis.

#### Other viruses

Other respiratory viruses causing early wheezing, including probably also the newly discovered hMPV and bocavirus, have been included into the non-RSV-group in studies which have evaluated the role of viral aetiology of early wheeze on the later respiratory morbidity. Hospitalization for hMPV bronchiolitis has been associated with asthma at pre-school-age (García-García et al. 2007), but the long-term outcome is unknown. In addition, the outcome after bronchiolits caused by bocavirus is unknown.

## 2.3.4. Atopy

As presented in Figure 1, the Tucson birth cohort study classified wheezing during the first three years of life into transient wheezing, non-atopic persistent wheezing and atopic persistent wheezing or asthma based on the development of atopy and the persistence of wheezing symptoms by the age of six years (Taussig et al. 2003). Transient wheezers are individuals who wheeze only during the first three years of life and are not likely to be atopic or to have an atopic predisposition, and in most of these children, the wheezing symptoms will have disappeared before school age. Children with non-atopic persistent wheezing may wheeze both during the first three years of life and at the age of six years, but the risk of wheezing decreases with age and is no longer significant at the age of 11-13 years. Atopic persistent wheezers are often sensitized to inhalant allergens, and the risk of wheezing persists from infancy at least up to early adolescence, and this group also shows the lowest level of lung function at the ages six and 11 years (Taussig et al. 2003, Morgan et al. 2005). Thus, an early onset of the symptoms and atopic sensitization are believed to be important risk factors for severe and persistent disease (Taussig et al. 2003, Morgan et al. 2005). However, sensitization to allergens was not studied before six years of age in the Tucson birth cohort. The German Multicenter Allergy Study cohort is the only birth cohort study which has evaluated the role of early atopic sensitization, as defined by serum specific IgE (sIgE), on wheezing at 11-13 years of age in children with a history of wheezing before three years of life. In that study, a positive family history of atopy and early sensitization to perennial allergens were the strongest risk factors for persistent wheezing (Matricardi et al. 2008). Early sensitization to food allergens predicted the persistence of wheezing in the univariate analyses, but no longer in the multivariate analyses (Matricardi et al. 2008).

In the present cohort, early atopic dermatitis and sensitization (defined by serum sIgE) to wheat, egg white or inhalant allergens were predictive for asthma at early school age (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003a). In the Finnish cohort which was followed up until adulthood, parental asthma predicted asthma and parental atopy was associated with pathological lung function (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2004). In addition, early sensitization to common inhalant allergens, as measured by non-automated radioallergosorbent tests (RAST), predicted asthma until the age of 13.5-16 years

(Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007a). However, there are no other long-term follow-up studies after hospitalization for virus-induced wheezing with measurements of serum sIgE to common food and inhalant allergens determined in infancy.

## 2.3.5. Early exposure and sensitization to animal danders

In the 2000's, many studies have documented that early-life exposure to animals can decrease the subsequent development of allergy and asthma (Ownby et al. 2002, von Mutius et al. 2007). The theory known as the hygiene hypothesis proposed that exposure early in life to house dust, animals and livestock increases an infant's exposure to endotoxins or other protective factors originating from the animals or their microbial flora (Strachan 1989, Ownby and Johnson 2003, von Mutius et al. 2007). Increase in the Th1 immunity leading to increase in IFN-  $\gamma$  production, but not in Th2 interleukins, such as IL-4 and IL-13, may be the mechanism to explain why exposure to infective agents could reduce the production of sIgE and the prevalence of allergic diseases and asthma (von Mutius 2007). In addition to Th1/Th2 balance, T regulatory cells may have a central role in controlling immune responses such as the rate of secretion of sIgE from the B cells (Akdis et al. 2005, von Mutius 2007).

Birth cohort studies on early exposure to furry pets and the later development of asthma have given inconsistent results (Apelberg et al. 2001 and Ownby and Johnson 2003), from an increased wheezing risk in children with asthma in parents (Sandin et al. 2004) to a decreased asthma risk, at least in low-risk children, continuing until adolescence and even longer (Remes et al. 2001).

In the German birth cohort, intense exposure to cat or mite allergens in wheezing infants at age less than three years was not associated with wheezing at the age 13 years (Matricardi et al. 2008), but sensitization to cat or mite allergens was a strong predictor of wheezing (Matricardi et al. 2008). In the Finnish post-bronchiolitis study, neither exposure nor sensitization to cat or dog dander predicted the appearance of asthma in early adulthood (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007a).

### 2.3.6. Environmental tobacco smoke exposure

Exposure to ETS in utero and in infancy reduces lung function and affects lung function development (Moshammer et al. 2006, Carlsen et al. 2008, Landau et al. 2008). In particular, there is an association between maternal smoking and development of asthma in childhood (Cook et al. 1999), and the effect of maternal smoking during pregnancy on lung function at school age may be greater than the effect of exposure to ETS after birth (Moshammer et al. 2006). There are no long-term follow-up studies which have evaluated the role of ETS on the development of asthma after early childhood wheezing. In the Tucson birth cohort, maternal smoking during pregnancy was linked to low levels of lung function before any LRTI had developed and to the transient wheezing phenotype (Stein et al. 1999). In the German birth cohort, in early wheezers, parental smoking was not a risk factor for the persistence of wheezing at puberty (Matricardi et al. 2008).

In the Swedish long-term follow-up, exposure to ETS at the time of hospitalization for virus-induced wheezing in infancy was predictive of asthma at the age of 10 years, and both pre- and postnatal exposure to tobacco smoke were independent risk factors for asthma in early adulthood, and maternal smoking during pregnancy was an independent risk-factor for BHR (Wennergren et al. 1997, Goksör et al. 2007). The authors concluded that small airway function in early adulthood may be attributable to by prenatal exposure to tobacco smoke, but post-natal exposure to ETS increases the asthma risk by increasing the risk of active smoking in early adulthood (Goksör et al. 2007). In the Finnish post-bronchiolitis study, exposure to maternal smoking at less than two years of age was not associated with asthma in early adulthood, but it was a significant risk factor for lung function abnormalities at that age (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2006).

## 2.3.7. Eosinophilic inflammation

The role of eosinophilic inflammation is obscure in early childhood wheezing. It is unclear which age is critical for the development of eosinophilic inflammation and the appearance of permanent structural changes typical for asthma in the airways of wheezing children. In recent bronchial biopsy studies, evidence was found that the age from one to three years is probably the most critical period, since changes were not seen even in children with a history of severe wheezing younger than 24 months but the changes could be demonstrated in wheezing children by three years of age (Saglani et al. 2005, Saglani et al. 2007). In addition, there seems to be a subgroup of RSV-positive wheezing infants presenting with airway eosinophilia and increased IL-5 levels and IL-5/ IFN- $\gamma$  –ratios, which points to a heterogeneity of airway inflammation in RSV-induced wheezing and Th2-type-response in a subgroup of wheezing infants with airway eosinophilia (Kim et al. 2003). Furthermore, in a recent study, blood eosinophilia was postulated to be an early sign of allergic inflammation, even before eosinophilia could be detected in alveolar or bronchial tissue (Just et al. 2008).

In the birth cohort studies, blood eosinophilia has been considered as a significant risk factor when assessing asthma risk in children with repeated wheezing at less than three years of age (Castro-Rodriquez et al. 2000, Guilbert et al. 2004). In addition, lack of eosinophilia in infants with a history of recurrent wheezing has been predictive of future remission (Just et al. 2008). Blood eosinophilia during hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis at less than 18 months of age has been predictive for wheezing until the age of seven (Ehlenfield et al. 2005). Activated eosinophils release a wide spectrum of proteins, such as eosinophil cationic protein (ECP). Accordingly, elevated levels of ECP in serum and/or the presence of ECP in respiratory secretions have been associated with subsequent wheezing and even asthma in infants with RSV bronchiolitis (Pifferi et al. 2001), and as seen in the present cohort, in young children wheezing with other viruses at less than two years of age (Reijonen et al. 1997a and b). However, the role of blood eosinophils and ECP in the prediction of persistent asthma has not been established in long-term follow-up studies. Neither blood eosinophilia nor elevated serum levels of ECP evaluated at less than two years of age were associated with asthma at the age of 10 years in a Swedish study (Wennergren et al. 1997). Likewise, no association was seen between blood eosinophilia during an acute viral wheeze in infancy and later asthma in a Finnish bronchiolitis cohort followed-up until adulthood (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007c). However, the lack of eosinopenic response, i.e. a physiologic decrease in blood eosinophil count, to infection and blood eosinophilia when there was no infection in infancy were significant risk factors for the development of asthma by the teenage years and in adulthood (Hyvarinen et al. 2005 and Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007c).

### 2.3.8. Neutrophilic inflammation

Neutrophil accumulation is more predominant than eosinophil accumulation in airway inflammation associated with acute viral wheeze in infancy (Kim et al. 2003, Marguet et al. 2008). MPO is the most abundant protein in neutrophils (Klebanoff et al. 2005), and the main function of MPO is to kill bacteria and other pathogens phagocytised by neutrophils (Klebanoff et al. 2005). MPO is released from neutrophils also during RSV infection (Jaovisidha et al. 1999), and it possesses the capacity of damaging lung epithelial cells (Haegens et al. 2008) and in addition, it may have pro-inflammatory properties (Lau et al. 2005). However, the role of neutrophils and their products, such as MPO, in asthma and other respiratory disorders has been poorly studied. In adults, there is preliminary evidence to suggest that neutrophils from patients with asthma release more MPO than do cells from subjects without asthma (Carlson et al. 1991). An inverse relationship has been reported between lung function and serum MPO levels in patients with allergic asthma (Monteseirin et al. 2001). The results from the studies conducted in children suggest that serum MPO levels are higher in children with symptomatic or unstable asthma, when compared to children with episodic or nonsymptomatic asthma (Kristjansson et al. 1994, Scher et al. 1996, Carlsen et al. 1997, Kalayci et al. 2000), and bacterial infections increase serum MPO levels in both asthmatic and non-asthmatic children (Tauber et al. 1999). No association has been reported between serum MPO levels and atopy (Boner et al. 1993, Carlsen et al. 1997).

No significant differences in serum MPO levels have been found between infants with recurrent wheezing and healthy controls, and furthermore, serum MPO showed no association with BHR assessed by tidal flow volume responses to inhaled salbutamol (Lodrup-Carlsen et al. 1995). There is only one earlier study which has examined the role of serum MPO, measured in early-life wheezers, in the prediction of subsequent wheezing and later asthma. In that study, serum MPO was increased in infants less than 12 months old who had been hospitalized for RSV-induced bronchiolitis but the level decreased within a few weeks, but serum MPO at any level was not predictive for subsequent wheezing and asthma in the two-year follow-up (Sigurs et al. 1994). However, there are no long-term follow-up studies on serum MPO levels in wheezing infants and the subsequent risk of developing asthma.



Figure 1. Hypothetical wheezing phenotypes and related riskfactors. Modified from Stein et al. 1997, Taussig et al. 2003 and Gastro-Rodriguez and Garcia-Marcos 2008. Dashed lines suggest overlap between the groups.

# 2.3.9. Clinical tools for identifying the child at high risk of developing asthma after early childhood wheezing

Wheezing in infancy is a heterogenic condition. Most of the children with wheezing episodes in infancy have normalized by school age, but in some infants, early wheezing is the first sign of childhood asthma (Figure 1). At present, there is no laboratory marker, biological or genetic, available which can recognize those wheezing infants who are at high risk of developing asthma. A combination of clinical characteristics and

simple biological markers has been created to form algorithms, which may identify, at an early stage of the disease, those wheezing children at a high risk of later asthma (Figure 1). The algorithms developed to facilitate the prediction of later asthma in wheezing children aged less than three years are presented in Table 4. Castro-Rodriquez et al. introduced the first algorithm "asthma predictive index" (API) (Castro-Rodriguez et al. 2000), to be applied to predict which subjects who suffer wheezing at less than three years of age will have asthma between the ages six and 13 years. The algorithm exhibited good specificity of 85-97%, but a low sensitivity of 16-42 % only. The API was later modified (mAPI) for the use in the Prevention of Early Asthma in Kids trial to select recurrently wheezing children for secondary asthma prevention with inhaled corticosteroids (Guilbert et al. 2004). In addition to API and mAPI, the algorithms have been revised, based on the results of the Finnish and Swedish post-bronchiolitis studies, to be more suitable for evaluating infants and toddlers being treated for wheezing in hospital (hAPI, Piippo-Savolainen and Korppi 2008).

Table 4. Algorithm children hospitalize	s to identify wheezing children at high ri I for wheezing at high risk for subsequer	sk of asthma: Asthma predictive in 11 asthma (hAPI)	dex (API), modified API (mAPI) and API to define
	API (Castro-Rodriguez et al. 2000)	mAPI (Guilbert et al. 2004)	hAPI (Piippo-Savolainen and Korppi 2008)
Prediction of asthm	a 1. Frequent <sup>a</sup> wheezing and $\geq 1$	l major criteria or 1. H	ospitalization for wheezing and $\ge 1$ major criteria $^{\circ}$ or
Either 1 or 2	2. Frequent <sup>ª</sup> wheezing and ≥	2 2 minor criteria 2.	Hospitalization for wheezing and 22 minor criteria
Major criteria	1. Parental history of asthma <sup>6</sup>	1. Parental history of asthma <sup>b</sup>	1. Parental history of asthma <sup>b</sup>
	2. Atopic dermatitis <sup>b</sup>	<ol> <li>Atopic dermatitis<sup>b</sup></li> <li>Allergic sensitization to ≥ 1 aeroallergen</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Atopic dermatitis<sup>b</sup> and/or sensitization to food allergens</li> </ol>
Minor criteria	1. Allergic thinitis <sup>b</sup>	<ol> <li>Allergic sensitization to milk, egg or peanuts</li> </ol>	1. Sensitization to inhaled allergens
	2. Wheezing unrelated to colds	2. Wheezing unrelated to colds	2. Wheezing induced by other viruses than RSV
	3. Blood eosinophils≥4 %	3. Blood eosinophils 24 %	<ol> <li>Blood eosimphilia or lack of eosinopenic response during viral infection</li> </ol>
<sup>a</sup> API: ≥3 episodes,:	$nAPI: \geq 4$ episodes, $hAPI:hospitalization for$	r early wheezing	

b Diagnosed by phycisian

<sup>c</sup> Early exposure to environmetnal tobacco smoke as well as current smoking has further increased the asthma risk

# 3. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The main aims of this thesis were to evaluate the outcome 11 years after wheezing requiring hospitalization in infancy, and in this way to identify at-risk infants, to find risk factors present already during wheezing in infancy for teenage asthma and for asthma lasting throughout childhood until teenage.

The specific aims of the study were:

- 1. To evaluate the prevalence of teenage asthma and the prevalence of persistent childhood asthma after hospitalization for wheezing in infancy.
- To study which host, viral, and environmental risk factors, present during hospitalization for wheezing in infancy, would be associated with teenage asthma and/or persistent childhood asthma.
- To study whether early exposure to dog and cat allergens would be related to early teenage asthma and/or persistent childhood asthma and to sensitization to these allergens.
- 4. To study whether clinical responses to bronchodilating agents in infancy can be used to identify those wheezing children at a high risk of developing later asthma in childhood.
- 5. To elucidate whether markers of eosinophilic activation, i.e. elevated blood eosinophil count or elevated levels of eosinophil cationic protein in serum or in nasopharyngeal aspirate, predict later childhood asthma after hospitalization for wheezing in infancy.
- 6. To evaluate the role of neutrophil-derived serum myeloperoxidase, when measured durig infancy, in the prediction of subsequent asthma.
- 7. To find risk factors, already present during hospitalization for wheezing in infancy, for abnormal flow volume spirometry and bronchial hyper-reactivity in the teenage years.

## 4. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

#### 4.1. Enrolment and acute-phase study

# 4.1.2 Study subjects

Between January 1<sup>st</sup> 1992 and November 2<sup>nd</sup> 1993, 100 consecutive children, aged 1-23 months, were recruited into this study using the inclusion criteria of respiratory infection-related wheezing (the index episode of wheezing) and respiratory distress requiring inpatient treatment in the Department of Paediatrics, Kuopio University Hospital, Finland (Reijonen et al. 1995). Patients were excluded if they had a history of chronic cardiorespiratory disease, including asthma, or if they received regular medication for any pulmonary disease, or if they had taken bronchodilators in the preceding six hours, or if acute respiratory failure was threatening (Reijonen et al. 1995).

## 4.1.3. Outcome measures and acute-phase intervention study

In all infants, a baseline clinical evaluation was performed, consisting of measurements of respiratory rate, heart rate (Component Central Monitor, Hewlett Packard GMBH, Böblingen, Germany), oxygen saturation (Ohmeda Biox 3700e Pulse Oximeter, Ohmeda, Louisille, Columbia), body temperature (°C, rectally) and clinical assessment of Respiratory Distress Assessment Instrument (RDAI) score (Reijonen et al. 1995). The RDAI score, assessed by one of the four study doctors, was based on two respiratory variables, wheezing and retractions (Lowell et al. 1987).

In order to investigate whether racemic epinephrine (adrenaline) and/or albuterol (salbutamol) would improve the clinical condition of infants, patients were randomly assigned to one of four treatment groups. To prevent confounding by viral aetiology and wheezing history, the randomisation was performed in clusters of 12 cases, and the 13 children with and the 87 children without any previous history of wheezing were randomised separately (Kernan et al. 1999).

The crossover study design is presented in Table 5. The REP (racemic epinephrine followed by placebo) group first received nebulized racemic epinephrine, and the AP

(albuterol followed by placebo) group first received nebulized albuterol; both groups received nebulized physiological saline (0.9% sodium chloride) solution 30 minutes later. The PRE (placebo followed by racemic epinephrine) and the PA (placebo followed by albuterol) groups first received physiological saline, and 30 minutes later either racemic epinephrine (PRE) or albuterol (AP).

Racemic epinephrine was given at a dose of 0.9 mg/kg (Micronefrin, Bird Products Corp, Palm Springs, California), and albuterol (Salbuvent, Orion Pharma, Espoo, Finland) was given at a dose of 0.15 mg/kg. Solutions were added to 2 ml of physiological saline solution. All inhalations were administered by a trained nurse using a Spira Module 2 Nebulizer (Respiratory care Center, Hämeenlinna, Finland) with a continuous 5-L/min flow of 100% of oxygen. The design of the administration of the drugs was double-blind; neither the patients or their parents, nor the study doctors knew which drug (or placebo) was being administered.

The clinical assessment of oxygen saturation, respiratory rate, heart rate and RDAI score was repeated, by the same study doctor as at the baseline assessment, 15 and 30 minutes after each inhalation (Reijonen et al. 1995). Sixty minutes after the first inhalation, intramuscular administration of epinephrine (0.01mg/kg) was given to all patients (Reijonen et al. 1995).

in
phrine
phrine
phrine
phrine

Table 5. The crossover study design of the acute-phase intervention study

<sup>a</sup> Racemic epinephrine (RE) followed by placebo (P)

<sup>b</sup> Albuterol (A) followed by P

<sup>c</sup> Placebo (P) followed by racemic epinephrine (RE)

<sup>d</sup> Placebo (P) followed by albuterol (A)

## 4.1.4. Baseline data

The baseline and family data were collected by interviewing the parents during the hospitalization by using a structured questionnaire including questions on the history of wheezing and atopic dermatitis, as well as on the family history of asthma and atopic diseases. Only diagnoses made by a physician were accepted. In addition, information on maternal smoking during pregnancy and early exposure to ETS and pets at home or at day care in infancy was recorded (Reijonen et al. 1995 and 1996).

#### 4.1.5. Laboratory studies

# Determination of blood eosinophils, serum eosinophil cationic protein and serum total immunoglobulin E

A venous blood sample was drawn from each patient within the 24 hours after admission for the determination of blood eosinophils (B-EOS), serum eosinohil cationic protein (S-ECP) and serum total IgE. B-EOS were counted by using an automated cell counter (Coulter Counter STKS, Coulter Electronics, Hialeah, FL) and expressed as cells  $x10^9$  /L (Reijonen et al. 1997a). S-ECP was determined according to the instructions of the manufacturer (Pharmacia ECP RIA, Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden), as described earlier in detail (Reijonen et al. 1997a). The cut-off limits for the elevated values applied in the later studies were 0.450 cells x  $10^9$ /L for B-EOS (Eisen 1980, Reijonen et al. 1997a, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002, Simon et al. 2007), 16.0 µg/L or 20.0 µg/L for S-ECP (Peterson et al. 1991, Koh et al. 2007) and 60 kU/l (144 µg/l) for serum total IgE (Saarinen et al. 1982).

## Determination of nasopharyngeal eosinophil cationic protein

NPA samples, obtained within 24 hours after hospital admission, were taken by placing a catheter into the nasopharynx, followed by aspiration into a mucus trap (Reijonen et al. 1997b). Each sample was stored frozen in a tightly capped tube at -70 °C until processed within four months. After thawing and weighing, the sample was suspended in 2-5 ml of ice-cold 0.9% NaCl solution to produce a homogenous suspension and then centrifuged for 10 min (1.400g), and the precipitate was discarded

(Reijonen et al. 1997b). The ECP concentration in the supernatant was determined according to the instructions of the manufacturer (Pharmacia ECP RIA, Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden). ECP was expressed as nanograms (ng)/g of NPA (ECP-NPA) after correction for dilution with 0.9 % NaCl (Reijonen et al. 1997b). The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis was applied to find the cut-off concentration for NPA-ECP which would maximize true positive cases (sensitivity) and minimize false positive cases (1-specificity). The ROC analyses were performed in relation to both asthma at the median age of 12.3 years (teenage asthma) and persistent childhood asthma (PCA), and the best cut-off limit for NPA-ECP was 815.0 ng/g with relation to both teenage asthma (sensitivity 0.42, specificity 0.83, positive likelihood ratio (LR+) 2.5) and with relation to PCA (sensitivity 0.58, specificity 0.83, LR+ 3.4).

#### Determinations of serum myeloperoxidase

The level of serum myeloperoxidase (MPO) was determined in frozen serum samples obtained on admission (Measurement 1; S-MPO1) by radioimmunoassay (MPO RIA, Pharmacia AB, Uppsala, Sweden), and the concentrations were expressed as micrograms ( $\mu$ g)/L. The total variation of the method was 5,8 - 12,3 % in the concentration range of 32 - 730 ug/L. S-MPO measurements were repeated by the same method 6 weeks (measurement 2; S-MPO2), 4 months (measurement 3; S-MPO3) and 12 months (measurement 4; S-MPO4) later at the median ages of 0.98 years (range 0.20-2.10), 1.15 years (0.39-2.26) and 1.86 years (1.14-3.12), respectively.

# Determination of serum allergen -specific IgE antibodies

In 2000, serum specific IgE (sIgE) antibodies (Phadiatop Combi®) were determined in frozen serum samples, which had been obtained during the index episode of wheezing in 1992-1993, by fluoroenzyme-immunometric assay (FEIA), UniCAP<sup>TM</sup> (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden) (Paganelli et al. 1998). The presence of serum sIgE antibodies in response to the mixtures of inhalant and food allergens was screened first by the detection limit ( $\geq 0.35$  kU/l), and if positive, serum sIgE antibodies were measured, with the same limit. Phadiatop combi® panel for food allergens included egg white, cow's milk, fish, wheat, peanut, and soy bean, and for inhalant allergens timothy grass pollen, birch pollen and mugwort pollens, cat dander, dog dander, horse dander, house dust mite D. pteronyssinus, and spores of the mould C. herbarum.

#### Viral studies

Viral infections were studied by antigen detection in the NPAs taken at entry and by antibody measurements in paired sera. Direct detection of viral antigens by time-resolved fluoroimmunoassay (TR-FIA) was available for RSV, parainfluenzaviruses 1-3, influenza A and B viruses, and adenoviruses (Reijonen et al. 1998). Serology by CF was studied for the same respiratory viruses in paired sera taken six weeks apart: four-fold or greater increase in titres was defined as a positive result (Reijonen et al. 1997b).

In 2000, 81 frozen good-quality NPA samples taken on admission in 1992-1993, were evaluated available for RT-PCR for detection of rhinoviruses, enteroviruses and coronaviruses (strains 229E and OC-43) (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003b). In 2002, an adequate NPA sample was available for the detection of the RSV genome by RT-PCR in 61 cases (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2005).

#### 4.2. Intervention with anti-inflammatory medication and short-term follow-up

Nebulized anti-inflammatory therapy was randomly given for 16 weeks from admission: 34 patients received cromolyn sodium, 34 received budesonide, and 32 control patients received no anti-inflammatory medication (Reijonen et al. 1996). For the first eight weeks, 20 mg of cromolyn sodium was given four times a day and 500  $\mu$ g of budesonide twice a day. For the second eight weeks, the doses were reduced to 20 mg of cromolyn sodium three times a day and 250  $\mu$ g of budesonide twice a day (Reijonen et al. 1996).

After the index episode of wheezing, several study visits were organized in order to follow-up the respiratory status and allergic manifestations of the children. SPTs were studied for the first time eight months after the hospitalization at the median age of 1.5 years. A trained nurse performed the tests by using the ALK SPT extracts including cat and dog epithelial dander allergens (ALK Laboratories, Copenhagen, Denmark).

Three years after the index episode of wheezing, at the median age of 4.0 years (range 3.2-5.1 years), 89/100 children attended the pre-school follow-up visit (Reijonen et al. 2000). Children who were either on continuous anti-inflammatory medication for

asthma or had suffered from at least two doctor-diagnosed wheezing episodes after the index episode of wheezing were considered to have asthma (Reijonen et al. 2000).

#### 4.3. Follow-up visit at early school age

In 1999, at a median 6.3 years (range 5.3-7.2 years) after the index episode of wheezing 82/100 children attended the follow-up visit at a median age of 7.2 years (range 5.8-8.8 years). Symptoms suggestive of asthma and allergies were recorded and the baseline pulmonary function was examined by FVS (Medikro, Kuopio, Finland). The FVS was followed by the exercise challenge test (ECT) (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002), which consisted of 8-minute free running outdoors at the heart rate of  $\geq$  80% of maximum. The ECT was considered as positive if there was auscultatory wheezing present after the exercise and/or a 15 % or greater fall in FEV<sub>1</sub> compared to baseline value (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002). Asthma was considered to be present if 1) the child had suffered from at least two episodes of wheezing and/or prolonged cough apart from infection for at least four weeks during the preceding 12 months and the exercise challenge test was pathological or 2) the child was on continuous inhaled anti-inflammatory medication for asthma (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002).

# 4.4. Follow-up visit at early teenage

#### 4.4.1. Study subjects

In 2004, from January to March, 81/100 children, 21 girls and 60 boys, attended the clinical follow-up visit in the Department of Paediatrics, Kuopio University Hospital, Finland. The median follow-up time from the index episode of wheezing was 11.4 years (range 10.3-12.2) and the median age at the follow-up visit was 12.3 years (range 10.9-13.7).

## 4.4.2. Follow-up data and clinical examination

Before the study visit in 2004, a structured questionnaire was sent to the study subjects. Symptoms suggestive of asthma associated with exercise, infections and allergens were recorded. The study doctor (Mari Hyvärinen) checked the answers by interviewing the children and their parents during the clinical study. In addition to asthma symptoms, the symptoms suggestive of allergic rhinitis, conjunctivitis and atopic dermatitis occurring during the preceding 12 months were recorded, and if present classified as current. In addition, the ongoing asthma medication was registered.

Skin prick tests (SPT) were performed, and the allergens (ALK SPT extracts, ALK Laboratories, Copenhagen, Denmark) tested were the outdoor allergens birch, common alder and mugwort pollens, pollens of meadow fescue and timothy grass, and spores of *C. herbarum*, and the indoor allergens cat, dog, horse and cow epithelial danders and home dust mites *D. pteronyssinus* and *D. farinae* and spores of the mold *Alternaria alternata*. The concentrations of standardized allergen extracts were 10 histamine equivalent points except for cow (1/100 w/v), *C. herbarum* (1/20 w/v) and *A. alternata* (100 BU/ml) extracts. Histamine hydrochloride (10 mg/ml) was used as a positive control and 50 % glycerol as a negative control. Wheals with a mean (half of the sum of the largest diameter and its perpendicular measurement) diameter of at least 3 mm were regarded as positive. No reactions were allowed to negative controls.

#### 4.4.3. Studies on lung function and BHR

## Baseline lung function

Baseline flow-volume spirometry (FVS) was examined by a pneumotachographic spirometer (Medikro, Kuopio, Finland). Before the visit, the children were instructed not to use inhaled long-acting  $\beta$ 2-agonists for 48-72 hours or short-acting  $\beta$ 2-agonists for 12 hours before the lung function studies. In addition, no symptoms suggestive of respiratory tract infections were allowed. First, the children were carefully instructed on how to perform the test. Thereafter, the measurements were repeated three times, and accepted if the variation in FEV<sub>1</sub> was less than 5 % and the graphic curves were appropriate and equal in shape. The FVS was appropriately performed by 80/81 children. Lung function parameters were expressed as percentages of the genderspecific and height-related reference values (% of predicted) for Finnish children (Salorinne 1989). The parameters registered were FVC, FEV<sub>1</sub>, FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC, MEF<sub>50</sub> (maximal expiratory flow at 50 % of FVC) and MEF<sub>25</sub>. From the acceptable FVS curves, the best FVC and FEV<sub>1</sub> were recorded for further analyses. The other flow-volume parameters were obtained from three technically satisfactory FVS curves by the

envelope method, in which the best superimposed curves from total lung capacity were applied to form a composite maximal curve (Quanjer et al. 1993). The cut-off limits for abnormal results were < 80 % for FEV<sub>1</sub>, < 88 % for FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC, < 62 % for MEF<sub>50</sub> and < 48 % for MEF<sub>25</sub> (Viljanen 1982).

# Tests of BHR

The baseline FVS was followed by ECT that consisted of 8-minute free running outdoors at the heart rate of  $\geq 80$  % of the predicted maximum. During running, the heart rate was monitored by telemetry (Polar Sport Tester, Polar Elektro Ltd, Kempele, Finland) at 1-minute intervals. FVS was measured 5, 10 and 15 minutes after the exercise. The FEV<sub>1</sub> obtained from the baseline FVS was used in later comparisons. FEV<sub>1</sub> changes were calculated as follows: [(pre-exercise FEV<sub>1</sub> – post-exercise FEV<sub>1</sub>) / pre-exercise FEV<sub>1</sub>] x 100 %. The ECT was regarded as positive if there was a 10 % or greater fall in FEV<sub>1</sub> values at 5, 10 or 15 minutes after the running (Godfrey 2000). One of the study doctors (Mari Hyvärinen) was responsible for both the performance FVS and ECT and the interpretation of the results. The ECT was appropriately performed by 78/81 children.

The methacholine inhalation challenge (MIC) test was performed on a separate day from the other lung function studies. The children were given instructions and the baseline FVS was performed as described above. Methacholine was inhaled from a Spira Electro-2 dosimeter (Spira Respiratory Care Center Ltd, Hämeenlinna, Finland) allowing the calculation of the total amount of methacholine inhaled by each subject. First, FVS was performed before and after an inhalation of physiological saline, to obtain the baseline FEV<sub>1</sub>. Then, methacholine was inhaled, and the numbers of breaths required to achieve a cumulative dose of 20, 80, 300, 900, 2900 and 4900  $\mu$ g of methacholine were 1, 3, 11, 3, 10 and 10, respectively. The concentration of methacholine increased from 2.5 mg/ml to 25 mg/ml after the cumulative dose of 300  $\mu$ g. The baseline FEV<sub>1</sub> value was applied in the comparisons with the measurements done 1.5 minutes after each methacholine dose. The test was continued until a 20 % fall in FEV<sub>1</sub>, or until a cumulative dose of 4900  $\mu$ g of methacholine was reached. The exact cumulative dose causing 20 % fall in FEV<sub>1</sub> was determined by semilogarithmic interpolation and termed the provocative dose (PD<sub>20</sub>). The methodology of the MIC was the same as that routinely used in our clinic (Pöysä et al. 1992). The MIC test was appropriately performed by 69/81 children.

#### 4.4.4. Asthma definition

Asthma at the median age of 12.3 years (teenage asthma) was considered to be present if 1) the child was on a continuous maintenance or intermittent anti-inflammatory medication for asthma or if 2) she/he had suffered from repeated ( $\geq$ 2) episodes of wheezing or prolonged ( $\geq$ 4 weeks) cough apart from infections during the preceding 12 months as reported by parents, and the ECT was regarded as positive.

Children, who were regarded to have asthma at all the three follow-up visits, at the median ages of 4.0 (Reijonen et al. 2000), 7.2 (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002) and 12.3 (present study) years, were considered to have persistent childhood asthma (PCA).

# 4.5. Ethics

The study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of Kuopio University and Kuopio University Hospital. Informed written consent was obtained from the children and from the parents of the children.

## 4.6. Statistical analyses

The data were analyzed using SPSS 11.5-16.0 software (SPSS Inc.Chicago, IL, USA). In univariate analyses, Pearson's Chi square test and Fisher's exact test were used for dichotomous data. Fisher's exact test was used when the expected frequency for any cell was < 5. The risks are expressed as odds ratios (OR) and their 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). Continuous data were analyzed by the independent sample T-test or Mann-Whitney U-test.

The logistic regression was used to calculate the adjusted ORs (aOR) and related 95% CIs. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was applied to assess the significance of the differences in the continuous baseline FVS parameters (percentages of the gender-specific height-related reference values) between children with and without a certain risk factor present. Each risk factor was analyzed separately. In this model, covariates acted as effect modifiers with a bilateral interaction with the risk factor. The association between S-MPO1 and oxygen saturation, heart rate, respiratory rate, body temperature

and RDAI score on admission as well as the length of hospital stay (in days), was studied by linear regression adjusted for age (in months) on admission. The skewed MPO data were logarithmically ( $log_{10}$ ) transformed (LogMPO1). Each variable was entered into the age-adjusted linear model separately with LogMPO1 as a dependent variable.

Repeated measures analyses of variance (ANOVA) was applied to study whether the change in LogMPO concentration was significant at a various time points (within-subject effect), and whether there were any differences in the change between intervention groups or later asthma groups (between-subject effects). Separate analyses were performed for each group, and the analyses between asthma groups were adjusted for age on admission (<12 months/  $\geq$ 12 months), atopic dermatitis in infancy and RSV aetiology of early wheezing, which have associated with asthma in the earlier studies in this cohort (Reijonen et al. 2000, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002).

The initial response to acute treatment with regard to later asthma was analysed as a crossover study using mixed models (Brown and Prescott 2001). The pooled responses used as dependent variables were the mean values of respiratory rates, heart rates, oxygen saturations and RDAI scores after the first (mean of the 15 and 30 minute assessments of responses, period 1) and second (mean of the 45 and 60 minute assessments of the responses, period 2) administration of racemic epinephrine, albuterol or placebo. The standard elements of a cross-over trial, such as the period (1 or 2), sequence (whether the drug or placebo was given first), treatment (racemic epinephrine, albuterol, or placebo) and the random effect of the patient (describing the natural heterogeneity of individuals and accounting for the dependence of repeated measures from the same subject) were included into the model. In addition, PCA and the interaction of PCA and treatment were also included into the model in order to address the study hypothesis. Analyses were performed separately applying either15- and 45-minute (15 minutes after inhalations) or 30- and 60-minute (30 minutes after inhalations) responses as dependent variables.

#### 5. RESULTS

#### 5.1. Outcomes in the 11-year follow-up

## 5.1.1. Prevalence of teenage asthma and persistent childhood asthma (I)

Teenage asthma was considered to be present in 32 (40 %) children, and 29 of them were on inhaled anti-inflammatory asthma medication; 17 were using inhaled steroids and one cromones as continuous medication, and 11 used inhaled steroids intermittently during the pollen season and/or infections. The other three children with asthma had suffered from repeated wheezing, and as an objective asthma criterion, displayed a diagnostic fall in FEV<sub>1</sub> (range 12 -31 %) in the ECT. Even though they were taking anti-inflammatory asthma medication, 22/29 (76 %) children had suffered from repeated wheezing episodes or prolonged cough apart from infection during the preceding 12 months or had a pathological result in the ECT. The asthma criteria were not fulfilled in 6/31 (19%) children who reported some kind of wheezing and in 5/27 (19%) of those who reported repeated wheezing during the preceding 12 months.

PCA was present in 20/81 (25%) children, and 27 (33%) children had not had an asthma diagnosis between the ages of 4-12 years. As seen in Figure 1, pre-school asthma had remitted by school-age in 14/45 (31%) children but relapsed again in 7/49 (14%) children at teenage. Only 7/33 (21%) children with asthma at school age had experienced a remittance by teenage, and whereas, 22/33 (67%) continued to have asthma (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Asthma at the three clinical follow-up visits: at pre-school age, at school-age and in teen years (teenage asthma). PCA=Persistent Childhood Asthma, asthma present at all three follow-up visits.

# 5.1.2. Prevalence of atopy (I)

Allergic rhinitis and/or conjunctivitis was present in 30/81 (37%) and atopic dermatitis in 26/81 (32%) children. SPTs were performed in all 81 cases, but one child was excluded from the analyses because of a positive reaction to the negative control, and 50/80 (63%) children displayed at least one positive reaction. The figures for indoor and outdoor allergens were 40/80 (50%) and 42/80 (53%), respectively.

Allergic rhinitis, conjunctivitis and SPT positivity were more common in children with teenage asthma and in children with PCA compared to children with no teenage asthma or no PCA (Table 6). Atopic dermatitis was more common in children with PCA compared to children without PCA, but not in children with teenage asthma compared to children with no asthma at that age (Table 6).

	Teenage	e asthma		PC	CA	
Atopic manifestations	Yes (n=32)	No (n=49)	OR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	Yes n=(20)	No (n=61)	OR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)
Allergic rhinitis n(%)	19(59)	8(16)	7.49 (2.66-21.09)	14(70)	13(21)	8.62 (2.77-26.83)
Allergic conjunctivitis, n(%)	14(44)	5(10)	6.84 (2.15-21.81)	8(40)	11(18)	3.03 (1.00-9.17)
Atopic dermatitis, n(%)	14(44)	12(24)	2.40 (0.92-6.23)	11(55)	15(25)	3.75 (1.30-10.78)
SPTs <sup>b</sup> :						
At least one positive reaction, n(%)	28(90)	22(45)	11.46	18(95)	32(52)	16.31
			(3.07-42.75)			(2.05-129.98)
to indoor allergens <sup>c</sup> , n(%)	24(77)	16(33)	7.07	17(89)	23(38)	14.04
			(2.52-19.85)			(2.97-66.43)
to outdoor allergens <sup>d</sup> , n(%)	24(77)	18(37)	5.91	15(79)	27(44)	4.72
			(2.12-16.42)			(1.40-15.89)

Table 6. Atopic manifestations in children with teenage asthma and in children with PCA.

<sup>a</sup> Non-adjusted analyses.

<sup>b</sup> SPTs were available in 80 children (31 with current asthma and 19 with PCA).

<sup>c</sup> There were 31 positive reactions to cat, 29 to dog, 20 to horse and 11 to cow's epithelial dander, and 12 were positive to D.*pteronyssinus* and 6 to D. *farinae*.

<sup>d</sup> There were 24 positive reactions to birch, 25 to common alder, 34 to meadow fescue, 35 to timothy grass, to 3 to mugwort pollen and 4 were positive to *C. herbarum*.

# 5.1.3. Lung function and bronchial hyper-reactivity (III)

# Baseline flow volume spirometry

The FVS was appropriately performed by 80/81 (99 %) children (Table 7). On average, all parameters were within normal limits when compared to gender-specific and height-related references. Children with asthma at early school age and PCA had higher FVC than children with no teenage asthma or no PCA, and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC values were lower in children with teenage asthma compared to children with no asthma at that age (Table 7). In the supplementary analyses, in which only children without asthma at any time formed the non-PCA group, FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC values were significantly lower in the PCA group than in the non-PCA-group.

Twenty-six (33 %) children exhibited an abnormal value in one or more of the four FVS parameters. The figure for teenage asthma was 11/32 (34 % vs. 31 % in those with no teenage asthma, OR 1.2, 95% CI 0.45-2.98) and for PCA 6/20 (30 % vs. 33 % in those with no PCA, OR 0.86, 95% CI 0.29-2.57). Among FVS parameters, children with teenage asthma had more often a pathological finding in MEF<sub>25</sub> (8/32, 25%) compared to children with no asthma at that age (3/48, 6%, OR 5.0, 95%CI 1.21-20.61), but children with and without PCA did not differ in terms of any of the FVS parameters (data not shown). The three medication groups, i.e. continuous, intermittent and no anti-inflammatory medication groups differed significantly only in terms of the abnormal MEF<sub>25</sub> value, the group with continuous medication having higher numbers for pathological values than those not taking any medication.

Parameters in FVS	All	Teenage asthma	РСА
	n=80	n=32	n=20
FVC, mean	97.79	101.19 <sup>a</sup>	102.93 °
(95% CI)	(95.04-100.55)	(96.08-106.30)	(96.74-109.12)
FEV <sub>1</sub> , mean	92.23	93.15	95.17
(95% CI)	(89.35-95.12)	(87.55-98.76)	(88.05-102.30)
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC, mean	94.55	92.22 <sup>b</sup>	92.59
(95% CI)	(92.67-96.43)	(88.70-95.75)	(87.84-97.34)
MEF <sub>50</sub> , mean	81.43	78.12	80.29
(95% CI)	(77.20-85.67)	(70.22-86.01)	(69.84-90-73)
MEF <sub>25</sub> , mean	71.68	67.57	70.02
(95% CI)	(67.10-76.27)	(59.12-76.02)	(59.10-80.95)

Table 7. Baseline lung function by FVS (% of predicted) in all teenage children and in children with asthma at that age (teenage asthma) and PCA.

<sup>a</sup> FVC= 95.53 in non-asthmatics (p=0.044 compared to children with asthma at early teenage) <sup>b</sup> FEV1/FVC=96.09 in non-asthmatics (p=0.044 compared to children with asthma at early teenage)

<sup>c</sup> FVC=96.08 in children with no PCA (p=0.031 compared to children with PCA) P-values determined by independent sample t-test.

## Tests of bronchial hyper-reactivity

The ECT was appropriately performed by 78/81 (96%) children, and 21 (27%) children had a pathological ( $\geq 10$  % fall in FEV<sub>1</sub>) result. Children with continuous or intermittent anti-inflammatory medication had more often a pathological result in the ECT (range 11-34 %) compared to those not taking medication (13/27, 48%, vs. 8/51, 16%, OR 4.99, 95%CI 1.72-14.51).

In the MIC test, some kind of BHR ( $PD_{20} \le 4900 \ \mu g$ ) was demonstrated in 41 (59 %), intermediate to high BHR ( $PD_{20} \le 1600 \ \mu g$ ) in 32 (46%), and high BHR ( $PD_{20} \le 400 \ \mu g$ ) in 11 (16 %) children. As shown in Table 8, children with intermittent or continuous anti-inflammatory medication displayed more often a BHR to methacholine at all three levels compared to the children with no anti-inflammatory medication. Likewise, BHR to methacholine at all three levels was more common among children with teenage asthma or PCA compared to children with no asthma at that age or PCA. The only

exception was the BHR to methacholine when one compared children with PCA to those without PCA (Table 9).

Both the MIC test and the ECT were appropriately performed by 66 children, and 15 of them had a positive result in both tests ( $\geq 10$  % fall in FEV<sub>1</sub> in the ECT and PD<sub>20</sub> $\leq 1600 \mu$ g in the MIC test). Sixteen children were positive in the MIC test alone and only three in the ECT alone.

	Intermittent or inflammator		
BHR to methacholine	Yes <sup>a</sup>	No	OR <sup>b</sup>
n=69	(n=24)	(n=45)	(95% CI)
Any, n (%)			
PD <4000ug	19 (79)	22 (49)	3.97
$1 D_{20} = 4900 \mu g$			(1.26-12.49)
Intermediate to high, n (%)			
<b>PD</b> <1(00	16 (67)	16 (36)	3.63
PD <sub>20</sub> ≤1600µg			(1.27-10.31)
High, n (%)			
	7 (29)	4 (9)	4.22
PD <sub>20</sub> ≤400µg			(1.09-16.32)

Table 8. BHR to methacholine by consumption of anti-inflammatory asthma medication in teenage years.

<sup>a</sup> Intermittent anti-inflammatory medication in 10 and continuous medication in 14 children.

<sup>b</sup> Non-adjusted analyses

	Teenage	asthma		PC	CA	
BHR to methacholine n=69	Yes (n=27)	No (n=42)	OR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	Yes n=(17)	No (n=52)	OR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)
Any, n (%) PD <sub>20</sub> ≤4900μg	22 (81)	19 (45)	5.33 (1.69-16.75)	14 (82)	27 (52)	4.32 (1.11-16.84)
Intermediate to high, n (%) PD <sub>20</sub> ≤1600µg	19 (70)	13 (31)	5.30 (1.85-15.20)	12 (71)	20 (38)	3.84 (1.18-12.54)
High, n (%) PD <sub>20</sub> ≤400μg	9 (33)	2 (5)	10.00 (1.20-51.04)	5 (29)	6 (12)	3.19 (0.83-12.28)

Table 9. BHR to methacholine according to the presence of teenage asthma and PCA.

<sup>a</sup> Non-adjusted analyses

# 5.2. Early-life predictive factors for asthma in the 11-year follow-up (I, II, IV, V, VI)

# 5.2.1. Age, gender and history of earlier episodes of wheezing (I)

Children with teenage asthma had been significantly older on admission than children with no asthma at that age (median age 12.02 months vs. 8.77, p=0.033). The respective figures for children with and without PCA were 13.75 vs. 9.46 months (p=0.002). Teenage asthma was present in 16/52 (31%), and PCA in 7/52 (13%) of those hospitalized at less than 12 months of age with the respective figures being 55% (OR 2.76, 95% CI 1.08-7.09) and 45% (OR 5.22, 95% CI 1.77-15.40) for those who were hospitalized when they were older than 12 months. Gender was not significantly associated with teenage asthma or PCA; 8/21 (38%) of females had teenage and 5/21 (23 %) had PCA, the respective figures for males were 24/60 (40%) and 15/60 (25 %). A history of earlier physician-diagnosed wheezing was more common among children with teenage asthma or PCA compared to children with no teenage asthma (7/32, 22% vs. 3/49, 6%, aOR 3.73, 95% CI 0.87-16.04) or PCA (5/20, 25% vs. 5/61, 8%, aOR 3.16, 95% CI 0.76-13.10). However, in the age- and sex-adjusted logistic regression, these differences were not significant.

#### 5.2.2. Family history of asthma and atopy and environmental factors (I, IV)

A parental and maternal history of asthma were at least twice as common in children with teenage asthma and in children with PCA in comparison with the children without these conditions, but the differences were not statistically significant in the adjusted analyses (Table 10). Likewise, no significant differences were seen between parental atopy, exposure to ETS or maternal smoking during pregnancy and teenage asthma or with PCA (Table 10), and there were no associations between paternal asthma, maternal atopy, paternal atopy, paternal smoking or maternal smoking and teenage asthma or PCA (data not shown).

Early exposure to cats or dogs seemed to be associated with some reductions in the risk of teenage asthma or PCA (Table 10). In addition, only 2/12 (17%) children exposed to cat and 3/18 (17%) children exposed to dog during infancy had a positive SPT reaction to the respective allergens in their teens compared to 29/68 (43%) and 26/62 (42%) for non-exposed children. These inverse relationships between early exposure and later sensitization to cat or dog were not statistically significant after adjustment for the presence of atopic dermatitis in children or atopy in parents between children with or without teenage asthma (aOR 0.30, 95% CI 0.06-1.57) or between children with or without PCA (aOR 0.35, 95% CI 0.09-1.38). In addition, only 3/22 (14%) of the families with atopic dermatitis in children vs. 19/59 (32%, p=0.095) with no atopic dermatitis in children, and 7/38 (18%) with asthma or allergy in parents vs. 15/43 (35%, p=0.096) with no asthma or allergy, had a dog or cat at home at the time of admission.
	Teenage	asthma		PC	CA	
Family and environmetral	Yes	No	aOR <sup>d</sup>	Yes	No	aOR <sup>c</sup>
factors	(n=32)	(n=49)	(95% CI)	n=(20)	(n=61)	(95% CI)
Parental history of asthma <sup>a</sup> ,	8 (25)	5 (10)	3.355	5 (25)	8 (13)	2.74
n(%)			(0.92-12.24)			(0.67-11.24)
Maternal history of asthma <sup>a</sup> ,	5 (16)	2 (4)	5.08	3 (15)	4 (7)	3.22
n(%)			(0.87-29.65)			(0.56-18.49)
Parental history of atopy <sup>b</sup> ,	15 (47)	21 (43)	1.17	9 (45)	27 (44)	1.02
n(%)			(0.47-2.95)			(0.35-3.03)
Exposure to ETS during	15 (47)	22 (45)	1.35	11 (55)	26 (43)	3.19
infancy, n(%)			(0.52-3.51)			(0.93-10.92)
Maternal smoking during	9 (28)	8 (16)	2.02	5 (25)	12 (20)	1.62
pregnancy, n(%)			(0.68-6.05)			(0.45-5.75)
Exposure to cat during	2 (6)	10 (20)	0.30 <sup>d</sup>	1 (5)	11 (18)	0.34 <sup>d</sup>
infancy, n(%)			(0.05-1.61)			(0.04-3.20)
Exposure to dog during	6 (19)	12 (24)	1.21 <sup>d</sup>	1 (5)	17 (28)	0.235 <sup>d</sup>
infancy, n(%)			(0.35-4.16)			(0.03-2.09)

Table 10. Early family and environmental factors in relationship to teenage asthma and PCA.

<sup>a</sup> Diagnosed by a physician

<sup>b</sup> Atopic dermatitis or allergic rhinitis diagnosed by a physician

<sup>c</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for sex and age (in months) on admission. After adjustment for RSV-aetiology of the index episode of wheezing, the results remained the same.

<sup>d</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for age (in months), atopic dermatitis in infants, parental history of asthma and RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing on admission.

A third of the index episodes were related to RSV and another third to rhinovirus infection and in most of the RSV- and rhinovirus-positive cases, no other viruses were identified (Table 11).

Viral findings <sup>a</sup>	All
vir ar findings	n=81
RSV, n (%)	25 (31)
as a single viral finding	17
in mixed viral infections <sup>b</sup>	8
Picornaviruses :	
Rhinovirus, n (%)	24 (30)
as a single viral finding	19
in mixed viral infections <sup>c</sup>	5
Enterovirus, n (%)	10 (12)
as a single viral finding	5
in mixed viral infections	5
Other viruses alone or in combinations, n (%)	8 (10)
No viral findings, n (%)	22 (27)

Table 11. Viral aetiology of the index episode of wheezing in 81 children attending to the follow-up visit in teenage years.

<sup>a</sup> Antigen detection (RT-FIA) and serology (CF) for RSV, adenovirus, influenza viruses A and B and parainfluenza viruses 1-3 performed in all 81 children. RT-PCR for RSV performed in 48/81 and RT-PCR for picornaviruses in 66/81 children.

<sup>b</sup> 1 RSV-rhinovirus, 4 RSV-enterovirus, 2 RSV-parainfluenza virus-3 and 1 RSV-adenovirus-parainfluenza virus-3 co-infections

<sup>c</sup> 1 rhinovirus-RSV, 1 rhinovirus-enterovirus, 2 rhinovirus-adenovirus and 1 rhinovirus-parainfluenza virus-3-adenovirus co-infections were detected

Teenage asthma was present in 5/25 (20%) of the children if the index episode of wheezing in infancy was related to RSV, and in 11/19 (58%) if the index episode was related to rhinovirus. The respective figures for PCA were 2/25 (8%) and 9/19 (47%). Although aORs were 0.29-0.45 for RSV-related and 1.27-2.51 for rhinovirus-related early wheezing, the associations between viral findings during the index episode of wheezing and teenage asthma or PCA were not statistically significant (Table 12 and

Table 13). Fourteen of the former 25 (56%) RSV-positive children had at least one positive reaction in SPTs in their teenage years, compared to 37/56 (66%, OR 0.65, 95% CI 0.25-1.71) of the RSV-negative children. The respective figures were 14/19 (74%) and 23/42 (55%) for rhinovirus positive and negative cases, respectively (OR 2.31, 95%CI 0.71-7.59).

The index episode of wheezing was related to RSV in 14/27 (52%) children who never experienced asthma in childhood, and the respective figure for rhinovirus aetiology alone was 3/27 (11%). In the supplementary analyses, with adjustment for age, sex and early atopic dermatitis, where the no PCA group consisted of the "no asthma ever" group, early wheezing related to neither RSV ( aOR 0.23, 95% CI 0.04-1.42) nor to rhinovirus (aOR 2.53, 95% CI 0.37-17.32) was significantly associated with PCA.

	Teenage	e asthma		PO	CA	
	Yes	No	aOR <sup>b</sup>	Yes	No	aOR <sup>b</sup>
RSV	(n=32)	(n=49)	(95% CI)	n=(20)	(n=61)	(95% CI)
RSV alone or in	5(16)	20(41)	0.40	2(10)	23(38)	0.40
combinations with other viruses, n (%)			(0.11-1.40)			(0.07-2.20)
RSV alone, n (%) <sup>a</sup>	4(13)	13(31)	0.45	1(5)	16(30)	0.29
			(0.11-1.88)			(0.03-2.85)

Table 12. RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing in infancy in relation to teenage asthma and PCA.

<sup>a</sup> The 8 RSV co-infections were excluded from the analyses. The numbers for teenage asthma/no teenage asthma were 31/42, and for PCA/no PCA=19/54.

<sup>b</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for sex , age (in months) and atopic dermatitis on admission. After further adjustment for passive smoking in infancy, the results remained the same.

	Teenage	e asthma		PC	CA	
	Yes	No	aOR <sup>c</sup>	Yes	No	aOR <sup>c</sup>
Rhinoviruses	(n=27)	(n=39)	(95% CI)	n=(16)	(n=50)	(95% CI)
Rhinovirus alone 1, n (%) <sup>a</sup>	11(41)	8(21)	1.41 (0.40-4.93)	9(56)	10(20)	2.51 (0.62-10.21)
Rhinovirus alone 2, n (%) $^{b}$	11(44)	8(22)	1.39 (0.38-5.10)	9(56)	10(22)	1.93 (0.45-8.21)
Rhinovirus alone or in combinations with other	13(48)	11(28)	1.27	9(56)	15(30)	1.30
viruses, n (%)			(0.39-4.15)			(0.33-5.20)

Table 13. Rhinovirus aetiology of the index episode of wheezing in infancy in relation to teenage asthma and PCA.

<sup>a</sup> Rhinovirus alone compared to other viruses, rhinoviruses in combinations or no viral identification.

<sup>b</sup> Rhinovirus alone compared to other or no viral identification. Rhinovirus in combinations with other viruses excluded from the analyses. The numbers for teenage asthma /no teenage asthma were 25/36, and for PCA/no PCA 16/45.

<sup>c</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for sex , age (in months) and atopic dermatitis on admission. After further adjustment for passive smoking in infancy, the results remained the same.

#### 5.2.4. Atopy in children (I, IV, unpublished data

#### Atopic dermatitis and serum total IgE (I)

As presented in Table 14, atopic dermatitis at the time of the index episode of wheezing in infancy was predictive for both teenage asthma and PCA, but serum total IgE≥60 kU/L associated significantly only with PCA.

#### The presence of serum specific IgE to food allergens (I, unpublished data)

The presence of serum sIgE of  $\geq 0.35$  kU/L to the mixture of food allergens at the time of the index episode of wheezing was quite common, but it was not significantly associated with the development of teenage asthma or with PCA (Table 15). With respect to the individual allergens, cow's milk was predictive for teenage asthma and wheat was a strong predictor of both teenage asthma and PCA (Table 15).

#### The presence of serum specific IgE to inhalant allergens (I, unpublished data)

The presence of serum sIgE of  $\geq 0.35$  kU/L to the mixture of inhalant allergens was significantly associated with teenage asthma and PCA (Table 16). Sensitization to individual inhalant allergens was rare at the time of the index episode of wheezing in infancy, and only the presence of sIgE to dog and cat allergens, which were detectable in more than five subjects were included in the analyses. No significant associations were found between teenage asthma or PCA and the presence of serum sIgE to either cat or dog allergens in infancy (Table 16).

	Teenage	e asthma		PC	CA	
	Yes	No	aOR <sup>b</sup>	Yes	No	aOR <sup>b</sup>
Atopy	(n=32)	(n=49)	(95% CI)	n=(20)	(n=61)	(95% CI)
Atopic dermatitis, n(%)	14(44)	8(16)	3.48	11(55)	11(18)	4.53
			(1.20-10.09)			(1.42-14.44)
Serum total IgE $\geq 60 \text{ kU/L}^{a}$ ,	11(37)	5(11)	3.51	10(53)	6(10)	5.82
т(70)			(0.95-12.95)			(1.51-22.42)

Table 14. Atopic dermatitis and serum total IgE $\geq$ 60 kU/L at the index episode of wheezing in infancy in relation to teenage asthma and PCA.

 $^{a}$  Data were available for 77/81 children. The numbers for teenage asthma/teenage asthma were 30/47 and for PCA /no PCA 19/58.

<sup>b</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for sex and age (in months) on admission

	Teenage	e asthma		PC	CA	
Specific IgE of ≥0.35 kU/l	Yes	No	aOR <sup>a</sup>	Yes	No	aOR <sup>a</sup>
n=73	(n=29)	(n=44)	(95% CI)	(n=20)	(n=53)	(95% CI)
Food allergens, n(%)	18(62)	16(36)	2.28 (0.78-6.66)	14(70)	20(38)	2.66 (0.80-8.91)
Egg white, n(%)	15(52)	13(30)	2.01 (0.68-5.96)	12(60)	16(30)	2.38 (0.72-7.80)
Cow's milk, n(%)	13(45)	7(16)	3.43 <sup>b</sup> (1.08-10.86)	9(45)	11(21)	2.09 (0.64-6.79)
Wheat, n(%)	10(34)	1(2)	20.24 <sup>c</sup> (2.37-172.86)	8(40)	3(6)	9.66 <sup>d</sup> (2.11-44.14)
Peanut, n(%)	9(31)	5(11)	2.76 (0.74-10.29)	8(40)	6(11)	3.77 (0.98-14.53)

Table 15. The presence of allergen-specific IgE antibodies to food allergens measured from the 73/81 children at the index episode of wheezing in relation to teenage asthma at and PCA.

 $^{a}$  Logistic regression adjusted for sex and age (in months) on admission. Allergens with > 5 positive detections are presented.

After further adjustment with atopic dermatitis on infancy; <sup>b</sup> aOR 3.89, 95% CI 1.12-13.50, <sup>c</sup> aOR 13.11, 95% CI 1.44-119.27, <sup>d</sup> aOR 6.09, 95% CI 1.21-30.57

Table 16. The presence of allergen specific IgE antibodies to inhalant allergens measured from 73/81 children at the index episode of wheezing in infancy in relation to teenage asthma and PCA.

	Teenage	e asthma		PC	CA	
Specific IgE of ≥0.35 kU/l n= 73	Yes (n=29)	No (n=44)	aOR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)	Yes n=(20)	No (n=53)	aOR <sup>a</sup> (95% CI)
Inhalant allergens, n(%)	11(38)	2(5)	11.30 <sup>b</sup>	10(50)	3(6)	13.07 °
Cat, n(%)	4(14)	2(5)	(1.89-67.60) 1.93 (0.292-12.78)	4(20)	2(4)	(2.39-71.42) 3.19 (0.47-21.43)
Dog, n(%)	5(17)	2(5)	2.59 (0.41-16.48)	4(20)	3(15)	1.87 (0.32-10.88)

<sup>a</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for sex and age (in months) on admission. Allergens with > 5 positive detections are presented. In addition, specific IgE was detectable to birch pollen in 4, timothy grass pollen in 1, mugworth pollen in 1, horse dander in in 4 and dust mites in 1 children.

After further adjustment with a topic dermatitis in infancy;  $^{\rm b}$  a OR 7.26, 95% CI 1.11-47.61 ,  $\,^{\rm c}$  a OR 8.64, 95% CI 1.44-51.97 Early sensitization to cat and dog assessed by serum allergen-specific IgE or positive skin prick test reactions (IV)

In order to evaluate whether early sensitization to dog or cat is predictive for asthma at early teenage or PCA, the data on the presence of serum sIgE to cat or dog at the time of the index episode of wheezing and the respective SPT reactions eight months later, at the median age of 1.5 years (range 0.8-2.7), were combined. Early sensitization to cat and dog was more common among children with asthma at early teenage and among children with PCA (28-40%) than in children with no asthma at early teenage or PCA (6-8%) (Table17).

Only 1/12 (8%) children exposed to cat and 1/18 (6%) children exposed to dog in infancy were sensitized to respective allergens by the median age of 1.5 years compared to the respective figures of 11/68 (16%, aOR 0.48, 95% CI 0.06-4.14) and 11/62 (18%, aOR 0.34, 95% CI 0.04-2.95) for non-exposed children.

	Teenage	e asthma		PC	CA	
Sensitization <sup>a</sup> to cat or	Yes	No	aOR <sup>b</sup>	Yes	No	aOR <sup>b</sup>
dog n=80	(n=32)	(n=48)	(95% CI)	n=(20)	(n=00)	(95% CI)
Sensitization to cat, n(%)						
sIgE≥0.35 kU/L / SPT+	9 (28)	3 (6)	4.76 <sup>°</sup>	7 (35)	5 (8)	3.80 <sup>d</sup> (0.94-15.30)
			(1.10-20.58)			(01) 1 1010 0)
Sensitization to dog, n(%)						
sIgE≥0.35 kU/L / SPT+	9 (28)	3 (6)	4.51 <sup>e</sup>	8 (40)	4 (7)	5.01 <sup>f</sup>
			(0.93-21.93)			(1.07-23.52)

Table 17. Early sensitization to cat and dog in relation to teenage asthma and PCA.

<sup>a</sup> Specific IgE to cat or dog at the time of the index epsode of wheezing was available in 73/81 and SPTs eight months later in 77/81 children: either sIgE or SPTs were available in 80/81 children.

<sup>b</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for sex and age (in months) on admission. Further adjustment with parenthal asthma, atopic dermatitis in infancy and RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing: <sup>c</sup> aOR 5.52, 95%CI 1.15-26.61, <sup>d</sup> aOR 4.21, 95% CI 0.93-19.07, <sup>e</sup>aOR=3.00, 95% CI=0.53-17.09, <sup>f</sup> aOR=2.87, 95% CI 0.51-16.08.

5.2.5. Responses to nebulized bronchodilating agents during the index episode of wheezing in infancy (II)

Before the crossover trial conducted on admission, there were no significant differences in the baseline clinical parameters of the bronchiolitis severity between the two acute treatment groups, i.e. infants who received racemic epinephrine (REP and PRE groups) and infants who received albuterol (AP and PA) (Table 18). The asthma cases at the median ages of 4.0, 7.2 and in the teenage years were evenly distributed between these acute treatment groups. Children with teenage asthma had lower respiratory rates before the start of the trial compared to children without asthma at that age ( $48.7\pm9.8$  vs.  $55.6\pm10.8$ , p=0.005), but children with PCA did not differ from children without PCA in terms of respiratory rate, oxygen saturation, heart rate or RDAI score (Table 19).

In the mixed model analyses, RDAI scores had been lower after racemic epinephrine and albuterol administrations in children with teenage asthma (5.27 and 5.39, respectively) compared to children with no asthma at that age (5.57 and 6.19, respectively), whereas the figures were the opposite (6.76 in children with teenage asthma vs. 5.59 in non-asthmatics) after placebo administration (p=0.04). The other clinical responses to treatment did not differ between children with and without teenage asthma (data not shown). Figure 2a shows that, oxygen saturations were higher in children with PCA than in children without this disorder after albuterol administration, but lower, after racemic epinephrine and placebo administrations (Figure 2a). No differences were observed in respiratory rates, RDAI scores, and heart rates between those developing later PCA and non-PCA cases (Figure 2b-d).

A supplementary analysis was performed by comparing findings between the 20 children with PCA and the 27 children with no signs of asthma in childhood. No differences in pooled responses, including oxygen saturation, to given inhalations between children with PCA and no asthma ever were seen. However, the analysis of the oxygen saturations assessed 15 minutes after inhalations revealed a statistically significant result (p=0.03, data not shown).

incrapeutic groups		
Variables before treatment	REP/PRE <sup>b</sup> group n=48	AP/PA <sup>c</sup> group n=52
Oxygen saturation (%)	93.25±2.21	93.49±1.92
Pagniratory rate (broaths/min)	51 75+0 60	52 22+11 08
Respiratory rate (breaths/him)	150 70±20 75	JJ.22±11.98
Heart rate (beats/min)	130.70±20.75	150.06±14.04
RDAI score (points)	8.63±2.83	8.96±3.22

Table 18. Baseline clinical evaluation (mean $\pm$ SD) between the two therapeutic groups <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> There were no statistically significant differences between the groups for any variable (independent sample t-test)

<sup>b</sup> REP= racemic epinephrine (adrenaline) followed by placebo, PRE= placebo followed by racemic epinephrine

 $^{\rm c}{\rm AP}{\rm =}$  albuterol (salbutamol) followed by placebo, PA=placebo followed by albuterol

Table 19.	Baseline	values	(mean±SD)	in children	with and	without
PCA <sup>a</sup>						

Variables before treatment	PCA	No PCA
variables before treatment	n=20	n=61
Oxygen saturation (%)	93.65±2.11	93.43±2.08
Respiratory rate (breaths/min)	50.15±8.59	53.71±11.50
Heart rate (beats/min)	156.00±15.56	149.90±17.62
RDAI score (points)	9.30±4.00	8.84±2.72

<sup>a</sup> There were no statistically significant differences between the groups in any of the variables (independent sample t-test)



Figure 3. The pooled responses (combining the 15- and 30-minute results), oxygen saturation (a), respiratory rate (b), heart rate (c) and RDAI score (d) (means and 95% CIs) after inhalations of racemic epinephrine (RE, n=39), albuterol (n=42) or placebo (n=81) in children with and without PCA. The p-values (the mixed models analyses) indicate the interaction between the given inhalations and PCA.

#### 5.2.6. Eosinophilic inflammation during the index episode of wheezing (IV)

Among the 81 children attending the clinical follow-up in their teenage years, there were 79 children (teenage asthma in 31, PCA in 20) for whom there was data on B-EOS, 81 children (teenage asthma in 32, PCA in 20) with data on S-ECP and 78 children (teenage asthma 31, PCA in 19) with data on NPA-ECP measured on admission available. Table 20 reveals that all the three markers were higher in children aged  $\geq$ 12 months on admission, in children with atopic dermatitis or serum sIgE to food

or inhalant allergens in infancy, in children wheezing with viruses other than RSV and in children wheezing specifically with rhinoviruses. No statistically significant associations were found between the markers and gender, parental asthma, passive smoking during infancy or maternal smoking during pregnancy (data not shown).

Children with teenage asthma differed significantly from children with no signs of asthma for B-EOS obtained on admission (median 0.410 x  $10^9$  cells/L, range 0.050-2.451 vs. 0.168, 0.060-1.201, p=0.027). The values of S-ECP and NPA-ECP in children with teenage asthma did not differ significantly from the corresponding S-ECP (median 3.7 µg/L, range 1.9-116.6 vs. 3.2, 1.9-33.0, p=0.196) and NPA-ECP (398 ng/g, 33-3950 vs. 472, 2-2782, p=0.388) values in non-asthmatic children. The values of both B-EOS and NPA-ECP were significantly higher in children PCA when compared to children without PCA (median 0.531 x  $10^9$  cells/L, range 0.005-2.451 vs. 0.197, 0.006-1.201, p=0.006 and 926 ng/g, 97-3950 vs. 347, 2-3510, p=0.013). In the case of S-ECP, the difference between children with and without PCA did not reach statistical significance (5.6 µg/l, 1.9-116.6 vs. 3.20, 1.9-33.0, p=0.054).

As seen in Table 21, elevated levels NPA-ECP in infancy were a significant predictor of teenage asthma. However, neither elevated B-EOS nor elevated S-ECP was predictive for teenage asthma. However, elevated B-EOS, S-ECP and NPA-ECP were significant risk factors for PCA. On average, an elevated B-EOS increased the PCA risk by 2.9-fold, elevated S-ECP by 6.1-fold and elevated NPA-ECP by 6.7-fold. All three markers were elevated in 8 children, and 6 of them had PCA.

As presented in Table 22, none of the three eosinophil activity markers was a significant predictor of teenage asthma in the multivariate analyses. An elevated NPA-ECP level associated significantly with PCA. Instead, the associations between elevated B-EOS and PCA, and between S-ECP and PCA, which were significant in the univariate analyses, were not robust to adjustments for atopic dermatitis in infancy, RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing and age on admission.

admission in 81 children attend	ling the clinical follow-up	at in thei	r teenage years.			
Baseline characteristics	B-EOSx10 <sup>9</sup> cells/L	ng	S-ECP µg/L	ng	NPA-ECP ng/g	~
In Infancy	Median (range)	2	Median (range)	a	Median (range)	
Age						
< 12 months	0.140 (0.005-2.451)	< 0.001	2.6 (1.9-49.4)	0.001	286.5 (2.0-2714.0)	0.005
> 12 months	0.504 (0.056-1.516)	100.0 /	8.4 (1.9-116.6)	100.0 /	590.5 (101.0-3950.0)	000.0
Atopic dermatitis						
Yes	0.554 (0.056-2.451)	100 0	5.9 (1.9-116.6)	100.0	536.5 (51.0-3950.0)	0.065
No	0.212 (0.005-1.201)	100.0	2.9 (1.9-33.0)	+00°0	357.0 (2.0-2782.0)	ccn.n
Serum specific IgE <sup>b</sup> to food						
Yes	0.426 (0.006-2.451)	100 0	4.6 (1.9-116.6)	0000	593.0 (2.0-3950.0)	100.0
No	0.150 (0.005-1.201)	100.0	3.2 (1.9-23.3)	600.0	299.0 (15.0-1290.0)	100.0
Serum specific IgE <sup>b</sup> to						
inahalant allergens						
Yes	0.792 (0.080-1.516)	100.00	19.5 (1.9-116.6)	100.00	1005.5 (144.0-3950.0)	0.022
No	0.197 (0.005-2.451)	100.02	3.2 (1.9-49.49	100.02	384.5 (2.0-2782)	ccn.n
RSV identification <sup>c</sup>						
Yes	0.097 (0.006-0.613)	0.001	2.0 (1.9-11.5)	< 0.001 2	214.0 (15.0-879.0)	100.007
No	0.400 (0.005-2.451)	100.0	4.5 (1.9-116.6)	100.0 <	531.0 (2.0-3950.0)	100.07
Rhinovirus alone <sup>d</sup>						
Yes	0.500 (0.028-1.432)	0.017	6.2 (1.9-116.6)	0.001	508.0 (142.0-3950.0)	0.010
No	0.174 (0.006-2.451)	110-0	2.8 (1.9-55.6)	100.0	265.5 (15.0-2714.0)	710.0
<sup>a</sup> Mann-Whitney U-test, <sup>b</sup> ≥0.35 kl	U/L, <sup>c</sup> Mixed infections with	n other viru	ises included, <sup>d</sup> Rhino	ovirus as o	nly identified virus	

Table 20. Association between baseline characteristics present in infancy and B-EOS, S-ECP and NPA-ECP obtained on

84

	Teenage asthma			PC		
Elevated eosinophil	Yes	No	OR <sup>a</sup>	Yes	No	OR <sup>a</sup>
marker on admission	(n=32)	(n=49)	(95% CI)	n=(20)	(n=61)	(95% CI)
B-EOS <sup>b</sup> , n (%)	12(39)	13(27)	1.70 (0.65-4.46)	10(50)	15(25)	2.93 1.02-8.42
S-ECP <sup>c</sup> , n (%)	6(19)	4(8)	2.60 0.67-10.06	6(30)	4(7)	6.11 1.52-24.61
NPA-ECP <sup>d,</sup> n (%)	13(42)	8(17)	3.52 1.24-9.99	11(58)	10(17)	6.74 2.16-21.00
At least one elevated marker, n (%)	19(61)	19(40)	2.33 0.92-5.90	15(75)	23(40)	4.57 1.46-14.28

Table 21. Elevated B-EOS, S-ECP and NPA-ECP obtained on admission as predictive factors for teenage asthma and PCA

<sup>a</sup> Non-adjusted analyses

<sup>b</sup> B-EOS was available in 79/81 (teenage asthma in 31, PCA in 20), <sup>c</sup> S-ECP in 81/81 (teenage asthma in 32, PCA in 19) and <sup>d</sup> NPA-ECP in 78/81 (teenage asthma in 31, PCA in 19)

	Teenage asthma PCA					
Flevated eosinonhil	Yes	No	aOR <sup>a</sup>	Yes	No	aOR <sup>a</sup>
marker on admission	(n=32)	(n=49)	(95% CI)	n=(20)	(n=61)	(95% CI)
B-EOS <sup>c</sup> , n (%)	12(39)	13(27)	0.66 (0.20-2.21)	10(50)	15(25)	1.01 (0.27-3.76)
S-ECP <sup>d</sup> , n (%)	6(19)	4(8)	0.92 (0.19-4.51)	6(30)	4(7)	1.77 (0.34-9.12)
NPA-ECP <sup>e,</sup> n (%)	13(42)	8(17)	2.17 (0.68-6.98)	11(58)	10(17)	4.45 <sup>f</sup> (1.18-16.75)
At least one elevated marker, n (%)	19(61)	19(40)	1.10 (0.36-3.33)	15(75)	23(40)	2.33 (0.61-8.84)

Table 22. Logistic regression: Elevated B-EOS, S-ECP and NPA-ECP obtained on admission as predictive factors for teenage asthma and PCA

<sup>a</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for age on admission, sex, atopic dermatitis in infancy and RSV etiology of early wheezing. The markers were analyzed separately.

<sup>c</sup> B-EOS was available in 79/81 (teenage asthma in 31, PCA in 20), <sup>d</sup> S-ECP in 81/81 (teenage asthma in 32, PCA in 19) and <sup>e</sup> NPA-ECP in 78/81 (tenage asthma in 31, PCA in 19)

After further adjustment for sensitization to either food or inhalant allergens at the time of admission: aOR 4.97, 95%CI 1.18-20.95  $^{\rm f}$ 

#### 5.2.7. Neutrophil activation measured by serum myeloperoxidase (VI)

Of the original 100 children enrolled into the present study, there were S-MPO results on admission available for 98 children, and 6 weeks, 4 months and 12 months later, for 94, 89 and 90 children, respectively. The level of S-MPO1 was higher in children aged  $\geq$  12 months, in children with serum sIgE to food or inhalant allergens and in children with wheezing induced by rhinoviruses, compared to children without these characteristics (data not shown). However, children with exposure to ETS before hospitalization for wheezing had lower S-MPO1 values compared to children with no such exposure (median 241.5 µg/L range 107.2-829.6 vs. 315.5, 136.6-1051.4, p=0.007). When each variable was included separately into the age-adjusted analyses, all other significant associations disappeared (data not shown), except for the association between exposure to ETS in infancy and LogMPO1 (p=0.007). No statistically significant associations were seen between MPO at any of the four measurements and maternal smoking during pregnancy, exposure to maternal smoking in infancy, gender, parental asthma or atopy, atopic dermatitis in infancy or RSV identification (data not shown).

The S-MPO concentration was highest on admission and significantly decreased thereafter. According to the repeated measures ANOVA, the decrease in LogMPO was significant between the measurements 1 and 2 as well as between measurements 3 and 4 (Figure 4).

The levels of S-MPO1, S-MPO2, S-MPO3 and S-MPO4 did not differ between children with and without teenage asthma or PCA (data not shown). The effect of the early four-month intervention on the change in LogMPO was analyzed by the repeated measures ANOVA, and there were no significant differences between the budesonide, cromolyn sodium and control groups (data not shown). Finally, the changes in LogMPO measured in infancy were analyzed in relation to the appearance of later asthma adjusted for age on admission (<12 months/  $\geq$ 12 months), atopic dermatitis in infancy and RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing in nfancy. In repeated measures ANOVA, the changes in LogMPO showed an identical pattern between children with and without teenage asthma (data not shown), and as presented in Figure 5, the changes in LogMPO were nearly identical in children whether or not they had PCA.









### **5.2.8.** Early-life predictive factors for abnormal lung function and bronchial hyper-reactivity (III)

Parental history of asthma, maternal smoking during pregnancy, early exposure to ETS, elevated serum total IgE, the presence of serum sIgE to inhalant or food allergens, elevated NPA-ECP or elevated S-ECP on admission or the presence of atopic dermatitis on admission, were not significantly associated with any parameter in FVS (data not shown). There was a trend that elevated B-EOS, assessed on admission, was associated with lower FEV<sub>1</sub> (89.54 (mean, % of predicted)  $\pm$  12.11 (SD) vs. 93.64  $\pm$  13.48, p=0.081), MEF<sub>50</sub> (76.16  $\pm$  18.32 vs. 83.81  $\pm$  19.33, p=0.059) and MEF<sub>25</sub> (64.98  $\pm$  19.08 vs. 74.72  $\pm$  21.11, p=0.065). RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing in infancy was associated with a higher FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC and a lower FVC when compared with non-RSV aetiology (Table 23). There were no statistically significant differences in any baseline FVS parameters between rhinovirus positive and negative cases (data not shown).

Parameters in FVS	RSV+ <sup>a</sup>	RSV-		
% predicted, mean ±SD	n=24	n=56	р <sup>ь</sup>	
FVC	93.65±11.05	99.57±12.59	0.009	
$FEV_1$	91.87±10.65	92.39±13.93	0.267	
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC	98.35±6.53	92.91±8.70	0.033	
MEF <sub>50</sub>	85.81±17.62	79.56±19.43	0.802	
MEF <sub>25</sub>	77.78±20.35	69.07±20.34	0.303	

Table 23. Findings in the baseline FVS in teenage years in relation to RSV- and non-RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing in infancy.

<sup>a</sup> Mixed infections included

<sup>b</sup> ANOVA adjusted for age on admission (<12/≥12 months), atopic dermatitis in infancy and their interactions with RSV aetiology of the index episode of wheezing in infancy.

None of the early-life risk-factors was a significant predictor of abnormal lung function, as defined as one or more abnormal value in the FVS parameters (data not shown).

The early-life factors were tested also as predictors of BHR to exercise and to methacholine. As shown in Table 24, the presence of serum sIgE to inhaled allergens on admission and maternal smoking during pregnancy were associated with BHR to exercise, and furthermore atopic dermatitis in infancy was associated with intermediate to high BHR to methacholine. No other early-life risk factor, present during the index hospitalisation, was predictive of BHR in teenage years (data not shown).

Table 24.Early-life fisk factors for BHK in teenage yes	ars.		
Early-life risk-factors, present/tested	BHR <sup>a</sup>	aOR <sup>b</sup>	95% CI
	<i>Positive ECT (Fall in FEV</i> $_1 \ge 10\%$ )		
Serum sIgE ( $\geq 0.35$ kU/L) to inhalant allergens, 13/73	10	12.57	2.30-68.77
Maternal smoking during pregnancy, 17/18		4.58	1.28-16.39
	Positive MIC test ( $PD_{20} < 1600 \mu g$ )		
Atopic dermatitis in infancy, 19/69	13	3.48	1.09-11.10

Table 24.Early-life risk factors for BHR in teenage years.

<sup>a</sup> ECT=Exercise challenge test, MIC= Methacholine inhalation challenge

<sup>b</sup> Logistic regression adjusted for sex and age ( $<12/\ge12$  months) on admission.

#### 6. DISCUSSION

#### 6.1. Methodological aspects

#### 6.1.2. The study design

One hundred children requiring hospitalization for wheezing during an acute respiratory tract infection at age less than two years were recruited to the present prospective follow-up study. The study was originally planned to address the problems faced daily by paediatricians working in hospital: How to treat young wheezing children, and how to prevent recurrent bronchial obstructions? Because of this clinical approach, a positive viral identification was not an inclusion criteria and previous wheezing was not an exclusion criteria. However, with the availability of advanced methods, the viral identification rate was 73 % for the 81/100 children of the present study. In most of the cases, the index episode of wheezing in infancy was the first: 88% of the children of the present study had not wheezed before. The recruitment period lasted for almost two years, and children were recruited during and between two RSV outbreaks.

Despite the long (median 11.4 years) follow-up of the children, the attendance rate was as high as 81/100 (81%). The basic characteristics and laboratory findings of the 19 drop-outs at the time of the index episode of wheezing in infancy did not differ from those of participating children, except for maternal smoking, which was more common in the drop-outs (56% vs. 28%, p=0.027). The present study did not include healthy non-wheezing controls.

Asthma in teenage years was strictly doctor-diagnosed; the child needed to be on continuous or intermittent anti-inflammatory asthma medication, or needed to have repeated wheezing symptoms, and to have an objective evidence of asthma. Persistent childhood asthma, PCA, was regarded as being present if the child had doctor-diagnosed asthma, at both of the two previous follow-up visits at the median ages of 4.0 and 7.2 years and also in the present study in their teenage years. All other children, including 12 children with teenage asthma, were included in the non-PCA group.

Since the study group was highly selected, i.e. children hospitalized for wheezing in infancy, our results reflect only the outcome in children who suffered a clinically severe

form of bronchiolitis or early wheezing. Since the Kuopio University hospital is the only hospital which provides care for acute viral wheeze requiring hospitalization in the area of north-eastern Finland, the results of the prospective follow-up of the present hospital-based cohort do provide representative information at the population level on the outcome of early severe wheezing.

#### 6.1.3. Strengths of the study

On admission, one of the four investigators decided whether the patient was suitable for inclusion in the study, and performed the pre-treatment and post-treatment evaluations. The evaluations consisted of measurements of respiratory rate, heart rate and oxygen saturation (Reijonen et al. 1995). In addition, a standardized RDAI scoring based on two respiratory variables, wheezing and retractions, was utilized (Lowell et al. 1987). The inter-observer variation was small: the two investigators did not differ in ratings by more than one unit in the eight-point retraction scale and the nine-point wheezing scale. The  $\kappa$ -values of 0.82-0.87 indicated excellent agreement. In addition, the administration of the medication was double-blind (Reijonen et al. 1995).

A variety of clinical and laboratory data related to allergy, eosinophil and neutrophil activation and viral aetiology of the index episode of wheezing were collected on admission (Reijonen et al. 1997b, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002, 2003a, 2003b and 2005). Only diagnoses made by a physician were considered when the history of atopic dermatitis and earlier wheezing as well as the parental history of asthma and allergy were being recorded (Reijonen et al. 1996). Before the present follow-up visit, a structured questionnaire was filled in by the study subjects and their parents, and all the answers were checked thoroughly at the clinical visit. The criteria for the presence of teenage asthma were rather strict, and self-reported wheezing symptoms needed to be combined either with continuous or intermittent asthma medication or a pathological result in the exercise challenge test in the free running outdoors. This test has been specific but not very sensitive for the diagnosis of asthma, and the 10-15 % falls in  $FEV_1$  have been used as cut-off points (Godfrey et al. 1999). In order to improve the sensitivity of the test, we chose a 10 % limit for the present study. FVS was performed twice, two weeks apart, with nearly identical results, and BHR was studied by two different methods, by ECT and MIC test.

There are only two previous studies with corresponding designs and long, over 10 years, follow-ups, as was the case in the present study. Both the Swedish and Finnish post-bronchiolitis studies with follow-up lasting until adulthood have provided important information on the early-life risk factors for asthma (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2004, Goksör et al. 2006). However, in the Swedish study, early sensitization to allergens and eosinophilic markers were not studied, and in both the Swedish and Finnish studies, advanced viral diagnostic methods were not available at the time of recruitment. In addition, data on neutrophilic markers and early-life responses to medication were not available in either study.

#### 6.1.4. Shortcomings of the study

The main shortcoming of the present study was the absence of a non-wheezing control group. However, the prevalence of asthma at the age of 7 to 12 years has been carefully studied in our area in two epidemiological population-based studies, and the prevalence of asthma at school age is known to be between 4.0-5.0 % (Timonen et al. 1995, Remes and Korppi 1996). Confirmation of these values came in a more recent study performed in our area; asthma prevalence was about 5 % at the age of 13-14 years (Lai and the ISAAC Phase Three Study Group 2009). Thus, the present study focused on predictive factors within the study group, but it was also possible to compare asthma in these children with carefully studied asthma prevalence in the same area.

Although the asthma criteria were strict, the inclusion of the children with maintenance anti-inflammatory asthma medication may have biased the results, at least with respect to lung function tests and tests of BHR. However, over 75 % of the children with either continuous or intermittent asthma medication had either experienced repeated episodes of wheezing, prolonged cough or a positive result in the ECT. In addition, measurable BHR was more common in children with continuous or intermittent asthma medication for asthma.

We consider PCA, such as defined in the present study, to be a very reliable measure of chronic atopic asthma in childhood. In the present study, 95 % of the children with PCA had at least one positive result in the SPTs. However, the classification of the 12 children with teenage asthma in to the non-PCA group may have biased the results. In

the supplementary analyses, exclusion from the analyses of those children with teenage asthma but without PCA did not change the results. Further, when only the children with no asthma at any time formed the non-PCA group, the results remained almost the same.

### 6.2. Long-term outcome of early childhood wheezing in comparison with other long-term studies

#### Wheezing symptoms and asthma

In the present study, asthma was present in 40 % of the children in their teenage years after experiencing wheezing requiring hospitalization in infancy. Similar figures, 30-40%, for self-reported wheezing in teenage years after wheezing at the age of less than three years of age, have been reported in population-based cohorts (Morgan et al. 2005, Matricardi et al. 2008). In the previous follow-up studies, it was found that after wheezing requiring hospitalization in infancy, the asthma prevalence has been 17-39 % when the children are teenagers (Gurwitz et al. 1981, Noble et al. 1997, Wennergren et al. 1997, Sigurs et al. 2005).

In the present cohort, the occurrence of asthma was 51 % at pre-school age, and 40 % both at early school age and in teenage years. During the follow-up, 25 % of the cases had asthma at all three follow-up visits, i.e. from pre-school age until they were in their teens. Our results are in accordance with the Tucson birth cohort, in which about 25 % of the children with wheezing at age less than three years were wheezing still both at age six and at age 11 years (Morgan et al. 2005). The persistence of asthma has not been evaluated in other studies. In most hospital-based cohorts, unlike in the present study, the asthma prevalence has decreased between the start of school and the teen years (Wennergren et al. 1992 and 1997, Noble et al. 1997, Korppi et al. 1994, Hyvärinen et al. 2005), and increased only in one study (Sigurs et al. 2000 and 2005). In the Swedish and Finnish cohorts followed up until adulthood, the asthma prevalence increased again in the period between the teenage years and adolescence (Goksör et al. 2005, Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2006).

#### Atopy at early teenage

In Eastern Finland, the prevalence of SPT positivity to at least one aeroallergen at age 7-16 years has been 43-52 % (Remes and Korppi 1996, von Hertzen et al. 2006). In the present selected cohort, allergic sensitization in teenage years was more common: 63% of the children were sensitized to at least one aeroallergen, and 90-95 % of the children with teenage asthma or who had PCA had at least one positive SPT reaction compared to 45-51% of those without teenage asthma or PCA, respectively. In two other hospital-based cohorts, the sensitization figures in teenage years have been lower, 44 % to 50 % (Noble et al. 1997, Sigurs et al. 2005). These studies included only infants admitted at less than 12 months of age, compared to the age range of 1 to 23 months in the present study. Thus, because there is an increasing number of wheezing children at age 1-2 years who are atopic, probably more of these subjects were recruited into the present study.

#### Lung function and bronchial hyper-reactivity

In the present study, the mean values in FVS, measured over 11 years after severe early wheezing, were within the normal limits compared to gender-specific and height-related reference values for Finnish children. However, as many as 33 % of the children had one or more abnormal values in the FVS. Furthermore, BHR measured by two methods, was common, being present in 27 % of cases to exercise and in 46 % to methacholine. These values were rather similar to that of 37 % in another hospital-based study with a corresponding design (Wennergren et al. 1997).

In the population-based birth cohorts, forced expiratory flows have been lower in children with a history of LRTIs and/or wheezing compared to children with no such history (Stein et al. 1999, Morgan et al. 2005, Håland et al. 2009). In hospital-based studies after an episode of wheezing in infancy either due to RSV (Sigurs et al. 2005) or any respiratory virus (Noble et al. 1997), when compared to matched controls, lowered forced expiratory flows and BHR have been reported in teenage years. In addition, in line with the figures of present study, in the Finnish and Swedish bronchiolitis cohorts followed-up until adulthood, abnormal lung function parameters in the FVS were seen in 31-36 % of the study subjects, compared with 11-16 % in the control subjects, (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2004, Goksör et al. 2008).

## 6.3. Early-life predictive factors for asthma 11 years after hospitalization for wheezing in comparison with other long-term studies

### 6.3.1. Age on admission, parental history of asthma and atopy, and environmental factors in comparison with other studies

#### Age and parental history of asthma

In the Tucson birth cohort, recurrence of wheezing became more common with increasing age at the first wheezing episode (Taussig et al. 2003). Likewise, children with teenage asthma and PCA were older (> 12 months) on admission, compared to the children who remitted in the present study. An increasing number of asthma risk factors become involved between the age 1-2 years (Jartti et al. 2009), which probably explains the association between age on admission and later asthma. However, in the study of Wennergren et al., hospitalization for wheezing at a young age (< six months) was associated with asthma at age 10 years (Wennergren et al. 1997), and Sigurs et al. included only young infants, mostly less than six months of age, and RSV bronchiolitis was still a risk factor for asthma at age 13 years (Sigurs et al. 2005). These results point to either the presence of a common underlying factor, probably genetic, involved in both severe bronchiolitis and asthma, or an interaction of an early viral infection with the developing immune system and allergic sensitization (Sigurs et al. 2005, Juntti et al. 2005).

In most earlier long-term population-based cohorts (Taussig et al. 2003, Matricardi et al. 2008) and in hospital-based cohorts (Sigurs et al. 2005, Goksör et al. 2008, Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2006), a family history of asthma and atopy, in particular asthma in the parents, has been predictive for asthma. In the present study, there was a tendency for parental and maternal asthma, but not atopy in parents, to be associated with teenage asthma and PCA in children after wheezing in infancy. The statistically non-significant result was probably due to insufficient power of the present study, since asthma in parents was rare. Atopy, in contrast, was common in parents, permitting a reliable statistical assessment.

#### Environmental factors

In the Tucson birth cohort, maternal smoking, recorded at one year of age, was associated with transient wheezing at less than three years of age, and also with persistent wheezing until age six (Martinez et al. 1995), but exposure to environmental tobacco smoke was not detected as a risk factor for persistent wheezing in a longer follow-up. In the birth cohort from Germany, parental smoking in infancy was not a risk factor for wheezing at age 13 (Matricardi et al. 2008). However, the Finnish and Swedish follow-up studies until adulthood have stressed the role of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2006, Goksör et al. 2007), especially maternal smoking during pregnancy (Goksör et al. 2007) as important riskfactors for asthma and impaired lung function. In the Swedish cohort, postnatal exposure to environmental tobacco smoke seemed to act through increasing the risk of active smoking in adolescence, whereas pre-natal tobacco smoke exposure seemd to influence the development of BHR (Goksör et al. 2007). In the present study, exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in infancy was common, 46 %, and carried a slightly increased risk of asthma and PCA. Active smoking was very common in Finnish and Swedish cohorts followed up until adulthood; 27-28 % of the cases smoked, which complicates the evaluation of the role of early exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. None of the children in their teenage years reported active smoking in the present study.

The three-year follow-up of the present cohort revealed that exposure to a furry pet at home before the index episode of wheezing in infancy was related to less asthma (Reijonen et al. 2000), but at age six the protective effect was no longer significant (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2002). In the present study when the children were in their teenage years, PCA was more common in children with no exposure to dogs (28%) in infancy than in exposed children (5%). However, after adjusting for confounding factors such as parental atopy and personal early atopy, the difference was not significant, suggesting "a healthy pet owner effect", i.e. there is less pet keeping in atopic families. However, in accordance with the present results, exposure to furry pets in infancy has not increased the asthma risk at age 10-13 years (Wennergren et al. 1997, Sigurs et al. 2005) or in adolescence (Goksör et al. 2007, Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007a) after

hospitalization for wheezing in infancy, as was also reported in the German birth cohort (Matricardi et al. 2008). Furthermore, early exposure to cats or dogs did not increase sensitization to these allergens at any phase of the present follow-up.

## 6.4. Viruses related to the index episode of wheezing in comparison with other long term studies

#### RSV

In the present study, an RSV actiology of the index episode of wheezing was associated with a relatively better outcome than in those with other or no viral findings: Teenage asthma was present in 20 % and PCA in 8 % of the children after RSV-related early wheezing, which was less than the values of 48 % and 32 %, respectively, if the wheezing had been attributed either to some other or to no viral findings. However, compared to the 4-5 % asthma prevalence in the non-selected child population in eastern Finland (Remes and Korppi 1996, Lai and the ISAAC steering committee 2009), the risk of teenage asthma was still four-fold, and the risk of PCA was two-fold after hospitalization for RSV induced early wheezing. In accordance to our results, other hospital-based prospective long term follow-ups have reported more favourable outcomes after RSV-induced early wheezing than after wheezing with other or no viruses, but in some cases no differences have been detected in asthma prevalence (Wennergren et al. 1997, Hyvärinen et al. 2005, Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007b). In the Tucson birth cohort, infants with RSV-LRTI during the first three years of life were more likely to suffer from wheezing up to the age of 11 years, but no longer at the age of 13 (Stein et al. 1999). In the study of Sigurs et al., hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis at less than age one year was a risk factor for asthma at least up to 13 years of age. However, a reduction in risk ratios was seen with increasing age (Sigurs et al. 1995, 2000 and 2000), pointing to a disappearance of the effect of early RSV infection with increasing age, which is in accordance with conclusions of a recent review (Perez-Yarza et al. 2007) and with the Tucson birth cohort study (Stein et al. 1999).

In the present study, RSV-positive cases were as likely to be sensitized to any aeroallergen in teenage years as were non-RSV-cases. Other studies have reported also similar (Stein et al. 1999, Korppi et al. 2004) or an even lower (Juntti et al. 2003) prevalence in SPT positivity in RSV cases. In contrast, in the study of Sigurs et al.,

sensitization to common aeroallergens was more frequent in the RSV group than in the control group (Sigurs et al. 2005). However, in comparison with the population data (von Hertzen et al. 2006), the prevalence of atopic sensitization in the control group was low, 28 %, and not very high (50%), in the RSV cases (Sigurs et al. 2005).

#### Rhinovirus

There are no population-based long-term follow-up studies on the association between early rhinovirus-induced wheezing and subsequent asthma, since molecular viral diagnostics for rhinoviruses were not available before the 1990s. In the childhood origins of asthma cohort, a birth cohort consisting of infants with at least one atopic parent, it was demonstrated that rhinovirus-induced viral wheezing not requiring hospitalization was a significant predictor of asthma at age six years (Jackson et al. 2008). In another high-risk cohort, wheezing induced by rhinovirus alone or in combination with RSV at less than one year of age was associated with wheezing at age five years, but only in children sensitized at less than two years of age (Kusel et al. 2007). The authors concluded that viral infections interact with atopy in infancy to promote subsequent asthma.

In the present cohort at early school age, asthma was more common after rhinovirusinduced wheezing compared to the wheezing caused by RSV or other viruses (52% vs. 15 %) (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003b). In the present study, teenage asthma (58%) and PCA (47%) were still more common after rhinovirus aetiology of early wheezing compared to other or no viral aetiology (33% and 17%, respectively teenage asthma and PCA), but the differences were no longer statistically significant. In the present cohort, we noted that rhinovirus aetiology of early wheezing was more common among infants aged more than 12 months, among infants with early atopic dermatitis and among infants with elevated eosinophil markers on admission. Thus, rather than being an independent risk factor for asthma, rhinovirus-induced wheezing in infancy is probably a marker identifying those children prone to wheeze due early respiratory allergy, ongoing eosinophil airway inflammation or even early structural changes in the airways.

### 6.5. History of atopic dermatitis, serum total IgE and early sensitization to allergens in comparison with other studies

In the present study, early atopic dermatitis and elevated serum total IgE, assessed at the time of the index episode of wheezing in infancy, predicted teenage asthma and PCA. Similarly, atopic dermatitis and elevated serum total IgE at age one were predictive for persistent wheezing in the Tucson birth cohort (Martinez et al. 1995). In the study of Wennergren et al., atopic diseases in early childhood were not predictive for asthma at age 10 (Wennergren et al. 1997). In other hospital-based long term follow-up studies, the role of early atopy on asthma at age 10-13 years has not been evaluated, or has been studied poorly (Gurwitz et al. 1981, Noble et al. 1997, Wennergren et al.1997, Sigurs et al. 2005, Goksör et al. 2006).

In the present study, early sensitization to inhaled allergens was rare, being present in 18 % of the infants, but highly predictive for teenage asthma and PCA. Sensitization to aeroallergens at the time of admission was rare, being exhibited only in infants aged more than 12 months. In order to evaluate the role of early sensitization to cat or dog allergens as predictors of teenage asthma and PCA, the data of SPTs at the median age of 1.5 years were combined to the serum sIgE data obtained in infancy. About a third of children with early teenage asthma or PCA were sensitized to cat or dog allergens, compared to less than 10 % of non-asthmatics. Early sensitization to cats was a significant predictor of teenage asthma, and sensitization to dog was predictive of PCA. Our findings are in accordance with the findings from the German birth cohort, which reported that early sensitization to perennial allergens, including cat dander, was a strong risk factor for persistent wheezing in children with a history of early wheezing (Matricardi et al. 2008). In the Finnish post-bronchiolitis cohort, which was followed up until adulthood, sensitization to inhaled allergens at age less than three years was predictive for asthma until the teenage years, but not thereafter, but in contrast to the present study, no associations were seen between sensitization to furry pets and later asthma (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007a).

In the present study, sensitization to food allergens was common, being present in 47 % of the infants, but predictive of teenage asthma or PCA only when serum sIgE to individual food allergens were present. Sensitization to cow's milk predicted teenage asthma and wheat was a strong predictor of both, teenage asthma and PCA.

Sensitization to egg white, which had been predictive for asthma when the children started school (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al. 2003a), was no longer significant. In another Finnish cohort, IgE-mediated clinical cow's milk allergy was a risk factor for school age asthma and allergic sensitization (Saarinen et al. 2005). A detection limit was applied in the present study, and low to moderate sIgE rises might be found in infancy without any clinical consequences (Kulig et al. 1999). In the German birth cohort study, higher concentration limits were applied, and early sensitization to food allergens in infancy predicted the persistence of wheezing in the univariate analyses, but no longer in a stepwise model including also early sensitization to perennial allergens (Matricardi et al. 2008). Consequently, the presence of low concentrations of serum sIgE to food allergens early in life probably reflects atopic diathesis before there are any clinical manifestations or aeroallergen sensitization (Kulig et al. 1999). In the present study, about a third of infants with serum sIgE to food allergens and/or to wheat had also serum sIgE to inhalant allergens, but by their teenage years about 80 % of the children displaying serum sIgE to food in infancy and all of the 11 wheat-positive children in infancy had become sensitized also to aeroallergens.

### 6.6. Responses to bronchodilating agents during the index episode of wheezing as predictors of later asthma

Increased BHR, when measured shortly after wheezing in infancy, was related to the development of later asthma in infants with an atopic predisposition (Saga et al. 2001). In the present study, we were not able to confirm the hypothesis that future asthmatics respond better than future non-asthmatics to inhaled bronchodilators during acute bronchial obstruction at age less than 24 months. However, we observed that oxygen saturation was higher after albuterol inhalations in children with later persistent asthma compared to the situation in children who did not develop persistent asthma, but lower after placebo and racemic epinephrine inhalations. Thus, there might be a subset of infants whose airways are susceptible to reversible smooth muscle contraction which will progress later to asthma. However, the absolute differences in oxygen saturations between children with PCA and no PCA were small, and not clinically relevant.

In asthma, the smooth muscle constriction is related to basement membrane thickening, epithelial damage and eosinophilic airway inflammation, and these changes

may ocur even in young children and infants (Barbato et al. 2006, Saglani et al. 2007). In a Norwegian study, an early bronchodilator response, as evaluated by tidal lung function measurements in asymptomatic children less than two years of age, was associated with recurrent bronchial obstruction, but not with allergic sensitization or atopic dermatitis (Lodrup Carlsen et al. 2004). The authors concluded that recurrent bronchial obstruction in infancy may be more closely associated with lung function abnormalities, like BHR, than with asthma at school age, which the authors believed was more closely linked with allergic sensitization (Lodrup Carlsen et al. 2004). However, the early bronchodilator responses with regard to later asthma status of the children were not, unfortunately, reported in that study. In the present study, asthma status was assessed three times over an 11 year-period after early wheezing, but the evaluation of early bronchodilator responses was based solely on clinical findings. Therefore, more follow-up studies with the appropriate methods for the measurement of bronchodilating response in infants are needed to study whether there is a significant link between early-life responses to bronchodilating agents and later asthma.

# 6.7. Eosinophilic inflammation during the index episode of wheezing as a prediction of later asthma

It is unclear which age is critical for the development of eosinophilic inflammation and permanent structural changes in the airways of wheezing children. In recent biopsy studies, evidence was found that the age from one to three years is probably the most critical period, since no changes were seen even in those children with a history of severe wheezing younger than 12 months, but they were demonstrated in wheezing children by three years of age (Saglani et al. 2007). Accordingly, in the present study, eosinophils and their activity markers measured in blood and nasopharyngeal aspirates in severely wheezing infants were higher in children aged more than 12 months. Further, high levels of eosinophil activity markers were also related to other asthma risk factors, such as atopy and wheezing with rhinovirus, which became more common with increasing age.

Based on the results from birth cohort studies, blood eosinophilia in early life has been included as a minor risk factor in the algorithms for starting asthma therapy in young children with repeated wheezing (Gastro-Rodriguez et al. 2000, Guilbert et al. 2004). In

hospital-based follow-up studies, as seen also in the earlier phases of the present cohort, both blood eosinophilia (Kotaniemi-Syrjänen et al.2002, Ehlenfield et al. 2000) and elevated serum ECP (Reijonen et al 1997a) have predicted the continuation of wheezing and asthma symptoms between five to seven years of age. In the few long-term follow-ups available, neither blood eosinophilia nor elevated serum ECP documented at less than 24 months of age, were associated with asthma at age 10 years (Wennergren et al. 1997). Likewise, no association was seen between blood eosinophilia in infancy and later asthma in a Finnish post-bronchiolitis cohort followed-up until adulthood, but the lack of an eosinopenic response to infection in infancy was a significant risk factor for asthma in adulthood (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2007c). In the present study, blood eosinophilia and elevated serum and nasopharyngeal ECP at less than 24 months of age predicted PCA, but elevated nasopharyngeal ECP predicted both teenage asthma and PCA. However, in the multivariate analyses, only nasopharyngeal ECP was significantly associated with PCA, but not anymore with teenage asthma.

Although there is evidence that inflammatory markers in the nasal epithelium may reflect airway pathology (Frischer et al. 2000), samples obtained from the upper airways allow only an indirect assessment of the situation in the lower airways. In addition, the methods are poorly standardized. However, nasopharyngeal aspirates are easy to obtain and routinely used for viral studies, and we collected samples by aspirating mucus from the nasopharynx, near to the glottis. Since there were no reference values available for NPA-ECP, the concentrations were expressed per weight of mucus sample, and the value 815.0 ng/g resulted from the ROC curves was applied. Though ECP in respiratory secretions may reflect lower airway inflammation better than the corresponding values in blood or serum, only a few studies are available on nasal, nasopharyngeal or sputum ECP as risk factors of asthma in children with early-life wheezing. In the study of Sigurs *et al.*, nasal ECP was not associated with bronchial symptoms two years after RSV bronchiolitis (Sigurs et al.1994), but did predict recurrent wheezing after bronchiolitis for at least four months in the present cohort (Reijonen et al. 1997b).

In the present study, eosinophils and the eosinophil markers during wheezing in infancy were non-sensitive but rather specific predictors of teenage asthma and PCA, with sensitivities varying from 13 % to 58% and specificities from 73% to 93%. When

combined, these markers identified 61% of the children with teenage asthma and 75% of the PCA cases. Elevated serum ECP did not detect additional teenage asthmatics or PCA cases better than elevated blood eosinophils and NPA-ECP, but in fact more than one third of the PCA cases were recognized by elevated nasopharyngeal ECP values alone. This means that NPA-ECP identified different patients than detected by S-ECP or blood eosinophils.

### 6.8. Neutrophil activation in infancy, measured by serum MPO, as a risk factor for later asthma

The results of the present study revealed that serum levels of MPO, measured on admission and thereafter three times when the infants were healthy, was highest during acute wheezing, but this elevation occurred equally in future asthmatics and nonasthmatics. After the acute infection, the serum MPO value decreased, and was constantly lower thereafter, showing no connection to anti-inflammatory treatment or future asthma. Thus, the high serum MPO concentrations measured during acute infection most probably reflected a reaction to inflammation, and correspondingly, the subsequent measurements reflected the recovery of inflammation. Accordingly, there are higher serum MPO levels in asthmatics with an acute infection compared to the corresponding values in asthmatics with no acute infection (Tauber et al. 1999). In addition, the serum MPO value was higher in children with symptomatic asthma, when compared to children with episodic or non-symptomatic asthma (Carlsen et al. 1997, Kalayci et al. 2000), suggesting an involvement of neutrophilis in asthmatic inflammation, possibly related to viruses. In the study of Sigurs et al., serum MPO increased during RSV bronchiolitis, and decreased within a few weeks thereafter, and MPO at any level was not predictive for subsequent wheezing or asthma in the two-year follow-up (Sigurs et al. 1994). In accordance, serum MPO at any level in any measurement in infancy was not able to predict either the presence or absence of teenage asthma or PCA in the present study. Thus, MPO appears to be a marker of acute infection, and unlike eosinophils, not useful in the prediction of the development of atopic asthma after wheezing in infancy.

In the population-based Tucson birth cohort study, LRTI caused by RSV in infancy was predictive for decreased forced expiratory flows at age 11 years (Stein et al. 1999). Further, Sigurs et al. found that infants hospitalized for RSV bronchiolitis at less than 12 months of age, had lower FEV $_1$ /FVC and maximal expiratory flows at 75 % of FVC compared to controls at age 13 (Sigurs et al. 2005). In addition, FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC and MEF<sub>25</sub>. were lower in subjects with a history of RSV bronchiolitis compared to controls in the Finnish post-bronchiolitis cohort followed up until adulthood (Korppi et al. 2004b). In the present study, in contrast, early wheezing related to RSV seemed to be associated with a restrictive pattern of lung function, as reflected by the significantly decreased FVC values in conjunction with the normal  $FEV_1$  values and even elevated  $FEV_1 / FVC$ values. In the present cohort, subjects with teenage asthma or PCA, in contrast, had high FVC values and low FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC values compared to non-asthmatics, including most RSV positive cases. The FVC values were within normal limits in both groups, which obscures the clinical significance of the findings. However, in the German birth cohort study, FVC growth velocities were higher among children with asthma than among children without asthma until the age of 12-14 years (Strunk et al. 2006), and the FVC growth velocity pattern comparable to the subjects in the German study could explain our findings. On the other hand, the evidence of restriction found in the present study, as well as similar findings in other studies, may reflect pre-morbid structural changes in infants susceptible to severe RSV infection (Taussig et al. 2003).

The presences of atopic dermatitis and serum sIgE to inhalant allergens in early life were independent risk factors for BHR. These findings are in accordance with a recent birth cohort study from Germany, in which BHR at school age was significantly associated with sensitisation to perennial allergens in early life (Illi et al. 2006). In contrast, Wennergren et al. did not find any association between early atopy and BHR at the age of 10 years in children who had been hospitalized for wheezing in infancy (Wennergren et al. 1997), but in line with the present study, maternal smoking during pregnancy was a significant predictor of BHR in adolescence (Goksör et al. 2007). Although there is some evidence that in utero exposure to tobacco smoke may increase BHR which may continue through childhood (Cook et al. 1998), the presence of many

factors like early-life passive smoking and later active smoking complicate the interpretation of the results (Cook et al. 1998, Lodrup Carlsen et al. 2001). In the present study, the association between maternal smoking during pregnancy and BHR in teenage years was significant even after adjustment for passive smoking in infancy, and none of the children were smokers at the time of the study visit. However, in contrast to the Finnish follow-up study which continued until adulthood, no associations were seen between exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in infancy and abnormal lung function (Piippo-Savolainen et al. 2006).

#### 7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

In the present prospective follow-up study after hospitalization for wheezing at less than two years of age, teenage asthma was common, being present in 40 % of the children. Persistent childhood asthma, i.e. asthma at all three follow-up visits at pre-school age, at school age and in teenage years was present in 25 % of the children followed-up for 11 years. Most of the children with asthma were sensitized to at least one aeroallergen.

Compared to 4-5 % asthma prevalence in the child population in Eastern Finland, the prevalences of both, teenage asthma and persistent childhood asthma were elevated after both RSV- and rhinovirus-related hospitalization for wheezing in infancy. RSV aetiology of early wheezing was related to a better long-term outcome than wheezing with rhinoviruses or other viruses, though the difference did not reach statistical significance.

When tested in the teenage years, lung function assessed by FVS was within normal limits compared to gender- specific and height-related reference values for Finnish children. Children with teenage asthma or children with persistent childhood asthma had higher FVC values and lower FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC values than had similar aged children with no asthma or persistent asthma. Further, children with RSV-related early wheezing had lower FVC values and higher FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC values compared to other children raising the possibility that the difference might have been related to the susceptibility to early wheezing. However, lung function in infancy was not measured, and though only minor evidence was found that the children who would have later persistent asthma may respond better than the children without future persistent asthma to bronchodilators during the acute viral wheeze in infancy, the overall clinical responses to bronchodilators did not differ between these groups.

Non-specific early markers of atopy, atopic dermatitis in infancy and elevated serum total IgE were predictive of teenage asthma and persistent asthma. It was rare for there to be any allergen-specific IgE to inhalant allergens at the time of the index episode of wheezing, but if present, it was highly predictive for teenage asthma and persistent asthma as well as bronchial hyper-reactivity in the teenage years. The presence of allergen-specific IgE to food allergens was common, and sensitization to cow's milk was predictive of teenage asthma and sensitization to wheat highly predictive for both teenage asthma and persistent childhood asthma. The present study failed to show any associations between family history of asthma or atopy and teenage asthma and persistent childhood asthma.

Early sensitization to cats and dogs was predictive for later asthma. However, simple early exposure to cats and dogs in contrast, was not related to any increased risk of atopic sensitization or the subsequent development of asthma in childhood. Exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in infancy was not related to abnormal lung function or bronchial hyper-reactivity at age 12 years, but maternal smoking during pregnancy increased the risk of bronchial hyper-reactivity.

With the selected cut-off points, elevated blood eosinophils and elevated eosinophil cationic protein in serum and in nasopharyngeal aspirate were found to be non-sensitive, but rather specific markers in recognizing wheezing infants at risk of chronic asthma. Elevated levels of eosinophil cationic protein in nasopharyngeal samples seemed to identify children at risk, and these children were not found by the other two markers. In addition, elevated levels of nasopharyngeal eosinophil cationic protein in infancy were an independent risk factor of persistent childhood asthma, which may suggest that eosinophil cationic protein, when present in respiratory secretions, is better at reflecting the airway pathology in children at high risk of chronic asthma than can be achieved by monitoring blood eosinophils or eosinophil cationic protein in serum.

In conclusion, teenage asthma is common after hospitalization for wheezing in infancy. The most important risk factors for both teenage asthma and persistent childhood asthma are early atopic dermatitis and early sensitization to inhalant allergens as well as early sensitization to wheat. Elevated markers of eosinophil activity in infancy predict later asthma, in particular active asthma lasting from early childhood at least until the teenage years. The level of eosinophil cationic protein in respiratory secretions was elevated in infants who would later develop asthma, pointing to the presence of airway eosinophilia in a subgroup of children at age 1-2 years. Rhinovirus-induced early wheezing serves as a marker identifying children with an increasing number of asthma risk factors, though it is not an independent risk factor for asthma.

#### REFERENCES

Akdis M, Blaser K, Akdis CA. T regulatory cells in allergy: novel concepts in the pathogenesis, prevention, and treatment of allergic diseases J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005; 116:961-968.

Allander T, Emerson SU, Engle RE, Purcell RH, Bukh J. A virus discovery method incorporating DNase treatment and its application to the identification of two bovine parvovirus species. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98:11609-11614.

Allander T, Jartti T, Gupta S, et al. Human bocavirus and acute wheezing in children. Clin Infect Dis 2007; 44:904-910.

American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Infectious Diseases. Prevention of influenza: recommendations for influenza immunization of children, 2007-2008. Pediatrics 2008; 121:e1016-e1031.

American Academy of Pediatrics Subcommittee on Diagnosis and Management of Bronchiolitis. Diagnosis and management of bronchiolitis. Pediatrics 2006; 118:1774-1793.

Apelberg BJ, Aoki Y, Jaakkola JJ. Systematic review: Exposure to pets and risk of asthma and asthma-like symptoms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 107:455-460.

Arnold JC, Singh KK, Spector SA, Sawyer MH. Human bocavirus: prevalence and clinical spectrum at a children's hospital. Clin Infect Dis. 2006; 43:283-288.

Barbato A, Panizzolo C, Gheno M, et al. Bronchoalveolar lavage in asthmatic children: evidence of neutrophil activation in mild-to-moderate persistent asthma. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2001; 12:73-77.

Barbato A, Turato G, Baraldo S, et al. Epithelial damage and angiogenesis in the airways of children with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2006; 174:975-981.

Bastien N, Chui N, Robinson JL, et al. Detection of human bocavirus in Canadian children in a 1-year study. J Clin Microbiol. 2007; 45:610-613.

Boner AL, Peroni DG, Piacentini GL, Venge P. Influence of allergen avoidance at high altitude on serum markers of eosinophil activation in children with allergic asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 1993; 23:1021-1026.

Boyce TG, Mellen BG, Mitchel EF, Jr, Wright PF, Griffin MR. Rates of hospitalization for respiratory syncytial virus infection among children in medicaid. J Pediatr 2000; 137:865-870.
Bradley JP, Bacharier LB, Bonfiglio J, et al. Severity of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis is affected by cigarette smoke exposure and atopy. Pediatrics 2005; 115:e7-e14.

Brown H, Prescott R. Applied mixed models in medicine. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons, 2001.

Bush A. How early do airway inflammation and remodeling occur? Allergol Int 2008; 57:11-19.

Camara AA, Silva JM, Ferriani VP, et al. Risk factors for wheezing in a subtropical environment: role of respiratory viruses and allergen sensitization. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 113:551-557.

Carlsen KH, Carlsen KC. Respiratory effects of tobacco smoking on infants and young children. Paediatr Respir Rev 2008; 9:11-19.

Carlsen KH, Halvorsen R, Pettersen M, Carlsen KC. Inflammation markers and symptom activity in children with bronchial asthma. Influence of atopy and eczema. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1997; 8:112-120.

Carlson M, Hakansson L, Peterson C, Stalenheim G, Venge P. Secretion of granule proteins from eosinophils and neutrophils is increased in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991; 87:27-33.

Carrat F, Flahaut A. Influenza vaccine: the challenge of antigenic drift. Vaccine 2007; 25:6852-6862.

Carroll KN, Gebretsadik T, Griffin MR, et al. Maternal asthma and maternal smoking are associated with increased risk of bronchiolitis during infancy. Pediatrics 2007; 119:1104-1112.

Carroll KN, Hartert TV. The impact of respiratory viral infection on wheezing illnesses and asthma exacerbations. Immunol Allergy Clin North Am 2008; 28:539-561.

Carroll KN, Wu P, Gebretsadik T, et al. The severity-dependent relationship of infant bronchiolitis on the risk and morbidity of early childhood asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 123:1055-1061.

Castro-Rodriguez JA, Holberg CJ, Wright AL, Martinez FD. A clinical index to define risk of asthma in young children with recurrent wheezing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:1403-1406.

Castro-Rodriguez JA, Garcia-Marcos L. Wheezing and Asthma in childhood: an epidemiology approach. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 2008; 36:280-290.

Chatzimichael A, Tsalkidis A, Cassimos D, et al. The role of breastfeeding and passive smoking on the development of severe bronchiolitis in infants. Minerva Pediatr 2007; 59:199-206.

Chavasse R, Seddon P, Bara A, McKean M. Short acting beta agonists for recurrent wheeze in children under 2 years of age. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2002; 3:CD002873.

Chen J, Deng YM. Influenza virus antigenic variation, host antibody production and new approach to control epidemics. Virol J 2009; 6:30.

Chung HL, Park HJ, Kim SY, Kim SG. Age-related difference in immune responses to respiratory syncytial virus infection in young children. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2007; 18:94-99.

Clarke CW. Relationship of bacterial and viral infections to exacerbations of asthma. Thorax 1979; 34:344-347.

Cook DG, Strachan DP. Parental smoking, bronchial reactivity and peak flow variability in children. Thorax 1998; 53:295-301.

Cook DG, Strachan DP, Carey IM. Health effects of passive smoking. Thorax 1999; 54:469.

Devulapalli CS, Håland G, Pettersen M, Carlsen KH, Lodrup Carlsen KC. Effect of inhaled steroids on lung function in young children: a cohort study. Eur respir J 2004; 23:869-675.

Devulapalli CS, Carlsen KC, Håland G et al. Severity of obstructive airways disease by age 2 years predicts asthma at 10 years of age. Thorax 2008; 63: 8-13.

DeVincenzo JP. A new direction in understanding the pathogenesis of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis: how real infants suffer. J Infect Dis 2007; 195:1084-1086.

Dezateux C, Stocks J, Dundas I, Fletcher ME. Impaired airway function and wheezing in infancy: the influence of maternal smoking and a genetic predisposition to asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:403-410.

Dougherty RH, Fahy JV. Acute exacerbations of asthma: epidemiology, biology and the exacerbation-prone phenotype. Clin Exp Allergy 2009; 39:193-202.

Duff AL, Pomeranz ES, Gelber LE, et al. Risk factors for acute wheezing in infants and children: viruses, passive smoke, and IgE antibodies to inhalant allergens. Pediatrics 1993; 92:535-540.

Ebihara T, Endo R, Ma X, Ishiguro N, Kikuta H. Detection of human coronavirus NL63 in young children with bronchiolitis. J Med Virol 2005; 75:463-465.

Echavarria M, Maldonado D, Elbert G, Videla C, Rappaport R, Carballal G. Use of PCR to demonstrate presence of adenovirus species B, C, or F as well as coinfection with two adenovirus species in children with flu-like symptoms. J Clin Microbiol 2006; 44:625-627.

Ehlenfield DR, Cameron K, Welliver RC. Eosinophilia at the time of respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis predicts childhood reactive airway disease. Pediatrics 2000; 105:79-83.

Eisen AH. Eosinophilia. In: Allergic Diseases of Infancy, Childhood and Adolescence. Bierman CW and Pearlman DS, Philadelphia: Saunders W.B., 1980; 761-762.

Emenius G, Svartengren M, Korsgaard J, Nordvall L, Pershagen G, Wickman M. Indoor exposures and recurrent wheezing in infants: a study in the BAMSE cohort. Acta Paediatr 2004; 93:899-905.

Fjaerli HO, Farstad T, Rod G, Ufert GK, Gulbrandsen P, Nakstad B. Acute bronchiolitis in infancy as risk factor for wheezing and reduced pulmonary function by seven years in Akershus County, Norway. BMC Pediatr 2005; 5:31.

Forton JT, Rowlands K, Rockett K, et al. Genetic association study for RSV bronchiolitis in infancy at the 5q31 cytokine cluster. Thorax 2009; 64:345-352.

Freymuth F, Vabret A, Brouard J, et al. Detection of viral, Chlamydia pneumoniae and Mycoplasma pneumoniae infections in exacerbations of asthma in children. J Clin Virol 1999; 13:131-139.

Friedlander SL, Busse WW. The role of rhinovirus in asthma exacerbations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005; 116:267-273.

Friedlander SL, Jackson DJ, Gangnon RE, et al. Viral infections, cytokine dysregulation and the origins of childhood asthma and allergic diseases. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2005; 24 Suppl 11:S170-S176.

Frischer T, Baraldi E. Upper airway sampling. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 162:S28-30.

Garcia-Garcia ML, Calvo C, Casas I, et al. Human metapneumovirus bronchiolitis in infancy is an important risk factor for asthma at age 5. Pediatr Pulmonol 2007; 42:458-464.

Gern JE, Martin MS, Anklam KA, et al. Relationships among specific viral pathogens, virus-induced interleukin-8, and respiratory symptoms in infancy. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2002;13:386-393.

Gern JE, Lemanske RF,Jr. Infectious triggers of pediatric asthma. Pediatr Clin North Am 2003; 50:555-75.

Gern JE. Viral respiratory infection and the link to asthma. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008; 27 Suppl 10:S97-S103.

Gillespie J, Wickens K, Siebers R, et al. Endotoxin exposure, wheezing, and rash in infancy in a New Zealand birth cohort. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 118:1265-1270.

Ginocchio CC. Detection of respiratory viruses using non-molecular based methods. J Clin Virol 2007; 40 Suppl 1:S11-S14.

Glezen WP, Taber LH, Frank AL, Kasel JA. Risk of primary infection and reinfection with respiratory syncytial virus. Am J Dis Child 1986; 140:543-546.

Godfrey S. Bronchial hyper-responsiveness in children. Paediatr Respir Rev 2000; 1:148-155.

Goksör E, Amark M, Alm B, Gustafsson PM, Wennergren G. Asthma symptoms in early childhood--what happens then? Acta Paediatr 2006; 95:471-478.

Goksör E, Amark M, Alm B, Gustafsson PM, Wennergren G. The impact of pre- and post-natal smoke exposure on future asthma and bronchial hyper-responsiveness. Acta Paediatr 2007; 96:1030-1035.

Goksör E, Gustafsson PM, Alm B, Amark M, Wennergren G. Reduced airway function in early adulthood among subjects with wheezing disorder before two years of age. Pediatr Pulmonol 2008; 43:396-403.

Grissell TV, Powell H, Shafren DR, et al. Interleukin-10 gene expression in acute virusinduced asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005; 172:433-439.

Guerra S, Wright AL, Morgan WJ, Sherrill DL, Holberg CJ, Martinez FD. Persistence of asthma symptoms during adolescence: role of obesity and age at the onset of puberty. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2004; 170:78-85.

Guilbert TW, Morgan WJ, Zeiger RS, et al. Atopic characteristics of children with recurrent wheezing at high risk for the development of childhood asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 114:1282-1287.

Guilbert TW, Morgan WJ, Zeiger RS, et al. Long-term inhaled corticosteroids in preschool children at high risk for asthma. N Engl J Med 2006; 354:1985-1997.

Gurwitz D, Mindorff C, Levison H. Increased incidence of bronchial reactivity in children with a history of bronchiolitis. J Pediatr 1981; 98:551-555.

Haegens A, Vernooy JH, Heeringa P, Mossman BT, Wouters EF. Myeloperoxidase modulates lung epithelial responses to pro-inflammatory agents. Eur Respir J 2008; 31:252-260.

Halken S, Host A, Husby S, Hansen LG, Osterballe O, Nyboe J. Recurrent wheezing in relation to environmental risk factors in infancy. A prospective study of 276 infants. Allergy 1991; 46:507-514.

Heikkinen T, Osterback R, Peltola V, Jartti T, Vainionpaa R. Human metapneumovirus infections in children. Emerg Infect Dis 2008; 14:101-106.

Helminen M, Nuolivirta K, Virta M, et al. IL-10 gene polymorphism at -1082 A/G is associated with severe rhinovirus bronchiolitis in infants. Pediatr Pulmonol 2008; 43:391-395.

Henderson FW, Clyde WA,Jr, Collier AM, et al. The etiologic and epidemiologic spectrum of bronchiolitis in pediatric practice. J Pediatr 1979; 95:183-190.

Henderson J, Hilliard TN, Sherriff A, Stalker D, Al Shammari N, Thomas HM. Hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis before 12 months of age and subsequent asthma, atopy and wheeze: a longitudinal birth cohort study. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2005; 16:386-392.

Heymann PW, Carper HT, Murphy DD, et al. Viral infections in relation to age, atopy, and season of admission among children hospitalized for wheezing. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 114:239-247.

Heymann PW, Platts-Mills TA, Johnston SL. Role of viral infections, atopy and antiviral immunity in the etiology of wheezing exacerbations among children and young adults. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2005; 24 Suppl 11:S217-S222.

Hoo AF, Dezateux C, Hanrahan JP, Cole TJ, Tepper RS, Stocks J. Sex-specific prediction equations for Vmax(FRC) in infancy: a multicenter collaborative study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 165:1084-1092.

Håberg SE, Stigum H, Nystad W, Nafstad P. Effects of pre- and postnatal exposure to parental smoking on early childhood respiratory health. Am J Epidemiol 2007; 166:679-686.

Håland G, Lodrup Carlsen KC, Mowinckel P, et al. Lung function at 10 yr is not impaired by early childhood lower respiratory tract infections. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2009; 20:254-260.

Hyvärinen M, Piippo-Savolainen E, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Teenage asthma after severe infantile bronchiolitis or pneumonia. Acta Paediatr 2005; 94:1378-1383.

Illi S, von Mutius E, Lau S et al. The natural course of atopic dermatitis from birth to age 7 years and the association with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2004; 113:925-931.

Illi S, von Mutius E, Lau S, et al. Perennial allergen sensitisation early in life and chronic asthma in children: a birth cohort study. Lancet 2006; 368:763-770.

Jackson DJ, Gangnon RE, Evans MD, et al. Wheezing rhinovirus illnesses in early life predict asthma development in high-risk children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2008; 178:667-672.

Jacques J, Moret H, Minette D, et al. Epidemiological, molecular, and clinical features of enterovirus respiratory infections in French children between 1999 and 2005. J Clin Microbiol 2008; 46:206-213.

Jaovisidha P, Peeples ME, Brees AA, Carpenter LR, Moy JN. Respiratory syncytial virus stimulates neutrophil degranulation and chemokine release. J Immunol 1999; 163:2816-2820.

Jartti T, Lehtinen P, Vuorinen T, et al. Respiratory picornaviruses and respiratory syncytial virus as causative agents of acute expiratory wheezing in children. Emerg Infect Dis 2004; 10:1095-1101.

Jartti T, Lehtinen P, Vanto T, et al. Atopic characteristics of wheezing children and responses to prednisolone. Pediatr Pulmonol 2007; 42:1125-1133.

Jartti T, Lehtinen P, Vuorinen T, Ruuskanen O. Bronchiolitis: age and previous wheezing episodes are linked to viral etiology and atopic characteristics. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2009; 28:311-317.

Johnston SL, Pattemore PK, Sanderson G, et al. Community study of role of viral infections in exacerbations of asthma in 9-11 year old children. BMJ 1995; 310:1225-1229.

Juntti H, Kokkonen J, Dunder T, Renko M, Niinimaki A, Uhari M. Association of an early respiratory syncytial virus infection and atopic allergy. Allergy 2003; 58:878-884.

Juntti H, Kokkonen J, Dunder T, Renko M, Karttunen R, Uhari M. Serum concentrations of interferon-gamma and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 eight years after an early respiratory syncytial virus infection. Clin Exp Allergy 2005; 35:59-63.

Juntti H, Osterlund P, Kokkonen J, et al. Cytokine responses in cord blood predict the severity of later respiratory syncytial virus infection. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 124:52-58.

Just J, Nicoloyanis N, Chauvin M, Pribil C, Grimfeld A, Duru G. Lack of eosinophilia can predict remission in wheezy infants? Clin Exp Allergy 2008; 38:767-773.

Kahn JS. Epidemiology of human metapneumovirus. Clin Microbiol Rev 2006; 19:546-557.

Kalayci O, Saraclar Y, Kilinc K, Sekerel BE. Serum levels of eosinophilic cationic protein (ECP), myeloperoxidase (MPO), lipid peroxidation products, interleukin (IL)-5 and interferon (IFN)-gamma in children with bronchial asthma at acute asthma attack and remission. Turk J Pediatr 2000; 42:9-16.

Kantola K, Hedman L, Allander T, et al. Serodiagnosis of human bocavirus infection. Clin Infect Dis 2008; 46:540-546.

Karr C, Lumley T, Shepherd K, et al. A case-crossover study of wintertime ambient air pollution and infant bronchiolitis. Environ Health Perspect 2006; 114:277-281.

Karr CJ, Rudra CB, Miller KA, et al. Infant exposure to fine particulate matter and traffic and risk of hospitalization for RSV bronchiolitis in a region with lower ambient air pollution. Environ Res 2009; 109:321-327.

Kellner G, Popow-Kraupp T, Kundi M, Binder C, Kunz C. Clinical manifestations of respiratory tract infections due to respiratory syncytial virus and rhinoviruses in hospitalized children. Acta Paediatr Scand 1989; 78:390-394.

Kelly JT, Busse WW. Host immune responses to rhinovirus: mechanisms in asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008; 122:671-682.

Kernan WN, Viscoli CM, Makuch RW, Brass LM, Horwitz RI. Stratified randomization for clinical trials. J Clin Epidemiol 1999; 52:19-26.

Kim CK, Kim SW, Park CS, Kim BI, Kang H, Koh YY. Bronchoalveolar lavage cytokine profiles in acute asthma and acute bronchiolitis. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 112:64-71.

King VJ, Viswanathan M, Bordley WC, et al. Pharmacologic treatment of bronchiolitis in infants and children: a systematic review. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004; 158:127-137.

Klebanoff SJ. Myeloperoxidase: friend and foe. J Leukoc Biol 2005; 77:598-625.

Koehoorn M, Karr CJ, Demers PA, Lencar C, Tamburic L, Brauer M. Descriptive epidemiological features of bronchiolitis in a population-based cohort. Pediatrics 2008; 122:1196-1203.

Koh GC, Shek LP, Goh DY, Van Bever H, Koh DS. Eosinophil cationic protein: is it useful in asthma? A systematic review. Respir Med 2007; 101:696-705.

Korppi M, Halonen P, Kleemola M, Launiala K. Viral findings in children under the age of two years with expiratory difficulties. Acta Paediatr Scand 1986; 75:457-464.

Korppi M, Reijonen T, Pöysa L, Juntunen-Backman K. A 2- to 3-year outcome after bronchiolitis. Am J Dis Child 1993; 147:628-631.

Korppi M, Kuikka L, Reijonen T, Remes K, Juntunen-Backman K, Launiala K. Bronchial asthma and hyperreactivity after early childhood bronchiolitis or pneumonia. An 8-year follow-up study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1994; 148:1079-1084. Korppi M, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Waris M, Vainionpaa R, Reijonen TM. Rhinovirusassociated wheezing in infancy: comparison with respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2004a; 23:995-999.

Korppi M, Piippo-Savolainen E, Korhonen K, Remes S. Respiratory morbidity 20 years after RSV infection in infancy. Pediatr Pulmonol 2004b; 38:155-160.

Korppi M. Role of viruses in early childhood wheezing. Pediatric Health 2008; 2: 341-349.

Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen TM, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Wheezing requiring hospitalization in early childhood: Predictive factors for asthma in a six-year follow-up. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2002; 13:418-425.

Kotaniemi-Syrjanen A, Reijonen TM, Romppanen J, Korhonen K, Savolainen K, Korppi M. Allergen-specific immunoglobulin e antibodies in wheezing infants: the risk for asthma in later childhood. Pediatrics 2003a; 111:e255-e261.

Kotaniemi-Syräanen A, Vainionpaa R, Reijonen TM, Waris M, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Rhinovirus-induced wheezing in infancy-the first sign of childhood asthma? J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003b; 111:66-71.

Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Laatikainen A, Waris M, Reijonen TM, Vainionpaa R, Korppi M. Respiratory syncytial virus infection in children hospitalized for wheezing: virus-specific studies from infancy to preschool years. Acta Paediatr 2005; 94:159-165.

Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Korppi M. Respiratory viruses, eosinophil activation, and early allergen sensitization-Early life predictors of persistent wheezing and asthma. Current Pediatric Reviews 2007; 3:115-127.

Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen TM, Korhonen K, Waris M, Vainionpaa R, Korppi M. Wheezing due to rhinovirus infection in infancy: Bronchial hyperresponsiveness at school age. Pediatr Int 2008; 50:506-510.

Kristjansson S, Shimizu T, Strannegard IL, Wennergren G. Eosinophil cationic protein, myeloperoxidase and tryptase in children with asthma and atopic dermatitis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1994; 5:223-229.

Kuiper S, Muris JW, Dompeling E, et al. Interactive effect of family history and environmental factors on respiratory tract-related morbidity in infancy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007; 120:388-395.

Kulig M, Bergmann R, Klettke U, Wahn V, Tacke U, Wahn U. Natural course of sensitization to food and inhalant allergens during the first 6 years of life. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999; 103:1173-1179.

Kummeling I, Stelma FF, Dagnelie PC, et al. Early life exposure to antibiotics and the subsequent development of eczema, wheeze, and allergic sensitization in the first 2 years of life: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study. Pediatrics 2007; 119: e225-e231.

Kusel MM, de Klerk NH, Kebadze T, et al. Early-life respiratory viral infections, atopic sensitization, and risk of subsequent development of persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007; 119:1105-1110.

Lai CK, Beasley R, Crane J, et al. Global variation in the prevalence and severity of asthma symptoms: phase three of the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). Thorax 2009; 64:476-483.

Landau LI. Tobacco smoke exposure and tracking of lung function into adult life. Paediatr Respir Rev 2008; 9:39-43; quiz 43-4.

Lau D, Mollnau H, Eiserich JP, et al. Myeloperoxidase mediates neutrophil activation by association with CD11b/CD18 integrins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U.S.A 2005; 102:431-436.

Lehtinen P, Ruohola A, Vanto T, Vuorinen T, Ruuskanen O, Jartti T. Prednisolone reduces recurrent wheezing after a first wheezing episode associated with rhinovirus infection or eczema. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007; 119:570-575.

Leigh R, Oyelusi W, Wiehler S, et al. Human rhinovirus infection enhances airway epithelial cell production of growth factors involved in airway remodeling. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008; 121:1238-1245.

Lemanske RF, Jr, Jackson DJ, Gangnon RE, et al. Rhinovirus illnesses during infancy predict subsequent childhood wheezing. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005; 116:571-577.

Linneberg A, Simonsen JB, Petersen J, Stensballe LG, Benn CS. Differential effects of risk factors on infant wheeze and atopic dermatitis emphasize a different etiology. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 117:184-189.

Lodrup Carlsen KC, Halvorsen R, Ahlstedt S, Carlsen KH. Eosinophil cationic protein and tidal flow volume loops in children 0-2 years of age. Eur Respir J 1995; 8:1148-1154.

Lodrup Carlsen KC, Pettersen M, Carlsen KH. Is bronchodilator response in 2-yr-old children associated with asthma risk factors? Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2004; 15:323-330.

Lodrup Carlsen KC, Haland G, Devulapalli CS, et al. Asthma in every fifth child in Oslo, Norway: a 10-year follow up of a birth cohort study. Allergy 2006; 61:454-460.

Loens K, Van Heirstraeten L, Malhotra-Kumar S, Goossens H, Ieven M. Optimal sampling sites and methods for detection of pathogens possibly causing community-acquired lower respiratory tract infections. J Clin Microbiol 2009; 47:21-31.

Lowell DI, Lister G, Von Koss H, McCarthy P. Wheezing in infants: the response to epinephrine. Pediatrics 1987; 79:939-945.

Mahony JB. Detection of respiratory viruses by molecular methods. Clin Microbiol Rev 2008; 21:716-747.

Malmström K, Pitkäranta A, Carpen O, et al. Human rhinovirus in bronchial epithelium of infants with recurrent respiratory symptoms. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2006;118:591-596.

Mansbach JM, McAdam AJ, Clark S, et al. Prospective multicenter study of the viral etiology of bronchiolitis in the emergency department. Acad Emerg Med 2008; 15:111-118.

Marguet C, Bocquel N, Benichou J, et al. Neutrophil but not eosinophil inflammation is related to the severity of a first acute epidemic bronchiolitis in young infants. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2008; 19:157-165.

Marguet C, Lubrano M, Gueudin M, et al. In very young infants severity of acute bronchiolitis depends on carried viruses. PLoS One 2009; 4:e4596.

Martinez FD, Wright AL, Taussig LM et al. Asthma and wheezing in the first six years of life. N Engl J Med 1995;332:133-138.

Martinez FD. The origins of asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in early life. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2009; 6:272-277.

Matricardi PM, Illi S, Gruber C, et al. Wheezing in childhood: incidence, longitudinal patterns and factors predicting persistence. Eur Respir J 2008; 32:585-592.

Miller EK, Edwards KM, Weinberg GA, et al. A novel group of rhinoviruses is associated with asthma hospitalizations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2009; 123:98-104.

Miyairi I, DeVincenzo JP. Human genetic factors and respiratory syncytial virus disease severity. Clin Microbiol Rev 2008; 21:686-703.

Monteseirin J, Bonilla I, Camacho J, Conde J, Sobrino F. Elevated secretion of myeloperoxidase by neutrophils from asthmatic patients: the effect of immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 107:623-626.

Morgan WJ, Stern DA, Sherrill DL, et al. Outcome of asthma and wheezing in the first 6 years of life: follow-up through adolescence. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005; 172:1253-1258.

Moshammer H, Hoek G, Luttmann-Gibson H, et al. Parental smoking and lung function in children: an international study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2006; 173:1255-1263.

Murawski MR, Bowen GN, Gerny AM, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus activates innate immunity through Toll-like receptor 2. J Virol 2009; 83:1492-1500.

Murray CS, Pipis SD, McArdle EC, et al. Lung function at one month of age as a risk factor for infant respiratory symptoms in a high risk population. Thorax 2002; 57:388-392.

Nielsen HE, Siersma V, Andersen S, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus infection--risk factors for hospital admission: a case-control study. Acta Paediatr 2003; 92:1314-1321.

Noble V, Murray M, Webb MS, Alexander J, Swarbrick AS, Milner AD. Respiratory status and allergy nine to 10 years after acute bronchiolitis. Arch Dis Child 1997; 76:315-319.

Norzila MZ, Fakes K, Henry RL, Simpson J, Gibson PG. Interleukin-8 secretion and neutrophil recruitment accompanies induced sputum eosinophil activation in children with acute asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:769-774.

Oddy WH, Sly PD, de Klerk NH, et al. Breast feeding and respiratory morbidity in infancy: a birth cohort study. Arch Dis Child 2003; 88:224-228.

Ogra PL. Respiratory syncytial virus: the virus, the disease and the immune response. Paediatr Respir Rev 2004; 5 Suppl A:S119-S226.

Oh JW. Respiratory viral infections and early asthma in childhood. Allergol Int 2006; 55:369-372.

Ownby DR, Johnson CC, Peterson EL. Exposure to dogs and cats in the first year of life and risk of allergic sensitization at 6 to 7 years of age. JAMA 2002; 288:963-972.

Ownby DR, Johnson CC. Does exposure to dogs and cats in the first year of life influence the development of allergic sensitization? Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 3:517-522.

Paganelli R, Ansotegui IJ, Sastre J, et al. Specific IgE antibodies in the diagnosis of atopic disease. Clinical evaluation of a new in vitro test system, UniCAP, in six European allergy clinics. Allergy 1998; 53:763-768.

Papadopoulos NG, Moustaki M, Tsolia M, et al. Association of rhinovirus infection with increased disease severity in acute bronchiolitis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 165:1285-1289.

Pattemore PK, Johnston SL, Bardin PG. Viruses as precipitants of asthma symptoms. I. Epidemiology. Clin Exp Allergy 1992; 22:325-336.

Peltola V, Heikkinen T, Ruuskanen O. Clinical courses of croup caused by influenza and parainfluenza viruses. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2002; 21:76-78.

Peterson CG, Enander I, Nystrand J, Anderson AS, Nilsson L, Venge P. Radioimmunoassay of human eosinophil cationic protein (ECP) by an improved method. Establishment of normal levels in serum and turnover in vivo. Clin Exp Allergy 1991; 21:561-567.

Perez-Yarza EG, Moreno A, Lazaro P, Mejias A, Ramilo O. The association between respiratory syncytial virus infection and the development of childhood asthma: a systematic review of the literature. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2007; 26:733-739.

Pifferi M, Ragazzo V, Caramella D, Baldini G. Eosinophil cationic protein in infants with respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis: predictive value for subsequent development of persistent wheezing. Pediatr Pulmonol 2001; 31:419-424.

Piippo-Savolainen E, Remes S, Kannisto S, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Asthma and Lung Function 20 Years After Wheezing in Infancy: Results From a Prospective Follow-up Study. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2004; 158:1070-1076.

Piippo-Savolainen E, Remes S, Kannisto S, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Early predictors for adult asthma and lung function abnormalities in infants hospitalized for bronchiolitis: a prospective 18- to 20-year follow-up. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2006; 27:341-349.

Piippo-Savolainen E, Remes S, Korppi M. Does early exposure or sensitization to inhalant allergens predict asthma in wheezing infants? A 20-year follow-up. Allergy Asthma Proc 2007a; 28:454-461.

Piippo-Savolainen E, Korppi M, Korhonen K, Remes S. Adult asthma after nonrespiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy: subgroup analysis of the 20-year prospective follow-up study. Pediatr Int. 2007b; 49:190-195

Piippo-Savolainen E, Remes S, Korppi M. Does blood eosinophilia in wheezing infants predict later asthma? A prospective 18-20-year follow-up. Allergy Asthma Proc 2007c; 28:163-169.

Piippo-Savolainen E, Korppi M. Long-term outcomes of early childhood wheezing. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2009: 9:190-196.

Pinto RA, Arredondo SM, Bono MR, Gaggero AA, Diaz PV. T helper 1/T helper 2 cytokine imbalance in respiratory syncytial virus infection is associated with increased endogenous plasma cortisol. Pediatrics 2006; 117:e878-e886.

Polk S, Sunyer J, Munoz-Ortiz L, et al. A prospective study of Fel d1 and Der p1 exposure in infancy and childhood wheezing. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2004; 170:273-278.

Pöysa L, Pulkkinen A, Korppi M, Remes K, Juntunen-Backman K. Diet in infancy and bronchial hyperreactivity later in childhood. Pediatr Pulmonol 1992; 13:215-221.

Quanjer PH, Tammeling GJ, Cotes JE, Pedersen OF, Peslin R, Yernault JC. Lung volumes and forced ventilatory flows. Report Working Party Standardization of Lung Function Tests, European Community for Steel and Coal. Official Statement of the European Respiratory Society. Eur Respir J Suppl 1993; 16:5-40.

Rakes GP, Arruda E, Ingram JM, et al. Rhinovirus and respiratory syncytial virus in wheezing children requiring emergency care. IgE and eosinophil analyses. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:785-790.

Rawlinson DW, Waljuzzaman Z, Carter IW, Belessis YC, Gilbert KM, Morton JR. Asthma exacerbations in children associated with rhinovirus but not human metapneumovirus infections. J Infect Dis 2003; 187: 1314-1318.

Regamey N, Kaiser L, Roiha HL, et al. Viral etiology of acute respiratory infections with cough in infancy: a community-based birth cohort study. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008; 27:100-105.

Reijonen T, Korppi M, Pitkakangas S, Tenhola S, Remes K. The clinical efficacy of nebulized racemic epinephrine and albuterol in acute bronchiolitis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1995; 149:686-692.

Reijonen T, Korppi M, Kuikka L, Remes K. Anti-inflammatory therapy reduces wheezing after bronchiolitis. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1996; 150:512-517.

Reijonen TM, Korppi M, Kuikka L, et al. Serum eosinophil cationic protein as a predictor of wheezing after bronchiolitis. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997a; 23:397-403.

Reijonen TM, Korppi M, Kleemola M, et al. Nasopharyngeal eosinophil cationic protein in bronchiolitis: relation to viral findings and subsequent wheezing. Pediatr Pulmonol 1997b; 24:35-41.

Reijonen TM, Korppi M. One-year follow-up of young children hospitalized for wheezing: the influence of early anti-inflammatory therapy and risk factors for subsequent wheezing and asthma. Pediatr Pulmonol 1998; 26:113-119.

Reijonen TM, Kotaniemi-Syrjanen A, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Predictors of asthma three years after hospital admission for wheezing in infancy. Pediatrics 2000; 106:1406-1412.

Remes ST, Korppi M. Asthma and atopy in schoolchildren in a defined population. Acta Paediatr 1996; 85:965-970.

Remes ST, Castro-Rodriguez JA, Holberg CJ, Martinez FD, Wright AL. Dog exposure in infancy decreases the subsequent risk of frequent wheeze but not of atopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 108:509-515.

Rhodes HL, Sporik R, Thomas P, Holgate ST, Cogswell JJ. Early life risk factors for adult asthma: a birth cohort study of subjects at risk. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2001; 108:720-725.

Rojo JC, Ruiz-Contreras J, Fernandez MB, Marin MA, Folgueira L. Influenza-related hospitalizations in children younger than three years of age. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2006; 25:596-601.

Ryan PH, LeMasters G, Biagini J, et al. Is it traffic type, volume, or distance? Wheezing in infants living near truck and bus traffic. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2005; 116:279-284.

Rylander E, Eriksson M, Pershagen G, Nordvall L, Ehrnst A, Ziegler T. Wheezing bronchitis in children. Incidence, viral infections, and other risk factors in a defined population. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1996; 7:6-11.

Saarinen KM, Pelkonen AS, Mäkelä MJ, Savilahti E. Clinical course and prognosis of cow's milk allergy are dependent on milk-specific IgE status. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005; 116:869-875.

Saarinen UM, Juntunen K, Kajosaari M, Bjorksten F. Serum immunoglobulin E in atopic and non-atopic children aged 6 months to 5 years. A follow-up study. Acta Paediatr Scand 1982; 71:489-494.

Saga R, Mochizuki H, Tokuyama K, Morikawa A. Relationship between bronchial hyperresponsiveness and development of asthma in wheezy infants. Chest 2001; 119:685-690.

Saglani S, Malmström K, Pelkonen AS, et al. Airway remodeling and inflammation in symptomatic infants with reversible airflow obstruction. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005; 171:722-727.

Saglani S, Payne DN, Zhu J, et al. Early detection of airway wall remodeling and eosinophilic inflammation in preschool wheezers. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007; 176:858-864.

Salorinne Y. Reference values for flow-spirometry in children. Abstracts of the VIII Scandinavian concress of clinical physiology. Helsinki 1989.

Sandin A, Bjorksten B, Braback L. Development of atopy and wheezing symptoms in relation to heredity and early pet keeping in a Swedish birth cohort. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2004; 15:316-322.

Scagnolari C, Midulla F, Trombetti S, et al. Upregulation of interferon-induced genes in infants with virus-associated acute bronchiolitis. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2007; 232:1355-1359.

Scher H, Berman D, Weinberg EG, et al. Granulocyte proteins in serum in childhood asthma: relation to spirometry and therapy. Clin Exp Allergy 1996; 26:1131-1141.

Schuh JM, Blease K, Kunkel SL, Hogaboam CM. Chemokines and cytokines: axis and allies in asthma and allergy. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2003; 14:503-510.

Scottish intercollegiate guidelines network. Bronchiolitis in children. A national clinical guideline. November 2006. Available at: http://www.sign.ac.uk.

Sherriff A, Peters TJ, Henderson J, Strachan D, ALSPAC Study Team. Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children. Risk factor associations with wheezing patterns in children followed longitudinally from birth to 3(1/2) years. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30:1473-1484.

Sigurs N, Bjarnason R, Sigurbergsson F. Eosinophil cationic protein in nasal secretion and in serum and myeloperoxidase in serum in respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis: relation to asthma and atopy. Acta Paediatr 1994; 83:1151-1155.

Sigurs N, Bjarnason R, Sigurbergsson F, Kjellman B. Respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy is an important risk factor for asthma and allergy at age 7. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2000; 161:1501-1507.

Sigurs N, Gustafsson PM, Bjarnason R, et al. Severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy and asthma and allergy at age 13. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2005; 171:137-141.

Silvestri M, Sabatini F, Defilippi AC, Rossi GA. The wheezy infant -- immunological and molecular considerations. Paediatr Respir Rev 2004; 5 Suppl A:S81-S87.

Simon D, Simon HU. Eosinophilic disorders. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2007; 119:1291-300.

Singh AM, Moore PE, Gern JE, Lemanske RF, Jr, Hartert TV. Bronchiolitis to asthma: a review and call for studies of gene-virus interactions in asthma causation. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007; 175:108-119.

Smyth RL, Openshaw PJ. Bronchiolitis. Lancet 2006; 368:312-322.

Sporik R, Holgate ST, Cogswell JJ. Natural history of asthma in childhood--a birth cohort study. Arch Dis Child 1991; 66:1050-1053.

Stein RT, Holberg CJ, Sherrill D, et al. Influence of parental smoking on respiratory symptoms during the first decade of life: the Tucson Children's Respiratory Study. Am J Epidemiol 1999a; 149:1030-1037.

Stein RT, Sherrill D, Morgan WJ, et al. Respiratory syncytial virus in early life and risk of wheeze and allergy by age 13 years. Lancet 1999b; 354:541-545.

Stensballe LG, Devasundaram JK, Simoes EA. Respiratory syncytial virus epidemics: the ups and downs of a seasonal virus. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2003; 22: Suppl 2;S21-S32.

Stensballe LG, Kristensen K, Simoes EA, et al. Atopic disposition, wheezing, and subsequent respiratory syncytial virus hospitalization in Danish children younger than 18 months: a nested case-control study. Pediatrics 2006; 118:e1360-e1368.

Stern DA, Morgan WJ, Halonen M, Wright AL, Martinez FD. Wheezing and bronchial hyper-responsiveness in early childhood as predictors of newly diagnosed asthma in early adulthood: a longitudinal birth-cohort study. Lancet 2008; 372:1058-1064.

Strachan DP. Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ. 1989; 299:1259-1260.

Strunk RC, Weiss ST, Yates KP, Tonascia J, Zeiger RS, Szefler SJ. Mild to moderate asthma affects lung growth in children and adolescents. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 118:1040-1047.

Tauber E, Herouy Y, Goetz M, Urbanek R, Hagel E, Koller DY. Assessment of serum myeloperoxidase in children with bronchial asthma. Allergy 1999; 54:177-182.

Taussig LM, Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Morgan WJ, Martinez FD. Tucson children's respiratory study: 1980 to present. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003; 111:661-675.

Terletskaia-Ladwig E, Enders G, Schalasta G, Enders M. Defining the timing of respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) outbreaks: an epidemiological study. BMC Infect Dis 2005; 5:20.

Timonen KL, Pekkanen J, Korppi M, Vahteristo M, Salonen RO. Prevalence and characteristics of children with chronic respiratory symptoms in eastern Finland: Eur Respir J. 1995; 8:1155-1160.

Tuffaha A, Busse WW. Relationship of viral and bacterial infections to the development and course of asthma. In: Naspitz K, Szefler SJ, Tinkelman DG, Warner JO, eds. Pediatric Asthma. An International Perspective. 2001; 83-95.

Turner SW, Palmer LJ, Rye PJ, et al. Infants with flow limitation at 4 weeks: outcome at 6 and 11 years. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002; 165:1294-1298.

Turner SW, Palmer LJ, Rye PJ, et al. The relationship between infant airway function, childhood airway responsiveness, and asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2004; 169:921-927.

Turner S, Zhang G, Young S, et al. Associations between postnatal weight gain, change in postnatal pulmonary function, formula feeding and early asthma. Thorax 2008; 63:234-239.

Turner SW, Young S, Goldblatt J, Landau LI, Le Souef PN. Childhood asthma and increased airway responsiveness: a relationship that begins in infancy. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2009; 179:98-104.

Valkonen H, Waris M, Ruohola A, Ruuskanen O, Heikkinen T. Recurrent wheezing after respiratory syncytial virus or non-respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy: a 3-year follow-up. Allergy 2009; 64:1359-1365

Viljanen A. Reference values for spirometric, pulmonary diffusing capacity and bodypletysmographic studies. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1982; 42 suppl 159:1-50.

von Hertzen L, Makela MJ, Petays T, et al. Growing disparities in atopy between the Finns and the Russians: a comparison of 2 generations. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006; 117:151-157.

von Linstow ML, Holst KK, Larsen K, Koch A, Andersen PK, Hogh B. Acute respiratory symptoms and general illness during the first year of life: a population-based birth cohort study. Pediatr Pulmonol 2008; 43:584-593.

von Mutius E. Asthma and allergies in rural areas of Europe. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2007; 4:212-216.

Welliver TP, Garofalo RP, Hosakote Y, et al. Severe human lower respiratory tract illness caused by respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus is characterized by the absence of pulmonary cytotoxic lymphocyte responses. J Infect Dis 2007; 195:1126-1136.

Welliver TP, Reed JL, Welliver RC S. Respiratory syncytial virus and influenza virus infections: observations from tissues of fatal infant cases. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2008; 27 Suppl 10:S92-S96.

Wennergren G, Hansson S, Engstrom I, et al. Characteristics and prognosis of hospitaltreated obstructive bronchitis in children aged less than two years. Acta Paediatr 1992; 81:40-45.

Wennergren G, Amark M, Amark K, Oskarsdottir S, Sten G, Redfors S. Wheezing bronchitis reinvestigated at the age of 10 years. Acta Paediatr 1997; 86:351-355.

Williams JV. The clinical presentation and outcomes of children infected with newly identified respiratory tract viruses. Infect Dis Clin North Am 2005; 19:569-584.

Wilson NM, Lamprill JR, Mak JC, Clarke JR, Bush A, Silverman M. Symptoms, lung function, and beta2-adrenoceptor polymorphisms in a birth cohort followed for 10 years. Pediatr Pulmonol 2004; 38:75-81.

Wolf DG, Greenberg D, Kalkstein D, et al. Comparison of human metapneumovirus, respiratory syncytial virus and influenza A virus lower respiratory tract infections in hospitalized young children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2006; 25:320-324.

Wright AL, Taussig LM, Ray CG, Harrison HR, Holberg CJ. The Tucson Children's Respiratory Study. II. Lower respiratory tract illness in the first year of life. Am J Epidemiol 1989; 129:1232-1246.

Wright AL, Holberg C, Martinez FD, Taussig LM. Relationship of parental smoking to wheezing and nonwheezing lower respiratory tract illnesses in infancy. Group Health Medical Associates. J Pediatr 1991; 118:207-214.

Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Taussig LM, Martinez FD. Factors influencing the relation of infant feeding to asthma and recurrent wheeze in childhood. Thorax 2001; 56:192-197.

Xepapadaki P, Psarras S, Bossios A, et al. Human Metapneumovirus as a causative agent of acute bronchiolitis in infants. J Clin Virol 2004; 30:267-270.

Yusuf S, Piedimonte G, Auais A, et al. The relationship of meteorological conditions to the epidemic activity of respiratory syncytial virus. 2007; 135:1077-1090.



## **ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS (I-VI)**

I. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Korhonen K, Korppi M Teenage asthma after severe early childhood wheezing: An 11-year prospective followup. Pediatr Pulmonol 2005; 40: 316-323.

II. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Korhonen K, Kiviniemi V, Korppi M. Responses to inhaled bronchodilators in infancy are not linked with asthma in later childhood. Pediatr Pulmonol 2006; 41:420-7.

III. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Korhonen K, Korppi M. Lung function and bronchial hyper-responsiveness 11 years after hospitalization for bronchiolitis. Acta Paediatr 2007; 96: 1464-9.

IV. Korppi M, Hyvärinen M, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Piippo-Savolainen E, Reijonen T. Early exposure and sensitization to cat and dog – different effects on asthma risk after wheezing in infancy. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2008; 19: 696-701.

V. Hyvärinen MK, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Piippo-Savolainen E, KorppiM. Eosinophil activity in infants hospitalized for wheezing and risk of persistent childhood asthma. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 2009. Epub ahead of print.

VI. Hyvärinen MK, Kiviniemi V, Kotaniemi-Syrjänen A, Reijonen T, Piippo-Savolainen E, Korppi M. Serum myeloperoxidase in wheezing infants: no association with later asthma. Scientific letter to editor. Pediatr Pulmonol. In press.

## **Kuopio University Publications D. Medical Sciences**

**D 434. Hassinen, Maija.** Predictors and consequences of the metabolic syndrome: population-based studies in aging men and women. 2008. Acad. Diss.

**D 435. Saltevo, Juha.** Low-grade inflammation and adiponectin in the metabolic syndrome. 2008. 109 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 436. Ervasti, Mari.** Evaluation of Iron Status Using Methods Based on the Features of Red Blood Cells and Reticulocytes. 2008. 104 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 437. Muukka, Eija.** Luomun tie päiväkotiin: luomuruokailun toteutettavuus ja ravitsemuksellinen merkitys päiväkotilapsille. 2008. 168 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 438. Sörensen, Lars.** Work ability and health-related quality of life in middle-aged men: the role of physical activity and fitness. 2008. 83 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 439. Maaranen, Päivi.** Dissociation in the finnish general population. 2008. 97 p. Acad. Diss.

D 440. Hyvönen, Juha. Suomen psykiatrinen hoitojärjestelmä 1990-luvulla historian jatkumon näkökulmasta. 2008. 279 p. Acad. Diss.

**D** 441. Mäkinen, Heidi. Disease activity and remission in rheumatoid arthritis: comparison of available disease activity measures and development of a novel disease sctivity indes: the mean overall index for rheumatoid arthritis (MOI-RA). 2008. 129 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 442. Kousa, Anne.** The regional association of the hardness in well waters and the incidence of acute myocardial infarction in rural Finland. 2008. 92 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 443. Olkku, Anu.** Glucocorticoid-induced changes in osteoblastic cells: cross-talk with wnt and glutamate signalling pathways. 2009. 118 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 444. Mattila, Riikka.** Effectiveness of a multidisciplinary lifestyle intervention on hypertension, cardiovascular risk factors and musculoskeletal symptoms. 2009. 92 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 445. Hartmann-Petersen, Susanna.** Hyaluronan and CD44 in epidermis with special reference to growth factors and malignant transformation. 2009. 103 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 446. Tolppanen, Anna-Maija.** Genetic association of the tenomodulin gene (TNMD) with obesity- and inflammation-related phenotypes. 2009. 111 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 447. Lehto, Soili Marianne.** Biological findings in major depressive disorder with special reference to the atypical features subtype. 2009. 115 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 448. Nieminen, Jyrki.** Effect of functional loading on remodelling in canine, and normal and collagen type II transgenic murine bone. 2009. 107 p. Acad. Diss.

**D 449. Torpström, Jaana.** Yliopistokoulutus ravitsemusasiantuntijuuden kehittäjänä. 2009. 164 p. Acad. Diss.